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| am pleased to present to you the annual results for 2009.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2009
was HK$1,083,528,000 (2008: HK$473,329,000),
129% compared to the year before. The profit attributable to owners
of the Company was HK$1,067,379,000 (2008: HK$711,087,000),
representing a 50% increase over 2008.

an increase of

The increase in profit was the result of:

(1) timing of profit recognition and increase in sales of our cyberpark
projects, which is reflected in a marked increase in contribution
from jointly controlled entities;

(2) anincrease in the value of sales of completed properties on hand
of 180%;
(3) an increase in rental income of 27%; and

(4) revaluation gains in respect of the Group’s investment property
portfolio.

Earnings per share amounted to HK70.84 cents (2008: HK46.98 cents),
while book net asset value per share was HK$7.56 at the end of 2009
(2008: HK$6.73).

DIVIDEND

The board of directors of the Company has recommended a final
dividend of HK7 cents per share for the year ended 31st December,
2009 (2008: HK3 cents per share) payable to the shareholders of the
Company (“Shareholders”) whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on Thursday, 20th May, 2010.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday,
17th May, 2010 to Thursday, 20th May, 2010 (both days inclusive),
during which period no transfer of shares of the Company will be
registered. In order to qualify for the final dividend, all transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s share registrar, Tricor Secretaries Limited of 26th Floor,
Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 14th May, 2010. Subject to approval
by the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company, dividend warrants are expected to be despatched to the
Shareholders by post on or around Friday, 11th June, 2010.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is engaged principally in the development of high-end
apartments, villas, office buildings and commercial properties, property
investment, property management and hotel operation, as well as the
manufacture and sale of construction materials in China.

An outline of our achievements in 2009 is described below:

(1) We took advantage of the recovery of the PRC property market
and acquired two completed property projects in Shanghai,
including Shanghai Racquet Club & Apartments and Shanghai
Forest Villas. We also purchased the operations of Shanghai Allied
Cement Holdings Limited, which holds three cement factories in
the mainland.

(2) We have continued to dispose of non-core assets, namely our
interests in Nanhai Tian An Hung Kai Garden, Zhaoqging Resort
& Golf Club and Shanghai Elegant Garden. We have completed
the disposal of the interest in Nanhai project, with all remaining
proceeds received during 2009. We are in active negotiations with
the buyer of the Zhaoging project as to how best to complete
the sale. With rising property values and restricted land supply,
there is an increased likelihood of completion of the disposal
of our interest in Zhaoqing project this current year on terms
satisfactory to Tian An. We also expect the disposal of Shanghai
Elegant Garden to be completed before the end of 2010.
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Total attributable sales of the Group amounted to 91,700 m? in
2009, compared to 93,400 m? in 2008. A total attributable GFA
of approximately 34,700 m? (2008: 180,700 m?) of residential/
commercial properties was completed during the year under
review, representing a decrease of 81%. By the end of 2009,
a total attributable GFA of approximately 550,400 m? (2008:
403,800 m?) was under construction, representing a 36% increase
over 2008, including Shanghai Tian An Villa (Phase 2 Part 1),
Shanghai Tian An Place (Phase 1 Parts 1 and 2), Wuxi Manhattan
(Phase 1), Nantong Tian An Garden (Phases 4 and 5), Changzhou
Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 1), Changzhou Tian An Villas (Phase 2
Part 1), Jiangmen Tian An Garden, Shenzhen Tian An Longgang
Cyber Park (Phase 2), Shenzhen Buji Residential Building, Foshan
Tian An Nanhai Cyber Park (Phase 2) and Guangzhou Tian An
Panyu Hi-Tech Ecological Park (Phase 5).

Rental income increased by 27% as compared with 2008.
Following the end of the fixed rent period for the shopping
arcades of Nanjing Tian An International Building at the end
of 2008, this property is contributing significantly to Group
cashflow and profit. The acquisition of Shanghai Racquet Club &
Apartments will further improve rental income of the Group.

We have been in ongoing negotiation with the relevant district
government as to how best to relocate the remaining squatters
from Shanghai Tian An Place, and are pleased to report that
significant progress has been made in 2009 in finalising the terms
for squatter relocation. We are also in an advanced stage of
relocating the last squatters from the Shanghai Sunshine Peninsula
project also known as the “Flour Mill” development.

We will continue to devote a significant amount of our efforts to
our cyberpark investments. Our southern cyberparks have been
progressing well. The projects in Shenzhen, Panyu, Longgang and
Foshan all performed in line with our expectations. As far as our
eastern cyberparks are concerned, construction of Changzhou
Cyberpark Phase 1 will be completed in mid-2010 and we have
begun construction works for our Nanjing Cyberpark project
Phase 1. We are also continuing to negotiate with local authorities
to increase our landbank in Dongguan (1,450 mu), Beijing (500
mu), Tianjin (1,960 mu), Chongging (380 mu), Wuxi (375 mu) and
Nantong (280 mu), where we intend to build integrated business
parks.
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The Group currently has a landbank of total GFA of approximately
7,142,500 m? (total GFA attributable to the Group is approximately
5,763,100 m?, consisting of 366,800 m? of completed investment
properties and 5,396,300 m? of properties for development).

The Group is in a strong financial position with total bank
balances and cash or cash equivalents as at 31st December, 2009
of over HK$3.0 billion.

As stated in the last annual report, our share price had been
trading at a substantial discount to our book net asset value.
However, since stating our intention to repurchase shares, our
share price has increased by approximately 170%. We have been
monitoring the discount between our share price and our book
net asset value closely and should the discount widen, we will give
further consideration to buying back shares for cancellation.

PLANS FOR 2010

Objectives for 2010 are as follows:

(1)

We will continue to adjust through acquisitions and disposals
the quality of our landbank and sale of our end products to
balance the demands of short term returns and long term capital
appreciation.

We will accelerate new construction works for these respective
projects: Shanghai Tian An Villas (Phase 2), Changzhou Tian
An Villas (Phase 2), Changchun Tian An City One (Phase 4),
Dalian Tian An Seaview Garden (Phase 3), Dalian Tian An Jinma
Centre, Wuxi Cyberpark, Nanjing Cyberpark and Fuzhou Dengyun
Resort.

We will concentrate our efforts on developing our cyberpark
projects where we believe our products are competitive and
resilient in the present environment. We will only increase our
cyberpark landbank where the initial capital outlay is low.

We will work closely with onshore mainland banks which are
interested in extending credit to customers such as ourselves. We
hope to gear up our projects rather than over-utilising equity in
order to increase our return on equity.

We will review our management and cost structure so as to
improve efficiency and lower expenses where possible.
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BUSINESS OUTLOOK

In 2009, the mainland government had significantly relaxed its
monetary policy in order to encourage growth. Major banks were
asked to increase lending to all sectors of the economy. However, with
the growth of GDP and money supply, the government has started to
tighten monetary policy to rein in inflation. We have taken advantage
of this buoyant period in 2009 to dispose of our existing inventories
and non-core projects. We remain confident of the longer term
prospects of the property market in China and will continue to position
our Group to take advantage of any opportunities should they arise.

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to thank my fellow Directors and
the staff for their diligence and contributions to the Group in the past
year, to the Shareholders for their understanding and support, and to
the customers for their trust.

Patrick Lee Seng Wei
Managing Director

Hong Kong, 19th March, 2010
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW

1. INCOME SOURCES

Income derived from operations in property development, property
investment and joint venture investments in the PRC constituted the
most significant source of revenue to the Group. An analysis is as
follows:

(1) Property development

Revenue derived from property development of subsidiaries increased
from HK$223,773,000 to HK$627,576,000 compared with 2008.
Projects offered for sale during the year mainly consisted of Nantong
Tian An Garden (Phases 3 and 4) and Changchun Tian An City One
(Phase 3).

(2) Property investments

During the year, Shanghai Tian An Centre, Nanjing Tian An
International Building, Dalian Tian An International Tower and Beijing
Park Apartments had satisfactory leasing result and led to rental
income increase from HK$171,049,000 to HK$216,788,000, soaring
by approximately 27 %.



R BEIREBR AR
Tian An China Investments Company Limited

EEENwWE DN
Management Discussion and Analysis
(3) SELERE (3) Joint venture investments
2009 2008
FER FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
A E R Contribution to profit:
FE(E SN TF) (BE) &5 Share of (loss) profit of associates (8,025) 22,587
FEAG H RS AR Share of profit of jointly controlled
gl entities 298,885 189,943
290,860 212,530
2. FEHE 2. MAIJOR SALES

HE-ZZAF+-_A=+—BHI-EE » &K For the year ended 31st December, 2009, the Group’s sales activities

EEMNHEE R EEEPAEUTIES ¢ were concentrated principally on the following projects:
P
HERHER
Attributable
GFA sold
5H Project A& Use F5Km?
MR ESRATE (Z8) Shenzhen Tian An Golf Garden (Phase 3)  {£=  Residential 21,160
RIIR LB BB R Shenzhen Tian An Longgang Cyber Park
(—H) (Phase 1) ¥ Commercal 5,770
BMNAZEEHERER Guangzhou Tian An Panyu Hi-Tech
(ZH R mEs) Ecological Park (Phases 3 and 4) ¥  Commercial 2,300
B R B G R Foshan Tian An Nanhai Cyber Park
(—H) (Phase 1) 7% Commercial 4,740
FMFH LR (25) Changzhou New City Garden (Phase 5) %  Residential 4,190
FMRZHE (—H) Changzhou Tian An Villa (Phase 1) ff%  Residential 4,060
HRAXRLEE (ZHRUE) Nantong Tian An Garden (Phases 3 and 4) {£%  Residential 18,800
REAZEN Changchun Tian An City One %  Residential 23,440
I RFER M Beijing Lakeside Garden ff%=  Residential 2,260
HiIHE Other projects B¥ / Commerciall
%  Residential 4,980
st Total 91,700

11
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3. LAND PORTFOLIO

The Group currently has a landbank of total GFA of approximately
7,142,500 m? (total GFA attributable to the Group is approximately
5,763,100 m?, consisting of approximately 366,800 m? of completed
investment properties and approximately 5,396,300 m? of properties
for development), located mainly in Shanghai, Shenzhen, Beijing,
Guangzhou, Huizhou, Foshan, Nantong, Wuxi, Changzhou, Nanjing,
Fuzhou, Changchun, Dalian, Wuhan, Zhaoging and Jiangmen.

As at 31st December, 2009, the Group’s land portfolio principally
consisted of the following:

(1) Properties for development

AEBEENG

AMIBEER

GFA

[GES % attributable

Commercial Residential to the Group

Region F 5K m? FFK m? F K m?

Northern China 32,300 371,900 404,200

Eastern China 1,054,700 1,471,100 2,525,800

Southern China 557,800 1,908,500 2,466,300

Total 1,644,800 3,751,500 5,396,300
(2) Completed investment properties

AEEENG

BREEEE

GFA

[EES = attributable

Commercial Residential to the Group

Region F K m? FHK m? FHAK m?

Northern China 72,200 23,500 95,700

Eastern China 144,200 69,500 213,700

Southern China 57,400 - 57,400

Total 273,800 93,000 366,800
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4. EMPLOYEE AND TRAINING

As at 31st December, 2009, the Group, including its subsidiaries but
excluding associates and jointly controlled entities, employed 2,476
(2008: 1,863) persons. The increase is mainly due to the acquisition
of Shanghai Allied Cement Holdings Limited. The Group maintains a
policy of paying competitive remuneration packages and employees
are also rewarded on performance related basis including salary and
bonus.

The profile of the Group’s management staff as at 31st December,
2009 is listed below:

RABREAL REBEXRE
HE Qualified University 50B 3 AT 5055 L £
Region Professionals Graduates Age 50 or Below Age Over 50
BB 5 (60%) 6 (64%) 7 (68%) 8 (32%)
Hong Kong
At 9 (58%) 6 (43%) 1 (85%) 3 (15%)
Northern China
EXR 9 (59%) 100 (67 %) 111 (74%) 9 (26%)
Eastern China
=R 4 (62%) 9 (74%) 0 (77%) 9 (23%)

Southern China

EREBEEINASERSBRIZEBREE
ERERNBSBHEBEBIRE B HER
BREINMSHBEEREHEINRNATH -
FTEEBABNHESHF ARG AV BHREM T
4 - 15148 - RA G BEIRERTE| 2 FFBHRN
F164H o

Quality staff has always been the Group’s indispensable intangible
asset. Training programmes were organised during the year to ensure
that both the market sensitivity of the front line people and the cost
consciousness of the back office staff were well maintained. The
emoluments of key management personnel can be seen by reference to
notes 14, 15 and 48 to the consolidated financial statements. Details of
the share option scheme of the Company are set out in page 164.

13
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
1. LIQUIDITY AND FINANCING

As at 31st December, 2009, the Group maintained its liquidity at a
healthy level with a balanced portfolio of financial resources. The total
bank balances and cash reserves of the Group were approximately
HK$3,051 million, providing sufficient working capital for the daily
operations of the Group.

As at 31st December, 2009, the total borrowings of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$3,355 million (2008: HK$1,911 million),
including current liabilities of HK$1,206 million (2008: HK$465 million)
and non-current liabilities of HK$2,149 million (2008: HK$1,446
million). The gearing ratio (net debt over total equity) of the Group
was 3% (2008: negative of 6%). The borrowings were mainly used to
finance the investment properties and properties under construction.
Decrease in finance costs is mainly due to a relatively low borrowing
rate.

Approximately 66% of the Group’s outstanding borrowings will mature
within 2 years. Since the investments and operation of the Group are
carried out in the PRC, most of the bank borrowings are denominated
in Renminbi which will be repaid in the same currency. Around 66% of
the Group’s borrowings bear interest at fixed rates while the remainder
is at floating rates.
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2. PLEDGE ON ASSETS

As at 31st December, 2009, bank deposits of HK$543,518,000,
aggregate carrying values of property, plant and equipment,
development properties and investment properties of approximately
HK$141,939,000, HK$1,837,528,000 and HK$4,435,357,000
respectively, were pledged for banking facilities and other loans
granted to the Group and mortgage loans granted to property
purchasers.

3. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

A further development of a property for development with carrying
value of HK$187,499,000 (included in assets classified as held for
sale) has been overdue. The Group is currently working diligently to
prevent the possible classification as idle land, including negotiating
the feasibility of development plans with local authorities. Based on
legal advice, the Group has assessed the issue and considers that the
idle land confiscation may not materialise.

As at 31st December, 2009, guarantees given to banks in respect
of mortgage loans granted to property purchasers amounted to
approximately HK$153,863,000. All the guarantees provided by the
Group were requested by banks and under normal commercial terms.
Legal actions were taken against the Group resulting in possible
contingent liabilities of approximately HK$253,358,000. The Group
has assessed the claims and obtained legal advice, and considers that
either it is too early to assess the range of possible liability at this stage
or no additional provision is required to be made.
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PROJECT REVIEW

1. MAJOR PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

Southern China

Shenzhen Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

Located at the heart of Shenzhen and adjacent to Shenzhen Golf
Club, this large-scale project occupies a site area of approximately
273,500 m? with a total GFA of approximately 787,700 m?. The Cyber
Park consists of industrial/office buildings, cyber technology buildings,
deluxe residential apartments and multi-function clubhouse.

The lettable commercial GFA is 49,230 m?, including remaining areas
of Shenzhen Cyber Times Building and Shenzhen Tian An Innovation
Science and Technology Plaza (Phases 1 and 2) and Shenzhen Futian
Tian An Hi-Tech Venture Park.

Tian An Golf Garden (Phase 3) — “ARIA” with a total GFA of 109,000
m? comprises luxurious high-rise residential buildings. The sale of Part 1
amounted to 44,000 m?.

A new project situated right at the new city central area — Nancheng
District of Dongguan and covers land area of approximately 970,000 m?
with GFA of approximately 2,189,000 m? is under negotiation with the
local government.

Shenzhen Tian An Longgang Cyber Park (50%)

Located in the core area of Longgang in Shenzhen, this project has
a site area of approximately 118,850 m? and GFA of approximately
356,500 m2. The model of Shenzhen Tian An Cyber Park is used to
develop this project. Phase 1 has been completed. Phase 2 has been
commenced with GFA of approximately 98,200 m? and expected to
be completed in 2010.

Shenzhen Buji Land Site (50%)

This project was acquired in 2007 with site area of approximately
5,241 m? and GFA of approximately 89,000 m?. Located in Buji of
Shenzhen, the project was commenced to develop into a commercial/
residential building.
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Guangzhou Tian An Panyu Hi-Tech Ecological Park (50%)

Located in the central district of Panyu in Guangzhou, this large
scale project has a site area of 517,153 m? and a total GFA of
approximately 712,500 m2. Phase 5 with GFA of approximately 91,800 m?
is under construction and expected to be completed in 2010. The
park development consists of industrial/office buildings, science and
technology buildings, high-class residential buildings and multi-function
clubhouse.

Foshan Tian An Nanhai Cyber Park (45%)

Located in Guicheng of Nanhai with site area of approximately 103,100 m?
and GFA of approximately 257,800 m2. This project is developing with
the similar concept as Shenzhen Tian An Cyber Park. Phase 2 with GFA
of approximately 60,700 m?is under construction and expected to be
completed in 2010.

Huizhou Danshui Site (100%)

Located in Danshui of Huizhou and lying by both sides of Dan Shui
River, this project has a site area of approximately 392,000 m? and GFA
of approximately 783,000 m?. The project is planned to be developed
into a comprehensive commercial/residential composite. Construction
work for Phase 1 is expected to commence in mid-2010.

Jiangmen Tian An Garden (100%)

The project comprising residential buildings, shopping mall, clubhouse
and underground car parking space is located at the centre of Jiangmen
city. Having a site area of 42,388 m? and total GFA is 137,200 m?,
construction of basement was commenced in January 2010.
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Eastern China
Shanghai Tian An Place (99.99%)

This project is situated at the Golden Honggiao District where the oriental
and international residents like to reside and adjacent to the entrance of
the transit station of Subway No. 9. The project will be developed to a
deluxe residential district with a site area of approximately 362,320 m?
and a total GFA of approximately 470,000 m?. Phase 1 of the project has
a GFA of approximately 63,400 m? has been commenced and expected
to be completed in 2010.

Shanghai Tian An Villa (100%)

This project is located near the Shanghai Sheshan National Travel and
Resort Area. The project combines the art of western architecture
and eastern architectural style, integrating island living, water facing,
garden and greenery. Construction work for the Phase 1 low density
high-class villas with GFA of approximately 32,200 m? was completed.
Phase 2 Part 1 villas with GFA of approximately 16,300 m? are under
construction and expected to be completed in 2010.

Shanghai Elegant Garden (60% share of profit of the remaining
site)

An agreement was entered in 2009 to dispose of all interest, of
which the transaction is estimated to be completed before the end
of 2010.

Shanghai Tian An Sunshine Peninsula (100%)

Located in the Putuo District of Shanghai, this project is to be built along
the 1,700 m bank of Suzhou River with a site area of approximately
82,752 m?. This project has been re-planned as a commercial and
entertainment complex. Construction work of Phase 1 is expected to
commence in 2011.

Shanghai Forest Villa (100%)
The project is located at the Magiao Area, a low-density and high-
end villa area, of Minhang District, Shanghai, and across the street is

Qizhong Tennis Center. 57 villas with 19,993 m? were acquired. All of
them are low-density southern California styled villas.
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Wuxi The Manhattan (100%)

This project is situated to the southwest of Wuxi city centre on a
site of 59,480 m? to be developed into a total construction area of
approximately 146,200 m?. Phase 1 with a GFA of approximately
70,100 m? is under construction and expected to be completed in the
fourth quarter of 2010.

Changzhou Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

This project is located in Changzhou Wujin Hi-Tech Industrial Zone, with a
site area of approximately 289,496 m? and a total GFA of approximately
830,100 m2. The project is planned to be developed into comprehensive
science and technology buildings, commercial and residential composite.
Phase 1 with a GFA of approximately 54,800 m? is under construction
and expected to be completed in the second quarter of 2010.

Changzhou Tian An Villa (100%)

This project is located in the Wu Jin District, the planning and development
focus of the Changzhou government. With a favourable location, it is
the largest deluxe villa district in Changzhou. The project occupies a
site of 473,335 m?. Construction work for Phase 1 with a total GFA of
39,400 m? has been completed. Development of Phase 2 Part 1 with
a GFA of approximately 26,500 m? is planned to be completed in the
fourth quarter of 2010.

Nanjing Tian An Cyber Park (100%)

This project is located in Nanjing Baixia Hi-Technology Industrial
Development Area with a site area of approximately 666,670 m? and
a total GFA of approximately 833,300 m2. The project is planned to
be developed into comprehensive science and technology buildings,
commercial and residential composite. Construction work for Phase 1
of approximately 38,000 m? is planned to commence in 2010.

Nantong Tian An Garden (100%)

Situated on a site of 203,800 m? with a total GFA of 238,100 m? at
the heart of the New City Zone of Nantong, this is the first massive
ecological residential project in Nantong. Development for a GFA of
approximately 173,100 m? was completed. Construction work for
Phases 4 and 5 with GFA of approximately 38,000 m? is expected to
be completed in 2010.
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Shanghai Racquet Club &
Apartments
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Northern China
Dalian Tian An Seaview Garden (60%)

This project for high-class residential development is located in the
Dalian Economic & Technology Development Zone. Phases 1 and 2
with a total GFA of approximately 84,100 m? have been completed.
Construction work for Phase 3 will be commenced in the second
quarter of 2010.

Dalian Tian An Jinma Centre (Dalian Jin Ma Road Site) (100%)

This project is located at the main road, Jin Ma Road, of the Dalian
Economic & Technology Development Zone and will be developed
into commercial/residential buildings with a total GFA of 134,400 m?.
The construction work is expected to commence in the third quarter
of 2010.

Changchun Tian An City One (100%)

This high class residential project is situated within the Changchun
High-technology Industrial Development Area. Erected on a site of
approximately 414,954 m?, the project with a total construction area
of approximately 403,600 m? is being developed by stages. Phases
1 to 3 with a total GFA of approximately 156,700 m? have been
completed. Construction work for Phase 4 will be commenced in the
second quarter of 2010.

2. MAJOR PROPERTY INVESTMENTS
Shanghai Tian An Centre (98%)

The office building is situated at the hub of Shanghai central business
district of Nanjing Road West and People’s Square, adjacent to the
entrances to the transit platforms of Subway Nos. 1 and 2. It is a
30-storey Grade A commercial building with a GFA of 48,910 m2.
24,940 m? were sold, 1,620 m? were self occupied and the remaining
GFA of 22,350 m? have been transferred to property investment. Most
of the tenants are multinational companies.

Shanghai Racquet Club & Apartments (100%)

This project is located in the Minhang District, Shanghai, and adjacent
to the Honggiao International Airport, Honggiao Transport Hub and
6 International Schools. The properties acquired include (1) 261
apartments with 68,380 m?; (2) a club house with 10,600 m? and
ancillary facilities; (3) 116 car parking spaces with 2,510 m?, and
(4) 218 storage rooms with 979 m2. This project is leased property.
Most of the tenants are overseas top management from multinational
companies.
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Villas in Changchun Tian An
City One (Phase 3)
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Nanjing Tian An International Building (100%)

The project is located at Xinjiekou, the most flourishing shopping
district in Nanjing City. The building links up to the subway station.
The shopping arcades with a GFA of 65,430 m? have been leased to a
department store. Of the GFA of office approximately 11,500 m?, 235 m?
were sold, and the remaining GFA were 11,265 m? of which the GFA
of 10,490 m? have been transferred to property investment.

Changzhou Tian An City Plaza (100%)

This 14-storey building with a total GFA of 48,400 m? comprises a
large shopping arcade, first-class offices and a hotel. The total GFA of
the properties for rent is 24,400 m? of which 24,080 m? of shopping
arcade has been leased.

Dalian Tian An International Tower (100%)

This Grade A office building is situated in the Zhongshan Road central
business district and faces the Victory Square in Dalian City. The total
GFA is 67,200 m?. This 52-storey building is the tallest landmark
building of Dalian. 14,550 m? were sold, 1,320 m? were self occupied
and the remaining GFA of 51,330 m? have been transferred to property
investment.

Beijing Tian An Building (40%)

With a total GFA of 9,910 m?, this office building is located at a prime
site near the Beijing Hotel and Tian’anmen Square. The whole building
has been rented out to a lessee. The lessee had renovated the building
as a business hotel.

Beijing Park Apartments (100%)

This premium residential project is located at the Beijing Chaoyang
District to the west of Chaoyang Park and adjacent to the Embassy
area. The project has a total GFA of approximately 42,100 m?.
Approximately half of the total number of units have been sold and
the remaining units kept for leasing purpose.

Tianjin International Building (25%)
Located in central business district and among the best office and

apartment buildings in Tianjin, the property has maintained rental
income and occupancy rate at a high level.
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Shenzhen Tian An International Building (50%)

The building is located at the commercial centre of Renmin Nan Road
in Luohu District of Shenzhen. The GFA of office and shopping centre
for lease amounts to 31,800 m?.

3. OTHER INVESTMENTS
Fuzhou Summit Golf Country Club & Dengyun Resort (68.06 %)

Built on a site of approximately 2,500,000 m?, of which site area
of approximately 1,718,400 m? was developed into an 18-hole golf
course, driving range and clubhouse, and the remaining site area of
approximately 781,600 m? will be developed into villas and other
deluxe living amenities. The revision of master planning of the Resort,
which would optimise the application of land resources, was completed
and submitted for approval. Development of a new phase of villas is
expected to commence in 2010.

Zhaogqing Resort & Golf Club (87.97%)

An agreement was entered on 3rd December, 2007 to dispose in
stages of this project, of which the transaction is estimated to be
completed before the end of 2010.

Shanghai Allied Cement Holdings Limited (100%)

The Group acquired 3 cement factories in Shanghai and Shandong in

2009. The principal activities of the factories are the manufacture and
sales of high-grade cement and clinker.
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B 266 - miRE - 517,153 Commercial 568,300  Phased 204,200 91,800 50% 50 2052
oz frz Construction
Guangzhou Tian An Panyu Residential 144200 Stage 46,300 - 50% 50 2052
Hi-Tech Ecological Park -
Ying Bin Road, 712,500 250,500 91,800
Shi Qiao Town, Panyu District, _—
Guangzhou
BURZEEUBH Bx AERIRS
Bl - B8R - B 103,100 Commercial 257,800 Phased 60,100 60,700 45% 50 2056
A 1 === (onstruction
Foshan Tian An Nanhai Stage
Cyber Park
Lot A2, Guicheng Road,
Nanhai District, Foshan
Bk BRREZE RER
B - ZHE - KKk 392,000 Commercial 783000 RKE - - 100% 70 2074
Huizhou Dan Shui Site & Residential — — Pl3nning &
Dan Shui Town, Huiyang District, Design Stage
Huizhou
IAXZEE frz PEBIRE
i B IR 42,388 Residential 109,700 Phased - 109,700 100% 70 2063
Jiangmen Tian An Garden HERAE Construction
Peng Jiang District, Ancillary & Stage
Jiangmen Commercial 27,500 - 27,500 100% 70 2063
137,200 137,200
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e > AT
MExZEREHR
Particulars of Property Development
ERH EEIR S8 1
TEEAER BEEE BEER  FUEE GREEH
Buildable EHEE Completed  GrossFloor Interest  Period of HREH
BE4R BEER AR Gross Floor  Project Gross  Areaunder  Heldby  Land Use Expiry
Project Name Site Area  Use Area  Progress Floor Area  Construction  the Group Rights Date
TR Fhkm? ThKm? Thkm? Eears E¥ear
ERERABRN" frz PEBIRR
R REN ORH 1128500 Residential 500,000 Phased 11,700 - 8191% 70 2062
Zhaoging Resort & Golf Club” = (mstucion 0
Huilong Town, Gaoyao City, Stage
Zhaoging
ENBELSE iz PEm IR
B BEHK388 5 781,600 Residential 604,500 Phased 10,200 - 68.06% 70 2082
Fuzhou Dengyun Resort HERAE Construction
No.388, Dengyun Road, Fuzhou Ancillary & Stage
Commercial 143,600 - - 68.06% 70 2062
748,100 10,200
RESCHHR frz R
RER 20K £EH 22,100 Residentia 83500  FHER - - 90% 70 2064
Wuhan Chongren Street Site EN Planning &
Ji Xian Cun, Chongren Street, RE% Design Stage
Wuhan Office &
Commercial 24,500 - - 90% 70 2044
108,000
LBXZRE frz PEBIIRE
HEm BOE EBR 362,320 Residential 405,800 Phased - 61,200 99.99% 70 2073
TEESS WBRAE Construction
Shanghai Tian An Place Ancillary & Stage
Lot No. 52, Qibao Town, Commercial 64,200 - 2,200 99.99% 70 2073
Cao Bao Road, 470,000 63400
Minhang District, Shanghai —— ——
LEXRZRE (ZR=H) frz AHRIRS
L INT654 Stk 363,200  Residential 308,700  Phased - 16,300 100% 70 2075
Shanghai Tian An Villa = Construction —
(Phases 2 & 3) Stage
Lot No. 654, Song Jiang, Shanghai
LisRRIE (25838 k=) fr£ P TIR
L - EEHK189 % 82,000 Residential 37400 Phased 23,800 6,400 60% 70 2062
Shanghai Elegant Garden —  Construction
(Phase 2-3B & Phase 3)" Stage
No.189, Long Xi Road, Shanghai
Hat Note:
(1) BRI L EWwE - (1) Disposal agreement was signed.
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MEZERER
Particulars of Property Development
B EEIR S8 1
TEEAER BEEE BEER  fbEE RAEEH
Buildable EHEE Completed  GrossFloor Interest  Period of HREH

BE4R BEER AR Gross Floor  Project Gross  Areaunder  Heldby  Land Use Expiry
Project Name Site Area  Use Area  Progress Floor Area  Construction  the Group Rights Date

TR Fhkm? Thkm? Thkm? Eears FYear
LERZEREE BERfAE RER
L ZRE - BB 82,752 Commercial 178000  Fitlas - - 100% 70 2071
Shanghai Tian An Sunshine & Residential Planning &
Peninsula Design Stage
Chang Hua Road, Putuo District,
Shanghai
LEXZRE (ZH6S) frz RER
LB BER10285 3600 Residentia 3600 kA - - 80% 70 2068
Shanghai Central Garden == Plamning&
(Phase 3 GS) Design Stage
No. 1028, Jin Xiu Road
Shanghai
BHENH fr= DERIRR
BHT AMRBERER 50,480 Residential 146,200 Phased - 70,100 100% 70 2074
Wuxi The Manhattan === (onstruction _
Taihu Main Road and Hubin Road, Stage
Wuxi
ENRZEES Bx PEBIRE
B HERHE 28949  Commercial 458,400 Phased - 54,800 50% 50 2057
REK frz Construction
Changzhou Tian An Cyber Park Residential 371,700 Stage - - 50% 70 2077
South Wuning Road, -
Wajin Hi-Tech Industrial Zone, 830,100 54,800
Changzhou ———— —
ENRZRE frz HEm IR
B - HEE R 473335 Residential 137900 Phased 39,400 26,500 100% 70 2074
Changzhou Tian An Villa === (onstruction
Ge Lake, Wu Jin District, Stage
Changzhou
BRRZ B HERER RER
AR BTRIEN 666,670 Commercial 833300 ke E - 100% 50 2057
EER bER & Residential  me— Planning &
Nanjing Tian An Cyber Park Design Stage
Guanghua Road,

Baixia Hi-Technology
Industrial Development Area
Nanjing
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Particulars of Property Development

B ERIE £ 1
TREEER BEER BEER  fbEE RAEEH
Buildable EHEE Completed  GrossFloor Interest  Period of HREH

BE4R BEER AR Gross Floor  Project Gross  Areaunder  Heldby  Land Use Expiry
Project Name Site Area  Use Area  Progress Floor Area  Construction  the Group Rights Date

THRm? Fhkm? FhKm? Fhxkm? Eears FYear
BEXZEE frz PEBIRE
BT 18K 203800  Residential 238,100 Phased 173,100 38,000 100% 70 2071
Nantong Tian An Garden == (onstruction
Gongnong Road, Nantong Stage
REXZBRTE i DB IR
RET - BEREHRLE 58,650  Residentia 122,100  Phased 84,100 - 60% 50 2083
TR = (ostucton ——
Dalian Tian An Seaview Garden Stage
Liaohe West Road, Economic &
Technical Development Zone, Dalian
REXZEFRD (RELEH M) [EE R
K& BERRMRER 19,421 Commercial 0300 e - - 100% 40 2048
Eili] frz Planning &
Dalian Tian An Jinma Centre Residential 102,100  Design Stage - - 100% 50 2058
(Dalian Jin Ma Road Site) S
Jin Ma Road, Economic & 134,400
Technical Development Zone, Dalian _
REXZE-H Bx AERIRE
REBVRNEERZE 414,954 Commercial 6,100  Phased 6,100 - 100% 70 2071
REE frz Construction
Changchun Tian An City One Residential 397,500  Stage 150,600 900 100% 70 2071
High-Tech Industrial Development -
Zone, Changchun 403,600 156,700 900

et ERBE_ZTEAFT_A=+—RZA&

BiRE -

Note:

The above table is based on information as of 31st December, 2009.
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BRI YEEHR
Particulars of Properties under Construction
BZE
31/12/2009
e
BTy EHER
BEEE Total
Gross TEFrTIAH  Attributable
BEERE SEMGER Floor Area Estimated Gross Floor
EEER Gross Interest Held  Attributable  Completion  Area Sold up
Project Name Floor Area by the Group  to the Group Date to 31/12/2009
I Rm? FHAKm? I3 KRm?
1. YR LB BRI (Z5) 98,200 50% 49,100 4Q/10 -
Shenzhen Tian An Longgang Cyber Park
(Phase 2)
2. AImERERE 89,000 50% 44,500 2Q/11 1,960
Shenzhen Buji Residential/
Commercial Building
3. BEMXREBHEMNKE () 91,800 50% 45,900 4Q/10 -
Guangzhou Tian An Panyu Hi-Tech
Ecological Park (Phase 5)
4. Il KL R G EEE I (Z8) 60,700 45% 27,300 2Q/10 Sy
Foshan Tian An Nanhai Cyber Park
(Phase 2)
5. IMXZEE 137,200 100% 137,200 1Q/12 -
Jiangmen Tian An Garden
6. FEXRZEE (-3t R _4t) 63,400 99.99% 63,400 4Q/10 Sy
Shanghai Tian An Place (Phase 1 Parts 1 & 2)
7. LBRZRIZ (ZH—H) 16,300 100% 16,300 4Q/10 -0
Shanghai Tian An Villa (Phase 2 Part 1)
8. EEmRARE (ZH#tA) 6,400 60% 3,800 4Q/10 -@
Shanghai Elegant Garden
(Phase 3 Part 2A)
9. mH SR (—5H) 70,100 100% 70,100 4Q/10 )
Wuxi The Manhattan (Phase 1)
10.  EMRZEW®SN (—H) 54,800 50% 27,400 20/10 -
Changzhou Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 1)
1. BNRZAIE (ZH—8t) 26,500 100% 26,500 4Q10 -0
Changzhou Tian An Villa (Phase 2 Part 1)
12.  MEALRER (WEZ#t - RE—8) 38,000 100% 38,000 2Q/10 -
Nantong Tian An Garden
(Phase 4 Part 2, Phase 5 Part 1)
13.  RERLEW (ZH) pIE 900 100% 900 2Q/10 )
Changzhou Tian An City One (Phase 2)
Villa
g
Total: 753,300 550,400 1,960
Hiat - Notes:
(1) RIEHEE - (1) Not yet offered for sale.
() BEEFTHERZ ° (2) Disposal agreement was signed.
(3) EXBRBE_TTAFF+ZA=1+—HBZE (3) The above table is based on information as of 31st December, 2009.
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MERBIEREE R
Particulars of Property and Hotel Investments
1. L/ ES
Property
SEEL
ES HE ] BHEE
# F H BEEE EHER Frib s GFA
LESE Expiry Property  Car Parking Interest Held  Attributable fi%
Property Name Date GFA Space GFA by the Group to the Group Use
FYear FhKm? FHKm? FrRm?
FIRZEIEH
Shenzhen Tian An Cyber Park \
— A RBZEIF R ES 2038 10,540 - 50% 5270 MWERRNE
Shenzhen Tian An Innovation Science Commercial
and Technology Plaza, Phase 1 and office
— MR L R E S 8 2038 4,400 - 50% 2,200 FEERMAE
Shenzhen Tian An Innovation Commercial
Science and Technology and office
Plaza, Phase 2
— RIS 2051 20,530 - 50% 10,260 BEERBAE
Shenzhen Cyber Times Building Commercial
and office
- RMIEERZRBRIERRE 2038 13,760 - 50% 6,880 EERMLE
Shenzhen Futian Tian An Hi-Tech Commercial
Venture Park and office
R EERR26ELE 2051 1,970 = 100% 1970 Mg
Whole Floor of 26/F, Shenzhen Cyber Office
Times Building
RNRZEEARE 2041 31,800 - 50% 15,900 BERHFAE
Shenzhen Tian An Commercial
International Building and office
RIRZERRE20E2E 2041 850 - 100% 850 HAiE
Whole Floor of 20/F, Shenzhen Tian An Office
International Building
AIIE B — RS 2033 1,460 = 100% 1460 %
Shenzhen Tian Bei Yi Road, shops Commercial
RIIRZREEE R — 5 2055 8,240 = 50% 4120 HERBAE
Shenzhen Tian An Longgang Commercial
Cyber Park, Phase 1 and office
BMEBRERAIER D 2052 60 = 50% 30 BE
Guangzhou Panyu Tian An Commercial
Hi-Tech Venture Centre
BENEBRLRBAFN AR 2052 4,280 - 50% 2,140 BERBAE
Guangzhou Panyu Tian An Commercial
Hi-Tech Innovation Plaza and office
BMEBRERBZ AL 2052 2,640 = 50% 1320 HERHAE
Guangzhou Panyu Tian An Commercial
Hi-Tech Exchange Centre and office
BMEESRLREEZNE 2052 2,340 - 50% 1,170 B%
Guangzhou Panyu Tian An Commercial

Hi-Tech Industrial Plaza
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MERBEEREEHR

Particulars of Property and Hotel Investments

EEE
ES EE £E BEER
HRER BEEER BEEE PGSR GFA
MEELR Expiry Property  Car Parking Interest Held  Attributable f#%
Property Name Date GFA Space GFA by the Group to the Group Use
FYear FHRm? FHRm? FHRm?
BNEBARHBRERAE 2052 4,090 - 50% 2,050 FEFE
Guangzhou Panyu Tian An Commercial
Hi-Tech Development Plaza
BRI AT RS RN 2056 4,120 - 45% 1850 @%
KEBIZEKRE Commercial
Foshan Tian An Nanhai Cyber Park
Tianyou Fortune Mansion
ERREHL 2044 22,350 - 98% 21,900 BERBERE
Shanghai Tian An Centre Commercial
and office
FERLHROE  BEMICERE 2044 4,740 - 100% 4,740 B0
Whole Floor of 5/F, 8/F & 16/F, Office
Shanghai Tian An Centre
TERERRELTNRE 2068-2071 68,380 - 100% 68380 (¥
Shanghai Racquet Club & Apartments Residential
FETERE 2036 1,510 - 99% 1,500 ¥
Shanghai The Riverside Commercial
TEARE 2071 1,130 - 100% 1,130 %
Shanghai Mandarin Palace Residential
i VS ON ] 2043 1,420 - 95% 1,350 HRE
Wuxi Tian An Building Office
BHOLFS 2041 1,550 - 95% 1470 ¥
Wauxi Redhill Peninsula Commercial
HRAZERAE 2032 75,920 - 100% 75920 MERMBLE
Nanjing Tian An International Commercial
Building and office
BMRZH T RS 2043 24,400 - 100% 24,400 WERBLE
Changzhou Tian An City Plaza Commercial
and office
BMFH SR 2068 7,140 - 100% 7140 HE
Changzhou New City Garden Commercial
HRNERARAELE 2043 710 - 100% 710 WA
Whole Floor of 4/F, Nantong Sun Hoi Office
Tung Building
MRmA 1 TE21E 2050 1,300 - 100% 1300 @E¥
2/F, Block 17, Nantong Jin Xiu Court Commercial
TEHAR BEREBRE 2043 3,730 - 100% 3730 KR
Jiangsu Taicang Xingye Road, Factory
Factory Building
REERAR 2044 52,730 - 25% 13,180 HAER
Tianjin International Building BBALE
Office and
service
apartment
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MERBEREER
Particulars of Property and Hotel Investments
KBRS
ES EE £E BEEEE
HREH BEEE BEEE PR GFA
WEER Expiry Property  Car Parking Interest Held  Attributable f#%
Property Name Date GFA Space GFA by the Group to the Group Use
FYear T Km? NG FHAKm?
ERRERE 2016 9,910 - 40% 3960 AR
Beijing Tian An Building Office
b RBER A 2064 1,460 - 100% 1,460 %
Beijing Lakeside Garden Residential
IRALZRE 2064 20,630 - 100% 20,630 %
Beijing Park Apartments Residential
RERLERIEE 2043 2,320 - 60% 1390 (=
Dalian Tian An Seaview Garden Residential
RERRZEBRAE 2035 51,330 - 100% 51330 AR
Dalian Tian An International Tower Office
RERLE N 2051 3,710 - 100% 3710 A%
Changchun Tian An City One Commercial
467,450 366,800
FERZHL-EE 2044 - 7,770 98% 7,610
Shanghai Tian An Centre, Car Parking Space
LBRZIEE -8R 2067 - 5,180 80% 4,140
Shanghai Central Garden, Car Parking Space
TEREBRELLNAE - EE 2068-2071 - 2,510 100% 2,510
Shanghai Racquet Club & Apartments,
Car Parking Space
TEREARBEBNAE - g 2068 10,600 - 100% 10,600
Shanghai Racquet Club & Apartments,
Club House
10,600 15,460 24,860
2. BE
Hotel
Km 5 58 SEfihER BEEE EB#HE
HEER Expiry Interest Held Hotel No. of
Project Name Date by the Group Gross Area Rooms
FYear 75 ARKm?
ROEXRZRBBEE 2026 55% 37,500 407
Wuhan Tian An Holiday Inn
BRI ABEE-12 1 2043 100% 1,190 23
9/F to 12/F, Changzhou Tian An City Hotel
38,690

Bt ERBEBE-_ZFZNF+_BA=+—HZ#E Note: The above table is based on information as of 31st December, 2009.
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The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance within a sensible framework with an emphasis on the
principles of transparency, accountability and independence. The
board of directors of the Company (“Board”) believes that good
corporate governance is essential to the success of the Company and
the enhancement of shareholders’ value.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

In the light of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (“CG
Code") contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing
Rules”) which came into effect on 1st January, 2005, the Board has
reviewed the corporate governance practices of the Company with the
adoption of the various enhanced procedures which are detailed in
this report. The Company has applied the principles of, and complied
with, the applicable code provisions of the CG Code during the year
ended 31st December, 2009, except for certain deviations as specified
with considered reasons for such deviations as explained below. The
Board will review the current practices at least annually, and make
appropriate changes if considered necessary.
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THE BOARD

The Board currently comprises twelve directors (“Directors”) in total,
with five Executive Directors, three Non-Executive Directors and four
Independent Non-Executive Directors (“INEDs"”). The composition of
the Board during the year and up to date of this report is set out as
follows:

Executive Directors:
Patrick Lee Seng Wei (Managing Director)
Ng Qing Hai (Deputy Managing Director)
Ma Sun (Deputy Managing Director)
Edwin Lo King Yau
Tao Tsan Sang

(appointed on 31st October, 2009)
Li Chi Kong

(resigned on 31st October, 2009)
Yasushi Ichikawa

(resigned on 31st October, 2009)

Non-Executive Directors:
Lee Seng Hui (Chairman)
Song Zengbin (Deputy Chairman)
Moses Cheng Mo Chi
Kazunori Okimoto
(appointed on 20th July, 2009 and
resigned on 31st October, 2009)

INEDs:

Francis J. Chang Chu Fai
Ngai Wah Sang

Xu Su Jing

Lisa Yang Lai Sum

The brief biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” section in
the Directors’ Report on pages 55 to 59. Other than that Mr. Lee Seng
Hui, the Chairman of the Company, is a cousin of Mr. Patrick Lee Seng
Wei, the Managing Director of the Company, there are no family or
other material relationships among members of the Board.

During the year, the Non-Executive Directors (a majority of whom are
independent) provided the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
“Group”) with a wide range of expertise and experience. Their
active participation in the Board and committee meetings brought
independent judgment on issues relating to the Group’s strategy,
performance and management process, taking into account the
interests of all shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”).
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Throughout the year and up to the date of this report, the Company
has four INEDs representing about one-third of the Board. At least
one of the INEDs has the appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise under Rule
3.10 of the Listing Rules. The Board has received from each INED an
annual confirmation of his/her independence and considers that all
the INEDs are independent under the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules.

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well as
the operation and financial performance of the Group, and to review
and approve the Group’s annual and interim results. During the year,
four Board meetings were held and attendance of each Director at the
Board meetings is set out in the section headed “Board Committees”
of this report.

The Board has reserved for its decision or consideration matters
covering mainly the Group’s overall strategy, annual operating
budget, annual and interim results, recommendations on Directors’
appointment or re-appointment, material contracts and transactions
as well as other significant policy and financial matters. The Board has
delegated the day-to-day responsibility to the executive management
under the instruction/supervision of the Executive Committee which
has its specific written terms of reference. The respective functions of
the Board and management of the Company have been formalised
and set out in writing and will be reviewed by the Board from time
to time to ensure that they are consistent with the existing rules and
regulations.

Regular Board meetings each year are scheduled in advance to
facilitate maximum attendance of Directors. At least 14 days’ notice
of a Board meeting is normally given to all Directors who are given
an opportunity to include matters for discussion in the agenda. The
Company Secretary assists the Chairman in preparing the agenda for
meetings and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations are
complied with. The agenda and the accompanying Board papers are
normally sent to all Directors at least 3 days before the intended date
of a regular Board meeting (and so far as practicable for such other
Board meetings). Draft minutes of each Board meeting are circulated
to all Directors for their comment before being tabled at the following
Board meeting for approval. All minutes are kept by the Company
Secretary and are open for inspection at any reasonable time on
reasonable notice by any Director.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

According to the current Board practice, if a substantial shareholder
or a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by
the Board which the Board has determined to be material, the matter
will be dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board meeting.
The articles of association of the Company (“Articles of Association”)
also stipulate that save for the exceptions as provided therein, a
Director shall abstain from voting and not be counted in the quorum
at meetings for approving any contract or arrangement in which such
Director or any of his/her associates have a material interest.

Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers and related
materials and has access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary. The Board and each Director also have separate and
independent access to the Company’s senior management. Directors
will be continuously updated on the major development of the
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance and upkeep of good corporate governance practices.
In addition, a written procedure was established in June 2005 to
enable the Directors, in discharge of their duties, to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at a reasonable cost
to be borne by the Company.

ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of the
chairman and chief executive officer (“CEO") shall be separate and
shall not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Lee Seng Hui,
being the Chairman of the Company, is primarily responsible for the
leadership of the Board, ensuring that (i) all significant policy issues
are discussed by the Board in a timely and constructive manner; (ii) all
Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings; and
(iii) the Directors receive accurate, timely and clear information. The
functions of the CEO are performed by Mr. Patrick Lee Seng Wei, the
Managing Director of the Company, who is responsible for the day-
to-day management of the Group’s business. Their responsibilities are
clearly segregated and have been set out in writing and approved by
the Board in June 2005.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

In June 2005, the Board established and adopted a written nomination
procedure (“Nomination Procedure”) specifying the process and criteria
for the selection and recommendation of candidates for directorship
of the Company. The Executive Committee shall, based on those
criteria as set out in the Nomination Procedure (such as appropriate
experience, personal skills and time commitment, etc.), identify and
recommend the proposed candidate to the Board for approval of an
appointment.

Every newly appointed Director will receive an induction package from
the Company Secretary on the first occasion of his appointment. This
induction package is a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction
on the responsibilities and on-going obligations to be observed by
a director pursuant to the Companies Ordinance, Listing Rules and
Securities and Futures Ordinance. In addition, this induction package
includes materials briefly describing the operations and business of the
Company, the latest published financial reports of the Company and
the documentation for the corporate governance practices adopted
by the Board. Directors will be continuously updated on any major
developments of the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep of good corporate
governance practices.

All Non-Executive Directors (including INEDs) of the Company were
appointed for a specific term, but subject to the relevant provisions
of the Articles of Association or any other applicable laws whereby
the Directors shall vacate or retire from their office but eligible for
re-election. The term of appointment of the Non-Executive Directors
(including INEDs) has been renewed for further two years commencing
from 1st January, 2009.

According to the Articles of Association, at each annual general
meeting of the Company (“AGM"), one-third of the Directors for
the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation. Further, any Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy
shall hold office only until the next following general meeting of the
Company whilst for those appointed as an addition to the Board shall
hold office until the next following AGM and in both cases, those
Directors shall then be eligible for re-election at the relevant meeting.
Every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including a Remuneration
Committee, an Audit Committee and an Executive Committee, each
of which has its specific written terms of reference. Copies of minutes
of all meetings and resolutions of the committees, which are kept
by the Company Secretary, are circulated to all Board members and
the committees are required to report back to the Board on their
decision and recommendations where appropriate. The procedures and
arrangements for a Board meeting, as mentioned in the section headed
“The Board” of this report, have been adopted for the committee
meetings so far as practicable.

The individual attendance records of each Director at the meetings of

BEERESE - the Board, Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee during the
EMNER L ERESIT year ended 31st December, 2009 are set out below:
HE/BTEEZRE
Number of meetings attended/held
¥HZEEE BEREEE
EE®  Remuneration Audit

EEnd Name of Directors Board Committee Committee
BiTES: Executive Directors:
ENE (EFHATE) Patrick Lee Seng Wei (Managing Director) — 4/4
B8 (FEFLLE) Ng Qing Hai (Deputy Managing Director) 174
5 (F/eH) Ma Sun (Deputy Managing Director) 2/4
Eaa=t Edwin Lo King Yau 4/4
TR E Tao Tsan Sang 0/0

(R-ZZBZNFFHA=+—HZMH) (appointed on 31st October, 2009)
FEM Li Chi Kong 4/4

(RZFZENFFH=+—HFHT) (resigned on 31st October, 2009)
Yasushi Ichikawa Yasushi Ichikawa 4/4

(RZFZENFFHA=+—HFT) (resigned on 31st October, 2009)
EHTESE: Non-Executive Directors:
TNEE (£E) Lee Seng Hui (Chairman) 4/4
RIEW (F1F/E) Song Zengbin (Deputy Chairman) 1/4
BEE Moses Cheng Mo Chi 3/4 2/3
Kazunori Okimoto Kazunori Okimoto 11

(ff‘_— ?"Jzifﬁ —+HZER (appointed on 20th July, 2009 and

—EENFFA=F—HFT) resigned on 31st October, 2009)

BIYFHTES: INEDs:
Lf =y Francis J. Chang Chu Fai 4/4 171 3/3
BEL Ngai Wah Sang 4/4 171 3/3
LR Xu Su Jing 3/4 7 3/3
BE%R Lisa Yang Lai Sum 4/4 171 2/3
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BOARD COMMITTEES (conTINUED)

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has been established since June 2005

and currently consists of four members, including Mr. Francis J.
Chang Chu Fai (Chairman of the Committee), Mr. Ngai Wah Sang,
Mr. Xu Su Jing and Ms. Lisa Yang Lai Sum, all of whom are INEDs.

The Remuneration Committee is provided with sufficient resources to

discharge its duties and has access to independent professional advice

according to the Company’s policy if considered necessary.

The major roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee are:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

to review and recommend to the Board the remuneration policy
and packages of the Directors and, where appropriate, to
consult the Chairman and/or the Managing Director about the
Committee’s proposals relating to the remuneration of other
Executive Directors;

to review and recommend performance-based remuneration by
reference to corporate goals and objectives approved by the Board
from time to time;

to review and recommend the compensation payable to Executive
Directors relating to any loss or termination of their office or
appointment;

to review and recommend compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct; and

to ensure that no Director is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (conTINUED)
Remuneration Committee (continued)

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee of the
Company are in line with the code provision B.1.3 of the CG Code,
but with a deviation from the code provision of the remuneration
committee’s responsibilities to determine the specific remuneration
packages of all executive directors and senior management of a listed
company. The Board considers that the Remuneration Committee
of the Company shall review (as opposed to determine) and make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
Executive Directors only and not senior management for the following
reasons:

(i) the Board believes that the Remuneration Committee is not
properly in a position to evaluate the performance of senior
management and that this evaluation process is more effectively
carried out by the Executive Directors;

(i) the Remuneration Committee members only consist of INEDs who
may not be industry skilled and come from differing professions
and backgrounds and they are not involved in the daily operation
of the Company. They may have little direct knowledge of industry
practice and standard compensation packages. The Remuneration
Committee is thus not in a position to properly determine the
remuneration of the Executive Directors;

(iii) the Executive Directors must be in a position to supervise and
control senior management and thus must be able to control their
compensation; and

(iv) there is no reason for Executive Directors to pay senior
management more than industry standards and thus Shareholders
will benefit by reducing costs in the fixing of such compensation
packages.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available
on the website of the Company.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year in
accordance with its terms of reference. One Committee meeting was
held in 2009 and the attendance of each member is set out in the
section headed “Board Committees” of this report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (conTINUED)
Remuneration Committee (continued)

In addition to the Committee meeting, the Remuneration Committee
also dealt with matters by way of circulation during 2009. In 2009 and
up to the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee performed
the works as summarised below:

(i) reviewed the existing policy and structure for the remuneration
of Directors;

(i) reviewed the remuneration packages of all the Executive and
Non-Executive Directors (including the INEDs) for the year ended
31st December, 2008;

(iii) reviewed and recommended the employment contracts of the
Chairman and the Managing Director for the Board'’s approval,

(iv) reviewed and recommended the contract of employment of an
Executive Director for the Board's approval; and

(v) reviewed and recommended the provision of fixed accommodation
allowance to a former Executive Director for the Board’s
approval.

Each Director will be entitled to a Director's fee which is to be
proposed for the Shareholders’ approval at the AGM each year. Further
remuneration payable to Directors (including any service fees of the
INEDs) for their additional responsibilities and services will depend on
their respective contractual terms under their employment contracts or
service contracts as approved by the Board on the recommendation of
the Remuneration Committee. Details of the Directors’ remuneration
are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
Details of the remuneration policy of the Group are also set out in
the "Employee and Training” section contained in the Management
Discussion and Analysis on page 13. Details of the share option scheme
of the Company, which had been adopted in January 1999 and expired
in January 2009, are set out in the Directors’ Report on page 53 and
note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (conTINUED)
Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has been established since November 1999 and
currently consists of five Non-Executive Directors, four of whom are
INEDs. To retain independence and objectivity, the Audit Committee
is chaired by an INED with appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise. The current
members of the Audit Committee are Mr. Ngai Wah Sang (Chairman
of the Committee), Mr. Francis J. Chang Chu Fai, Dr. Moses Cheng Mo
Chi, Mr. Xu Su Jing and Ms. Lisa Yang Lai Sum. The Audit Committee
is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and has
access to independent professional advice according to the Company’s
policy if considered necessary.

The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee are:

(i)  to consider and recommend to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditor, to approve the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor,
and any questions of resignation or dismissal of the external
auditor;

(i) to consider and discuss with the external auditor the nature and
scope of each year’s audit;

(iii) to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity;

(iv) to review the interim and annual consolidated financial statements
before submission to the Board;

(v) to discuss any problems and reservation arising from the interim
review and final audit, and any matters the external auditor may

wish to discuss;

(vi) to review the external auditor's management letters and
management'’s response;

(vii) to review the Group’s financial controls, internal control and risk
management systems;
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BOARD COMMITTEES (conTINUED)

Audit Committee (continued)

(viii) to review the internal audit plan, promote co-ordination between

(ix)

the internal and external auditors, and check whether the internal
audit function is adequately resourced and has appropriate
standing within the Group; and

to consider any findings of the major investigations from the
internal audit and management’s response.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee of the Company are

revised from time to time to comply with the code provisions C.3.3

of the CG Code, but with deviations from the code provision of the

audit committee’s responsibility to:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

implement policy on the engagement of the external auditors to
supply non-audit services;

ensure the management has discharged its duty to have an
effective internal control system; and

ensure co-ordination between the internal and external auditors,
and ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced
and has appropriate standing within the listed company.

The Board considers that the Audit Committee of the Company shall

recommend (as opposed to implement) the policy on the engagement

of the external auditors to supply non-audit services for the following

reasons:

)

(i)

(iii)

it is proper and appropriate for the Board and its committees to
develop policy and make appropriate recommendations;

the proper and appropriate mechanism for implementation
of such policy and recommendations is through the Executive
Directors and management; and

INEDs are not in an effective position to implement policy and
follow up the same on a day-to-day basis.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (conTINUED)
Audit Committee (continued)

Further, the Board considers that the Audit Committee of the Company
only possesses the effective ability to scrutinise (as opposed to ensure)
whether management has discharged its duty to have an effective
internal control system. The Audit Committee is not equipped to ensure
that the same is in place as this would involve day-to-day supervision
and the employment of permanent experts. The Audit Committee is
not in a position either to ensure co-ordination between the internal
and external auditors but it can promote the same. Similarly, the
Audit Committee is not in a position to ensure that the internal
audit function is adequately resourced but it can check whether it is
adequately resourced.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on the
website of the Company.

The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year in accordance
with its terms of reference. Three Committee meetings were held in
2009 and the attendance of each member is set out in the section
headed “"Board Committees” of this report.

In addition to the Committee meetings, the Audit Committee also
dealt with matters by way of circulation during 2009. In 2009 and up
to the date of this report, the Audit Committee performed the works
as summarised below:

(i) reviewed and recommended the audit scope and fees proposed by
the external auditor in respect of the interim results review for the
six months ended 30th June, 2009 (“2009 Interim Review") and
the final audit for the year ended 31st December, 2009 (“2009
Final Audit”) of the Group for the Board/Executive Committee’s
approval,

(ii) reviewed the reports of findings/independent review report from
the external auditor and the management’s response in relation
to the final audit for the year ended 31st December, 2008 (“2008
Final Audit”), 2009 Interim Review and 2009 Final Audit;
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BOARD COMMITTEES (conTINUED)

Audit Committee (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

reviewed and recommended the financial reports for the year
ended 31st December, 2008, for the six months ended 30th
2009
together with the relevant management representation letters

June, 2009 and for the year ended 31st December,

and announcements for the Board's approval,

reviewed the internal audit review reports/summaries prepared by
the Group Internal Audit Department (“IAD"), and would monitor
that the issues raised would be addressed and managed promptly
by the management;

reviewed the Whistle Blower Policy for the Board’s annual
review;

reviewed the Price-Sensitive Information Guideline for the Board'’s
annual review;

reviewed and recommended the formalisation of the Related Party
Transaction Policies and Procedures and Connected Transaction
Policies for the Board's approval,

reviewed and recommended the report/revised report on
substantiation of the resources, qualifications and experience of
staff of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting function,
and their training programmes and budget for the Board’s
approval; and

reviewed and recommended the revised terms of reference of
the Audit Committee to align with the amendment of the code
provision C.3.3 of the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 of the
Listing Rules for the Board's approval.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (conTINUED)
Executive Committee

The Executive Committee has been established since February 2004
and currently consists of five Executive Directors, being Mr. Patrick
Lee Seng Wei (Chairman of the Committee), Mr. Ng Qing Hai, Mr. Ma
Sun, Mr. Edwin Lo King Yau and Mr. Tao Tsan Sang. The Executive
Committee is vested with all the general powers of management and
control of the activities of the Group as are vested in the Board, save
for those matters which are reserved for the Board's decision and
approval pursuant to the written terms of reference of the Executive
Committee. The terms of reference of the Executive Committee were
revised in March 2008 following the adoption of the Whistle Blower
Policy by the Company.

The Executive Committee will meet as and when necessary to discuss
the operating affairs of the Group and may also deal with matters
by way of circulation. The Executive Committee is mainly responsible
for undertaking and supervising the day-to-day management and is
empowered:

(i) to formulate and implement policies for the business activities,
internal control and administration of the Group; and

(i) to plan and decide on strategies to be adopted for the business
activities of the Group within the overall strategy of the Group
as determined by the Board.

CODES FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code"”) as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed, following
a specific enquiry by the Company, that they have complied with the
required standard as set out in the Model Code.

The Company has also adopted the Model Code as the Code for
Securities Transactions by Relevant Employees to regulate dealings in
the securities of the Company by certain employees of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries who are considered to be likely in possession
of unpublished price sensitive information in relation to the Company
or its securities.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing, with
the support from the Finance Department, the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. In preparing the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31st December, 2009, the accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong have been adopted and the
requirements of the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (which
also include Hong Kong Accounting Standards and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
were complied with. The Directors believe that they have selected
suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently, and made
judgements and estimates that are prudent and reasonable and ensure
the consolidated financial statements are prepared on the going
concern basis.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor,
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, are set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report on pages 73 and 74.

Internal Control

The Board has the responsibility to review annually the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control systems and ensure that the controls
are sound and effective to safeguard the Shareholders’ investments
and the Group’s assets at all times. In 2009, the Board, through the
Audit Committee and IAD, had reviewed the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting function, and their training programmes and
budget.

The internal control system is designed to provide reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss; to
manage rather than completely eliminate the risk of system failure;
and to assist in the achievement of the Group’s agreed objectives and
goals. It has a key role in the management of risks that are significant
to the fulfilment of business objectives. In addition to safeguarding
the Group's assets, it should provide a basis for the maintenance of
proper accounting records and assist in the compliance with relevant
laws and regulations.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (conTINUED)
Internal Control (continued)

The Board, through the Audit Committee and with the assistance of the
IAD, conducted internal control reviews of the property development
and management group for the year ended 31st December, 2009.

Internal Audit

The Internal Audit Manager reports to the Chairman and the Audit
Committee. The IAD plays an important role in providing assurance
to the Board that a sound internal control system is maintained and
operated by the management. This is part of the Board’'s plan to
enhance the standards of the Group’s overall corporate governance
and comply with the code provision C.2 of the CG Code.

The Group Overall Risk Profile Analysis Report, and the Group Internal
Audit Plan and Strategy Report were prepared by the IAD and issued
to the Audit Committee and the Board for review. A discussion of
the policies and procedures on the management of each of the major
types of risk which the Group is facing is included in note 5b to the
consolidated financial statements.

The IAD performed internal control assessments of the property
development and management group for the year ended 31st
December, 2009. The internal audit reports were distributed to the
Audit Committee and the Board for their review. The IAD would
monitor that the issues raised would be addressed and managed
promptly by the management.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (conTiNUED)
External Auditor’'s Remuneration

During the year, the remuneration paid to the Group’s external auditor
is set out as follows:

EAEBEERE S RE Services rendered for the Group FET
HK$'000
Z B RS Audit services 3,200
IEZE R (RIREMETRERK Non-audit services (including review of
STENEDI B REREELE) compliance of Occupational Retirement Scheme
Ordinance and review of interim results) 1,396
HET Total 4,596
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good communication with
Shareholders. Information in relation to the Group is disseminated
to Shareholders in a timely manner through a number of formal
channels, which include interim and annual reports, announcements
and circulars. Such published documents together with the latest
corporate information and news are also made available on the website
of the Company.

The Company’s AGM is a valuable forum for the Board to communicate
directly with the Shareholders. Due to business engagements overseas,
Mr. Lee Seng Hui, the Chairman of the Board, was unable to attend
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 22nd May, 2009.
However, Mr. Patrick Lee Seng Wei, the Managing Director of the
Company, took the chair of that meeting and two Executive Directors
and a member of the Audit Committee were present thereat to be
available to answer any question to ensure effective communication
with the Shareholders.

The chairman of any independent board committee formed as
necessary or pursuant to the Listing Rules (or if no such chairman is
appointed, at least a member of the independent board committee)
will also be available to answer questions at any general meeting of
the Shareholders to approve a connected transaction or any other
transaction that is subject to independent Shareholders’ approval.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(CONTINUED)

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings for each
substantial issue, including the re-election of retiring Directors.

The notice to Shareholders is to be sent in the case of AGM at least 20
clear business days before the meeting and to be sent at least 10 clear
business days in case of all other general meetings. An explanation
of the detailed procedures of conducting a poll is provided to the
Shareholders at the commencement of the meeting. The Chairman
answers questions from Shareholders regarding voting by way of a
poll. The poll results are published in the manner prescribed under the
requirements of the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE ENHANCEMENT

Enhancing corporate governance is not simply a matter of applying and
complying with the CG Code of the Stock Exchange but also about
promoting and developing an ethical and healthy corporate culture.
We will continue to review and, where appropriate, improve our
current practices on the basis of our experience, regulatory changes
and developments. Any views and suggestions from our Shareholders

to promote and improve our transparency are also welcome.

On behalf of the Board

fuSughc

Lee Seng Hui
Chairman

Hong Kong, 19th March, 2010
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The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) presents their
annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively “Group”) for the year
ended 31st December, 2009.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled
entities as at 31st December, 2009 are set out in notes 51, 52 and 53
to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

The Group’s revenue for the year was derived mainly from activities
carried out in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC"). The breakdown
by principal activities of the Group’s turnover and the contribution to
profit before taxation for the year ended 31st December, 2009 is set
out in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, associates and jointly
controlled entities as at 31st December, 2009 are set out in notes 51,
52 and 53 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group and appropriations of the Company are set
out in the consolidated income statement on pages 75 and 76 and in
the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

The Board has proposed the payment of a final dividend of HK7 cents
per share for the year ended 31st December, 2009 payable to the
shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company on Thursday, 20th May,
2010. Details are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

During the year, the Group acquired investment properties totalling
approximately HK$1,060,405,000 in value and certain inventories of
completed properties to a value of HK$43,495,000 were transferred
to investment properties. The Group revalued all of its investment
properties as at the year end date. The surplus arising on the
revaluation amounted to HK$584,475,000 and has been recognised
in the consolidated income statement.

Details of these and other movements in the investment properties of
the Group during the year are set out in note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment
totalling approximately HK$116,271,000.

Details of these and other movements in property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PROPERTIES

Particulars of major properties of the Group as at 31st December, 2009
are set out on pages 26 to 33.

SHARE CAPITAL AND WARRANTS

Details of movements in the share capital and warrants of the
Company during the year are set out in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Particulars of the share option scheme of the Company are set out in
note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.
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BORROWINGS AND INTEREST CAPITALISED

Bank loans, overdrafts and other borrowings which are repayable
within one year or on demand are classified as current liabilities.
Repayment analysis of interest-bearing and interest-free borrowings
are set out in notes 38 and 39 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively. Interest capitalised by the Group during the year in
respect of properties under development amounted to HK$36,004,000,
details of which are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) during the year and up to
the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:
Patrick Lee Seng Wei
Ng Qing Hai
Ma Sun
Edwin Lo King Yau
Tao Tsan Sang
(appointed on 31st October, 2009)
Li Chi Kong
(resigned on 31st October, 2009)
Yasushi Ichikawa
(resigned on 31st October, 2009)

Non-Executive Directors:

Lee Seng Hui

Song Zengbin

Moses Cheng Mo Chi

Kazunori Okimoto
(appointed on 20th July, 2009 and
resigned on 31st October, 2009)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Francis J. Chang Chu Fai

Ngai Wah Sang

Xu Su Jing

Lisa Yang Lai Sum

In accordance with Article 105(A) of the articles of association of the
Company (“Articles of Association”), Mr. Lee Seng Hui, Mr. Ng Qing
Hai, Mr. Francis J. Chang Chu Fai and Ms. Lisa Yang Lai Sum shall
retire from office by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election.
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DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

In accordance with Article 96 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Tao
Tsan Sang, who has been appointed after the last annual general
meeting and before the date of this report, shall hold office until the
forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM") and, being eligible,
offer himself for re-election.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Patrick Lee Seng Wei, aged 58, was appointed an Executive Director
of the Company in June 1996 and became the Chairman and the
Acting Managing Director of the Company in February 2004 and
December 2005 respectively. He relinquished his role as the Chairman
and was re-designated from the Acting Managing Director to the
Managing Director of the Company in April 2007. An architect,
he worked for IBM Australia before becoming involved in property
development in Malaysia and Hong Kong more than twenty-four years
ago. He has extensive experience in the property field. Mr. Lee is also
the chief executive and an executive director of Allied Properties (H.K.)
Limited (“APL") and a non-executive director of Sun Hung Kai & Co.
Limited (“SHK"), both are substantial shareholders of the Company. He
is a cousin of Mr. Lee Seng Hui (the Chairman of the Company).

Ng Qing Hai, aged 53, was appointed an Executive Director of the
Company in April 2003 and became the Managing Director of the
Company in October 2003. He was re-designated as the Deputy
Managing Director of the Company in December 2005. Mr. Ng
graduated from the Accounting Department of Shanghai Institute of
Building Materials in 1983 and became a member of the Association
of Registered Accountants of the PRC in 1994. He was admitted as
Management Consultant by GROUPE ESSEC of France in 1988. Mr.
Ng became the vice chairman of China Building Materials Enterprises
Management Association in 2004, and a fellow of Asian Knowledge
Management Association and the vice chairman of Shanghai Cement
Industrial Association in 2006 and 2008 respectively. He has extensive
experience in managing enterprises. Mr. Ng is also the president and
chief executive officer of ChinaVision Media Group Limited (formerly
known as Shanghai Allied Cement Limited), a former non wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (conTINUED)

Executive Directors (continued)

Ma Sun, aged 69, was appointed an Executive Director of the
Company in April 2003 and became an additional Deputy Managing
Director of the Company responsible for organising the investment
and development of the cyberpark projects of the Company in April
2009. Mr. Ma joined Sun Hung Kai Securities Limited in 1984 and was
then transferred to the Group in 1985. Besides holding a Bachelor’s
Degree in Electrical Engineering, he has extensive experience in
electrical engineering and over twenty-four years of experience
in China commercial business, financial investment and property
development.

Edwin Lo King Yau, aged 49, was appointed an Executive Director
of the Company in August 1999. He holds a Master's Degree in
Applied Finance from Macquarie University, Australia and is a chartered
company secretary. He had served various executive roles in several
companies in Hong Kong including as company secretary for public
listed companies. Mr. Lo is also an executive director of Allied Group
Limited (“AGL"), a substantial shareholder of the Company. He
resigned as an executive director of SHK Hong Kong Industries Limited
(formerly known as Yu Ming Investments Limited (“YMI")), a subsidiary
of AGL, in October 2009.

Tao Tsan Sang, aged 45, was appointed an Executive Director of
the Company in October 2009. He is also the Financial Controller
of the Company. He joined the Company in May 1994. Mr. Tao
holds a Master’s Degree in Business Administration from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University and is an associate of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and The Chartered Institute of
Management Accountants. He has extensive experience in accounting,
financial management and China business field.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (conTINUED)

Non-Executive Directors

Lee Seng Hui, aged 41, was appointed the Chairman and a Non-
Executive Director of the Company in April 2007. He graduated from
the Law School of the University of Sydney with Honours. Previously,
he worked with Baker & McKenzie and N M Rothschild & Sons (Hong
Kong) Limited. Mr. Lee is also the chief executive and an executive
director of AGL, a substantial shareholder of the Company. He is a
non-executive director of Tanami Gold NL (“Tanami Gold”) and has
been appointed a non-executive director of APAC Resources Limited
and Mount Gibson Iron Limited (“Mount Gibson"”) in October 2009
and January 2010 respectively. The shares of Tanami Gold and Mount
Gibson are listed on the Australian Securities Exchange. Mr. Lee was
previously the chairman and an executive director of YMI (now known
as SHK Hong Kong Industries Limited), a subsidiary of AGL. He is a
cousin of Mr. Patrick Lee Seng Wei (the Managing Director of the
Company).

Song Zengbin, aged 55, was appointed the Deputy Chairman
and a Non-Executive Director of the Company in June 2008. He
graduated from the Civil Engineering Department of Dalian University
of Technology with a Master’s Degree in Engineering and is a state
registered construction engineer. He has more than thirty years of
experience in the fields of engineering and management by serving in
various senior roles in a design institute, several large state companies
and municipal government. Mr. Song has also been invited as a guest
professor for Dalian University of Technology since 2003.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (conTINUED)

Non-Executive Directors (continued)

Moses Cheng Mo Chi, aged 60, was appointed an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company in May 1997 and was re-
designated as a Non-Executive Director of the Company in September
2004. He is the senior partner of P. C. Woo & Co., a firm of solicitors
and notaries in Hong Kong, and also one of the Company’s solicitors.
He is the Chairman of the Education Commission, the Chairman of
the Advisory Committee on Post-office Employment for Former Chief
Executives and Politically Appointed Officials, the Chairman of the
Advisory Committee on Post-service Employment of Civil Servants. He
is also the Founder Chairman of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors
of which he is now the Honorary President and Chairman Emeritus.
Dr. Cheng served as a member of the Legislative Council of Hong Kong
from 1991 to 1995 and Chairman of the Council and Court of the
Hong Kong Baptist University between 1997 and 2006. He also serves
on the boards of various listed companies in Hong Kong and overseas,
both as independent non-executive director and non-executive director,
including ARA Asset Management Limited, China COSCO Holdings
Company Limited, China Mobile Limited, China Resources Enterprise,
Limited, City Telecom (H.K.) Limited, Guangdong Investment Limited,
Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited, Kader Holdings Company
Limited, K. Wah International Holdings Limited, Liu Chong Hing
Investment Limited and Towngas China Company Limited. He was
previously a non-executive director of Galaxy Entertainment Group
Limited and an independent non-executive director of Beijing Capital
International Airport Company Limited and Shui On Construction and
Materials Limited respectively.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Francis J. Chang Chu Fai, aged 55, was appointed an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company in September 2004. He
holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce from Concordia University
in Montreal, Canada since 1976 and a Master’s Degree in Business
Administration from York University in Toronto, Canada since 1977.
He has over thirty-two years of experience in banking, corporate
finance, investment and management and has held various executive
positions at financial institutions and directorships of listed companies.
Mr. Chang is currently the managing director of Ceres Consultancy
Limited and a registered person under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance. He is also the deputy chairman and an independent
non-executive director of Quality HealthCare Asia Limited; and an
independent non-executive director of APAC Resources Limited and
Royale Furniture Holdings Limited. Mr. Chang was previously the
chairman and an executive director of Trasy Gold Ex Limited, an
executive director of China Financial Leasing Group Limited and the
managing director of Ceres Capital Limited.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (conTINUED)

Independent Non-Executive Directors (continued)

Ngai Wah Sang, aged 51, was appointed an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company in September 2004. He holds a
Bachelor’s Degree in Science from the University of London in United
Kingdom and is a fellow of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in
Australia and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
in Hong Kong respectively. He has broad experience in auditing,
accounting, financial management and dealing with business
development and investments and previously worked for international
accounting firms and listed companies in Hong Kong and overseas.
Mr. Ngai is currently the deputy chairman and the chief executive
officer of Earnest Investments Holdings Limited.

Xu Su Jing, aged 65, was appointed an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company in September 2004. He graduated from the
Beijing Research Institute of Labor Safety in 1983 majoring in safety
technology engineering and holds a Master of Engineering and the title
of a senior economist of professor level. He has extensive experience
in the macro-management of petrochemical enterprises. Mr. Xu was
appointed the chief economist and the vice general manager of Beijing
CRE-CO-CRE Invest Co., Ltd. in December 2008. He was previously a
director of the Department of Enterprise Reform of Sinopec Group
Company.

Lisa Yang Lai Sum, aged 43, was appointed an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company in November 1999 and was re-
designated as a Non-Executive Director of the Company in September
2004. She was re-designated from a Non-Executive Director to an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company in July 2007. She
graduated from the University of Sydney with a Bachelor’s Degree in
Law and Economics and is also qualified as a solicitor in Australia and
England. She is a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong and a consultant
of ONC Lawyers.

59



REPERERR QA

Tian An China Investments Company Limited

ESEHRS

Directors’ Report

ESRSREBAEBZEAES
(#)

BREEAR

REME BE=Thm AEEESRKRE
HEERMSRIEESHELE  RZEEN
FNRAMAREEH  REERBEEERE
ZERPEEBREFEHFE T2 REE
University of Strathclydez T i %& 18 1 £
i - HEABBBTRAFPREFSHEEBER -

E%% BEN+T R AREEMELERR
4ZIE TT%@EHE%MA$§@

EA_ff F+_AZE-ZZTRF+—A
RN £ B @ N 3 [ IR AR AR IR - BISEAE S
FREB8TBUNERBELTEMN - KAR
BB thFPERRELR -

REME - REMH NS AR HHRE
B OAZBE=F+-AMAREE - R%E
ERER U REEASLATEE  HBAL
RES+ B  GAEBB-TFIRER
RENERRER -

B BFENT LR AKEELMEARK
B-R-AN—Ft-AMAXEE - E5X
ERBIREREELTEM - RABEB TN
FHEFMEZRRMRELR -

ARE RFEON+TEE R-FTTWFE=A
Z%é{EEKQﬁJZ’AﬁJW% o KRB DR
WERAERABBHMERTRARRAES
8 o

EE2RBEN

BREERRAEFTFAS LBEEEFT o ESH
MEASEIUASE AR —FREHERE
B CEEBERIN) Ma] T LA IEZ REIE AR
BAEK -

60

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (conTINUED)

Senior Management
Foley Cheung Chun Pan, aged 39, is the Director of Fund and
Investment Division, and the General Manager of Sales and Marketing

He joined the Group in August 2008.
Mr. Cheung holds a Master's Degree in Global Management and

Department of the Group.

E-Commerce from The University of Hong Kong and a Master’s Degree
in Business Administration from University of Strathclyde, United
Kingdom. He has over fifteen years of experience in China Real Estate
business.

Dai Hong Liang, aged 41, is the General Manager of the Southern
China Region. He re-joined the Group in April 2009 and was
previously the Acting General Manager of the Fuzhou Region from
December 2003 to November 2005. Mr. Dai holds a Bachelor Degree
of Architecture and a Master’s Degree in Finance. He has over fifteen

years of experience in the field of investment in China.

Song Zhu Feng, aged 49, is the General Manager of the Contracts
Department of the Group. He joined the Group in December 2003.
Mr. Song graduated from The Civil Engineering Department of Tsing
Hua University in Beijing with a Bachelor’s Degree in Engineering. He
has over twenty years of experience in the fields of engineering and
property development.

Xia Qian, aged 47, is the General Manager of the Northern China
Mr. Xia holds an
Executive Master’s Degree in Business Administration. He has over

Region. He joined the Group in November 1991.

nineteen years of experience in property development and investment
in China.

Cindy Yung Yee Mei, aged 44, was appointed the Company Secretary
of the Company in March 2004. She is an associate of The Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has an unexpired service contract with the Group which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.



FHYTESZEH

FIBIEMITES (BRBUIFNTES (B
FNTESR])) ORSEMENEEESR £
HsEE—T-—TF+-_A=1—"R HE=F
ZBEESGREAX ERAA 2 BRI EM
HA @A PIFTRER -

EEZER

RZZBZNF+ZA=+—H BEBEEFK
HMEHEM TESRHEERD]) H35216R
EFFECELMAE  EFFRELER
BREERARRRD PIHA AT

R BEIREBR AR
Tian An China Investments Company Limited

EEZEHRS

Directors’ Report

TERMS OF OFFICE FOR THE NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

All the Non-Executive Directors (including the Independent Non-
Executive Directors (“INEDs")) were appointed for a specific term of
two years which shall continue until 31st December, 2010 but subject
to the relevant provisions of the Articles of Association or any other
applicable laws whereby the Directors shall vacate or retire from their
office.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

At 31st December, 2009, Messrs. Lee Seng Hui and Ma Sun, Directors,
had the following interests in the shares of the Company as recorded
in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (“SFO"):

1EEEB

ERTREZ

BHADE

Approximate % of
EENE BERGZHE the relevant issued EEME
Name of Directors Number of shares held share capital Nature of interests
ESF 573,589,096 38.06% HihREzs
Lee Seng Hui (Hiat1) Other interests

(Note 1)
= 62,550 0.004% (EPN Fe
Ma Sun Personal interests
(NERBEBAFHEAR)
(held as beneficial owner)
Hiet - Notes:

1. FRELABATPELIRIKNEEETAS
#E1Z35TLee and Lee TrustZ BT A © REE R
Lee and Lee Trust& £iFEH A EEBR AR
(B %RE]) BEITRALS2.40%#m - W
WRIEEEBAEEEH 2D 2 -

2. LAFMBARGROEEE -

B EXPREEIN  R_BEENF+ A=+
—B ARFZBEERZSTHRABHE
RARRHEEHEEEE (BERES R
BIRPIEXVER) 2 EMEL - AR HE
R IR AR RN IRIBE S5 M E (R P 5£352
GREMFEZELM - HARE LW EHITA
EFETREFRINEETAERTHER
REIREBEABMARZMARAR (TBERM])
ZAEMREREIRE °

1. Mr. Lee Seng Hui together with Ms. Lee Su Hwei and Mr. Lee Seng
Huang are the trustees of Lee and Lee Trust, being a discretionary trust.
They together, through Lee and Lee Trust, owned approximately 52.40%
interest in the issued share capital of Allied Group Limited (“AGL") and
were therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in which AGL
was interested.

2. All interests stated above represent long positions.

Save as disclosed above, at 31st December, 2009, none of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company had any interests or
short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations, within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO, as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

During the year and up to the date of this report, the following
Directors (not being the INEDs) are considered to have interests in the
businesses which compete or are likely to compete with the businesses
of the Group pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) as set
out below:

1. Mr. Patrick Lee Seng Wei is a director of SHK which, through
certain of its subsidiaries, is partly engaged in the businesses of
money lending and property investment;

2. Messrs. Patrick Lee Seng Wei and Li Chi Kong (a former Director of
the Company who resigned on 31st October, 2009) are directors
of APL which, through certain of its subsidiaries, is partly engaged
in the businesses of money lending, property development and
investment;

3. Messrs. Lee Seng Hui and Edwin Lo King Yau are directors of
AGL which, through certain of its subsidiaries, is partly engaged
in the businesses of money lending, property development and
investment. Both Messrs. Edwin Lo King Yau and Li Chi Kong (a
former Director of the Company who resigned on 31st October,
2009) are directors of AG Capital Limited, a subsidiary of AGL,
which is partly engaged in the business of money lending; and

4.  Mr. Lee Seng Hui is one of the trustees of Lee and Lee Trust
which is a deemed substantial shareholder of each of AGL, APL
and SHK which, through their subsidiaries, are partly engaged
in the businesses of money lending, property development and
investment.

Although the above mentioned Directors have competing interest in
other companies by virtue of their respective common directorship,
they will fulfil their fiduciary duties in order to ensure that they will act
in the best interest of the Shareholders and the Company as a whole
at all times. Hence, the Group is capable of carrying on its businesses
independently of, and at arm’s length from, the businesses of such
companies.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which the Directors or former Directors
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors or former
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in,
or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate with the
exception of granting of share options to subscribe for shares in the
Company under its share option scheme.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS®" AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS

At 31st December, 2009, the following Shareholders had interests in

F336IEMTEMTFEZERMAETE - the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
Tﬁ’&ﬁzﬁﬂ B BRI RS 2 BXERAN T ¢+ register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO:
BEERORERKRD ZEE
Number of shares and underlying shares held
BAER EEER
(LBREBA (ZE£E 1EEE8
B05H) ZfEm) ERITREAZ
Personal Corporate BAEST
Interests Interests Approximate
(held as (interest of HibgER ERBE % of the
e gL beneficial controlled Other Total relevant issued
Name of Shareholders owner) corporation) Interests Interests share capital
EEAR AR ([FBE]) 573,589,096 = = 573,589,096 38.06%
Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited (“SHK")
BAE (F8) GRAF ([BauE]) i 573,589,096 — 573,589,096 38.06%
Allied Properties (H.K.) Limited (*APL") (KiEE1) (H1z22)
(Note 1) (Note 2)
BHEesEARRAR ((HMEEE]) = 573,589,096 — 573,589,096 38.06%
Allied Group Limited ("AGL") (H15£3) (K1522)
(Note 3) (Note 2)
Lee and Lee Trust — 573,589,096 = 573,589,096 38.06%
(K15t4) (B1Et2)
(Note 4) (Note 2)
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PERSONS’ INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

BREM

Name of Shareholders

BEROREERD A
Number of shares and underlying shares held
BAER TEER
(UEREBA (Z#E£E
BHEE) 2R
Personal Corporate
Interests Interests
(held as (interest of HibgEs ERBE
beneficial controlled Other Total
owner) corporation) Interests Interests

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS" AND OTHER

HE#
SRITREZ
BMABFDE
Approximate
% of the
relevant issued
share capital

Penta Investment Advisers Limited (“Penta”)

John Zwaanstra

Penta Asia Fund, Ltd. (“Penta Asia”)

Todd Zwaanstra

Mercurius GP LLC (“Mercurius”)

Penta Asia Long/Short Fund, Ltd.

mEEEARLAR ([H8&])
The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.
("Goldman Sachs"”)

UBS AG

ORIX Corporation

— — 422,406,676 422,406,676
(LMEEEBRA (B75)
FHOEAR) (Note 5)

(held as

investment

manager)

— 422,406,676 — 422,406,676
(Kiit6) (Mzz7)
(Note 6) (Note 7)

— 134,037,440 — 134,037,440
(B1:E8) (B1i#9)
(Note 8) (Note 9)

= 134,037,440 = 134,037,440
(B15£8) (B779)
(Note 8) (Note 9)

= = - 134,037,440
(K1E10)
(Note 10)

88,723,953 = = 88,723,953
(HizE11)
(Note 11)

= 189,103,620 = 189,103,620
(Kiat12)
(Note 12)

4,344,000 - 151,190,258 155,534,258
(Hzt13)
(Note 13)

103,852,000 = — 103,852,000

28.03%

28.03%

8.90%

8.90%

8.90%

5.89%

12.47%

10.32%

6.89%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS (conTINUED)

Notes:

1. Through AP Jade Limited and AP Emerald Limited, direct and indirect
wholly-owned subsidiaries of APL respectively, APL owned approximately
62.31% interest in the issued share capital of SHK and was therefore
deemed to have an interest in the shares in which SHK was interested.

2. The figure refers to the same interest of SHK in 573,589,096 shares.

3. AGL owned approximately 74.36% interest in the issued share capital of
APL and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in which
APL was interested.

4. Mr. Lee Seng Hui, a Director, together with Ms. Lee Su Hwei and Mr. Lee
Seng Huang are the trustees of Lee and Lee Trust, being a discretionary
trust. They together owned approximately 52.40% interest in the issued
share capital of AGL and were therefore deemed to have an interest in
the shares in which AGL was interested.

5. These include (i) an interest in 417,075,476 shares; (ii) an interest in
unlisted cash settled derivatives of the Company equivalent to 4,560,000
underlying shares of the Company; and (iii) 771,200 units of warrants
giving rise to an interest in 771,200 underlying shares of the Company,
of which the subscription rights had expired on 31st December, 2009.

6. The figure refers to the same interest in (i) 417,075,476 shares; (ii)
unlisted cash settled derivatives of the Company equivalent to 4,560,000
underlying shares of the Company; and (iii) 771,200 units of warrants
giving rise to an interest in 771,200 underlying shares of the Company
held by Penta, of which the subscription rights had expired on 31st
December, 2009.

7. Mr. John Zwaanstra was deemed to have interests in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company through his 100% interest in Penta.
Mr. John Zwaanstra was also deemed to have interests in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company in which Penta Asia and Mercurius
were interested through his control of more than one-third of the voting
power of Penta Asia and Mercurius.

8.  These duplicated parts of the interests of Penta and Mr. John Zwaanstra
and include (i) an interest in 130,747,440 shares; (ii) an interest in
unlisted cash settled derivatives of the Company equivalent to 2,788,000
underlying shares of the Company; and (iii) 502,000 units of warrants
giving rise to an interest in 502,000 underlying shares of the Company,
of which the subscription rights had expired on 31st December, 2009.
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13.
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%L HPenta Asiaz — B2 EHE A A
Penta Master Fund, Ltd. ([Penta Master])
FT # B o M #MTodd Zwaanstra’t & 1E &
Mercurius Partners Trust ([ Mercurius Trust] -
RIADEET) 25 AMmiESIPenta Asia
=97 —2&%ER - MTodd Zwaanstraft 4
AR EHE B Penta MasterFT#H A 2 A2 A1 I H
KRR 2 e as o

Mercurius/&Mercurius TrustZ iKIZ A -+ Bt -
AR VEHE B Todd Zwaanstrase 4 K& Mercurius
TrustfTis A 2 AN A R D MARRERE (5 2 fE ek -

It APentai® 1B H = #| 2 & 2 R P (Penta
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F2(ii)10,697,595 RIREF M E £ 2 N2 7F)
10,697,595/ BN ()~ - HRBEEE
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A% B 17 5 (iR & 731,200,0008% B% 15 2 1%
M 3 ()M & $736,400,0008% B 5B 2
AARFLTURSBHEEZTETE &
(iv)17,352,85717 SR AR #£ 38 T & & 2 &N A Al
17,352,857 ABRE IR 10 2 & B &5 - H RS
BERZTTNF+_A=+—HE® °

BRIER PR H 155,534,258 % () &
B FEA] E 45,200,000/% AN 2 &) FE BA AR (9 g2
ZARDBEMUBYMBEZTETR  HRE
BERZTZNF+_A=+—HE®

bimEREEBFR - R_ETAFT A
=1+—RB  REBHFLHEGIEI6ERTE
FFEZECMAE » WEKR 4L

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

The interests were held by Penta Master Fund, Ltd. (“Penta Master”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Penta Asia. Mr. Todd Zwaanstra was deemed
to have interests in the shares and underlying shares of the Company in
which Penta Master was interested pursuant to his control of more than
one-third of the voting power of Penta Asia as trustee of the Mercurius
Partners Trust (“Mercurius Trust”), being a discretionary trust.

Mercurius was the founder of the Mercurius Trust and was therefore
deemed to have interests in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company in which Mr. Todd Zwaanstra and Mercurius Trust were
interested.

These duplicated parts of the interests of Penta held through its controlled
management account, Penta Asia Long/Short Fund, Ltd. and include (i) an
interest in 78,026,358 shares; and (i) 10,697,595 units of warrants giving
rise to an interest in 10,697,595 underlying shares of the Company, of
which the subscription rights had expired on 31st December, 2009.

Goldman Sachs (through various of its affiliates including Sky
(Delaware) LLC, Sky (Cayman) Ltd. and Elevatech Limited) was deemed
to be economically interested in (i) 104,150,763 shares; (ii) security
interests equivalent to 31,200,000 shares; (iii) unlisted cash settled
derivatives of the Company equivalent to 36,400,000 shares; and
(iv) 17,352,857 units of warrants giving rise to an interest in 17,352,857
underlying shares of the Company, of which the subscription rights had
expired on 31st December, 2009.

The interest includes the holding of 155,534,258 shares of which included
the physically settled listed derivatives of the Company giving rise to an
interest in 5,200,000 underlying shares of the Company, of which the
subscription rights had expired on 31st December, 2009.

All interests stated above represent long positions. As at 31st December,
2009, no short positions were recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 336 of the SFO.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 1st February,
2008 and the 2008 Annual Report of the Company, the Company
entered into a renewed sharing of administrative services and
management services agreement (“Renewed Services Agreement”) with
AGL on 31st January, 2008, pursuant to which the Company agreed to
renew and extend the terms of the sharing of administrative services
and management services agreement dated 15th December, 2005 for
a period of three years commencing from 1st January, 2008 to 31st
December, 2010 (both days inclusive) and to reimburse AGL the actual
costs incurred in respect of the administrative services, which included
the secretarial services, provision of registered office address, office
space, utilities, courier and delivery, telephone (including international
telephone), internet, photocopying and other ancillary office services
provided by AGL to the Group (“Administrative Services”) and
management services, which included the management, consultancy,
strategic and business advice provided by the senior management and
the selective staff of AGL to the Group (“Management Services”).

Since AGL is a substantial shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules)
of the Company through its interests in its subsidiaries, APL and SHK,
AGL is a connected person of the Company. Accordingly, the entering
into of the Renewed Services Agreement and the transaction regarding
the sharing of the Management Services contemplated thereunder
constituted a continuing connected transaction for the Company under
Rule 14A.14 of the Listing Rules, which are subject to the reporting
and announcement requirements but are exempt from the independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules. The
transaction regarding the sharing of the Administrative Services
between the Company and AGL contemplated under the Renewed
Services Agreement are exempt from the reporting, announcement
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Rules
14A.31(8) and 14A.33(2) of the Listing Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION
(CONTINUED)

Pursuant to Rule 14A.37 of the Listing Rules, the INEDs have reviewed
the transactions regarding the sharing of the Management Services
and have confirmed that the transactions were:

(i) entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Company;

(i) conducted on normal commercial terms; and

(iii) entered into in accordance with the terms of the Renewed
Services Agreement governing the transactions regarding the
sharing of the Management Services and on terms that were
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a
whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged the
auditor of the Company to perform certain agreed upon procedures in
respect of the above continuing connected transaction and the auditor
has reported its factual findings from these procedures to the Board,
confirming the matters set out in Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.34 of the Listing Rules, details of the Renewed
Services Agreement and the aggregate amount of the Management
Services for the year ended 31st December, 2009 of HK$12,880,000
are required to be included in this report of the Company in accordance
with Rule 14A.45 of the Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 10th
December, 2007, Tian An China Hotel and Property Investments
Company Limited ("TACHP"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, as vendor entered into a sale and purchase agreement
("Asia Coast Agreement”) with Lead Step Holdings Limited (”Lead
Step”) as purchaser, the Company as vendor’s guarantor and Mr.
Fong Ting (“Mr. Fong”, now known as “Mr. Fong Kai Shing”)
as purchaser’s guarantor on 3rd December, 2007, pursuant to
which: (i) TACHP agreed to sell and Lead Step agreed to purchase
2,121,212 shares (“Sale Shares”) and 11,878,788 shares (“Option
Shares”) of US$1.00 each, representing approximately 15.15%
and 84.85% of the issued share capital of Asia Coast Investments
Limited (“Asia Coast”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, at the considerations of HK$100,000,000
and HK$560,000,000 (“Option Price”) (subject to adjustment)
respectively (“Disposal”); and (ii) Lead Step was granted, inter
alia, the option to require TACHP to sell to Lead Step the Option
Shares at the Option Price within the extended call option period,
which expired on 3rd December, 2008 (“Extended Call Option
Period”).

Since Mr. Fong is a beneficial owner of the entire share capital
of Lead Step and a director of CBI Investment Limited and
Zhao Qing Golf and Development Co., Ltd., both being the
indirect non wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, Mr.
Fong is a connected person of the Company. Accordingly,
the Disposal under the Asia Coast Agreement constituted a
connected transaction for the Company and was subject to the
reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under the Listing Rules. Since the consideration
ratio (as defined in the Listing Rules) for the Disposal was more
than 5% but less than 25%, it also constituted a discloseable
transaction for the Company under the Listing Rules. The ordinary
resolution approving the Asia Coast Agreement was passed by
the independent shareholders of the Company by poll at the
extraordinary general meeting held on 30th January, 2008.

Subsequently, as disclosed in another announcement of the
Company dated 4th December, 2008, TACHP and Lead Step
were in the process of negotiation for the entering into of a
supplemental agreement to extend the Extended Call Option
Period and the completion date for the sale and purchase of the
Option Shares following the expiry on 3rd December, 2008 and
5th December, 2008 respectively.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 16th
July, 2008, the Company as vendor, entered into a conditional
contract (“Guangzhou Tian An Agreement”) with XZZBEEE
BFRAF] (Tian An Hung Kai Group Company Limited) (“TAHK")
as purchaser, Mr. Fong as purchaser’s guarantor and Bz
BRtAEREBR AR (Guo Wei International Trading and
Investment Company Limited) (“Guo Wei”) on 8th July, 2008,
pursuant to which the Company agreed to sell and TAHK agreed
to purchase the entire equity interest in X% (E/MN) R EERAF
(Tian An (Guang Zhou) Investments Co., Ltd.) (“Guangzhou
Tian An”) and hence the entire interest of the Company in the
project of developing a piece of land, which is located at Hong
Ji Main Road, Songgang Town, Nanhai District, Foshan City with
an area of approximately 529,698.2 square metres and a total
gross floor area of approximately 180,100 square metres for
development, into a residential development known as X% /%
EJEE (Tian An Hung Kai Garden) as approved by F/& M4
Z 82 (Nanhai City Committee of Property Name) (“Project”).
The entire interest of the Company in the Project includes
an interest in 30% of the profits generated by the Project
and the unsettled amount of RMB79,564,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$90,414,000). The aggregate consideration for
the sale and purchase of Guangzhou Tian An (“Guangzhou Tian
An Disposal”) was RMB150,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$170,455,000) (subject to adjustments). The date of completion
of the Guangzhou Tian An Disposal should not be later than 31st
December, 2008 (“Completion Date”).

Since Mr. Fong is the sole beneficial owner of TAHK and holds
90% equity interest in Guo Wei, and is also a director and
substantial shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of Asia
Coast, in which the Company is the owner of approximately
84.85% of its entire issued share capital, Mr. Fong is a connected
person of the Company. Accordingly, the Guangzhou Tian An
Disposal under the Guangzhou Tian An Agreement constituted
a connected transaction for the Company and was subject to
the reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules. Since the revenue
ratio (as defined in the Listing Rules) for the Guangzhou Tian An
Disposal was more than 5% but less than 25%, it also constituted
a discloseable transaction for the Company under the Listing
Rules. The ordinary resolution approving the Guangzhou Tian An
Agreement was passed by the independent shareholders of the
Company by poll at the extraordinary general meeting held on
5th September, 2008.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

Subsequently, as disclosed in another announcement of the
2008, the Company, TAHK,
Mr. Fong and Guo Wei (collectively “Parties”) were in the process

Company dated 31st December,

of negotiation for the entering into of a supplemental agreement
to extend the payment by TAHK of the balance of the aggregate
consideration in the sum of RMB135,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$153,410,000) (“Balance”) to the Company and
hence the Completion Date.

On 17th July, 2009, the Parties entered into a supplemental
agreement, pursuant to which the Parties agreed to (i) extend
the Completion Date from 31st December, 2008 to 30th October,
2009; and (ii) amend the payment schedule of the Balance payable
by TAHK to the Company. Details of the aforesaid arrangements
were further disclosed in an announcement of the Company dated
17th July, 2009. The Company has received all the Balance and
the Guangzhou Tian An Disposal has been completed.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group's five
largest customers and the aggregate purchases attributable to the
Group'’s five largest suppliers were approximately 8% and 87% of the
Group’s sales and purchases respectively.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders, which
to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the
Company's issued share capital, had a beneficial interest in any of the
Group's five largest suppliers and customers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s securities during the year ended
31st December, 2009.

DONATIONS

The Group made charitable donations of HK$312,500 during the
year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance practices. Information on the corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 34 to 51.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this report,
the Company has maintained sufficient public float as required under
the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the AGM to re-appoint Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

LuSonstin

Lee Seng Hui
Chairman

Hong Kong, 19th March, 2010
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Independent Auditor’s Report

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tian
An China Investments Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred as the “Group”) set out on pages 75
to 195, which comprise the consolidated and Company’s statement
of financial position as at 31st December, 2009, and the consolidated
income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and
the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes
designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to
the preparation and the true and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 141 of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance
with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITY (conTINUED)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In
making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation
of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as
at 31st December, 2009 and of the Group's profit and cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Dot o T oty

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 19th March, 2010
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Consolidated Income Statement (For the year ended 31st December, 2009)

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gains

Marketing and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

Other operating expenses

Net increase (decrease) in fair value of
held-for-trading investments

Change in fair value of derivative
financial instrument

Fair value gain on transfer of inventories
of completed properties to
investment properties

Increase (decrease) in fair value of
investment properties

Write-down of inventories of
completed properties

Reversal of allowance for bad
and doubtful debts

Amortisation of properties for development

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

Gain on disposal of interest in a property
development project

Discount on acquisition of subsidiaries

Discount on acquisition of additional
interests in subsidiaries

Finance costs

Share of (loss) profit of associates

Share of profit of jointly controlled entities

Profit before tax

Taxation

Profit for the year

2009 2008

B 5 F&ET AT
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
6 1,083,528 473,329
(594,064) (303,658)

489,464 169,671

7 118,260 130,922
(17,930) (14,052)
(174,572) (156,521)
(73.,874) (180,876)
9,218 (19,928)

9,066 794,420

8,710 61,547
19 575,765 (187,283)
(16,809) (8,370)

2,264 3,020
(58,957) (45,645)

8 57,024 =
34(b) 77.727 -
9 156,451 =
10 - 24,273
11 (84,837) (94,458)
(8,025) 22,587

298,885 189,943

1,367,830 689,250

12 (284,837) 57
13 1,082,993 689,307
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B aE
NOTES

REERFEMLT Profit for the year attributable to:

RARIRE Owners of the Company

DR R A Minority interests
SIREA Earnings per share 17

AR Basic

E Diluted

76

2009 2008
FHExT FHIT
HK$’000 HK$'000
1,067,379 711,087
15,614 (21,780)
1,082,993 689,307
AL oAl

HK cents HK cents
70.84 46.98
70.84 46.98
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (for the year ended 31st December, 2009)

2009 2008
FEx THETT
HK$°000 HK$°000
REE 5T Profit for the year 1,082,993 689,307
Hup 2 mks Other comprehensive income
RESINETRTE A 2 Exchange differences arising on translation
EHER of foreign operations 549 429,942
e NI S e ik 2k N Share of other comprehensive income of
ZHEm 2 mkes associates and jointly controlled entities 68 12,906
AHEREAREBE Increase (decrease) in fair value of
Z#9n CRd) available-for-sale investments 12,102 (25,328)
U BE B B A B ZESMEZS Surplus on revaluation on acquisition of
TEERR additional interests in subsidiaries - (36,264)
NHEEMERTEIR 2 HFiE Reserves released upon disposal of properties 531 770
REE B ATEER Y Exchange reserve realised on disposal of
bE H e a subsidiary 1,500 -
REEzHip2mEMKzE Other comprehensive income for the year 14,750 382,026
REE BB LR Total comprehensive income for the year 1,097,743 1,071,333
2HE S E=ERE(ET Total comprehensive income attributable to:
RATREE Owners of the Company 1,082,250 1,086,911
DE PR RS Minority interests 15,493 (15,578)
1,097,743 1,071,333
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Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Deposits for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment

Investment properties

Properties for development

Deposits for acquisition of properties
for development

Prepaid lease payments on land use rights

Interests in associates

Interests in jointly controlled entities

Available-for-sale investments

Goodwill

Deferred tax assets

Current assets
Inventories of properties
— under development
— completed
Other inventories
Amounts due from jointly controlled entities
Amounts due from minority shareholders
Loans receivable
Trade and other receivables, deposits
and prepayments
Prepaid lease payments on land use rights
Held-for-trading investments
Prepaid tax
Pledged bank deposits
Bank balances and cash

Assets classified as held for sale

B &
NOTES

18

19
20

21
23
24
25
26
43

27

28
29
30
31

32
21

33

50

34

2009 2008
FEx TAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
478,712 153,979
14,684 =
6,004,810 4,352,200
3,201,835 3,388,544
1,356,867 1,327,907
90,928 53,980
241,193 254,945
741,289 721,499
94,704 17,583
640 640
18,384 7,303
12,244,046 10,278,580
1,050,950 628,224
727,909 477,097
20,667 996
229,479 172,392

- 24,320

353,311 165,650
456,418 199,490
1,793 896
31,879 22,513
12,101 26,577
543,518 600,672
2,507,579 1,892,715
5,935,604 4,211,542
805,383 445,901
6,740,987 4,657,443
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Current liabilities

Trade and other payables

Pre-sale deposits

Tax liabilities

Dividends payable to minority shareholders
Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-free borrowings

PTAEMETI A Derivative financial instrument

DEEFEEELZ Liabilities associated with assets classified
HEaE as held for sale

REBEEFE Net current assets

HWEERRBESE Total assets less current liabilities

& 7R R et 4 Capital and reserves

[N Share capital

(i Reserves

AATRRELZ Equity attributable to owners
xR of the Company

DEBRER Minority interests

A Total equity

FRBEME Non-current liabilities

ERESNI=EN
REMER

Interest-bearing borrowings
Interest-free borrowings

—HBRPZBEERES KA Deferred rental income from a tenant
HPzHeEe Rental deposits from tenants
FEERIEEE Deferred tax liabilities

THEREISEEF195B 2 AT BEHRERERN
—E-EFE-ATNBKEZSREBRERE
TR WHMINEEHERREE

Patrick Lee Seng Wei
FRE
Director

EF

Ff e
NOTES

35

38
39
40

34

36
37

38
39
41

43

am
Director

5=

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (at31st December, 2009)

2009 2008
TR TAT
HK$000 HK$'000
1,872,490 901,422
211,448 78,748
490,516 428,929
193 453
1,176,588 297,618
29,211 166,770

- 9,066
3,780,446 1,883,006
181,784 178,701
3,962,230 2,061,707
2,778,757 2,595,736
15,022,803 12,874,316
301,354 301,350
10,582,962 9,545,737
10,884,316 9,847,087
501,201 291,234
11,385,517 10,138,321
2,148,502 1,446,378
475 =
98,074 106,247
17,962 10,444
1,372,273 1,172,926
3,637,286 2,735,995
15,022,803 12,874,316

Edwin Lo King Yau

The consolidated financial statements on pages 75 to 195 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 19th
March, 2010 and are signed on its behalf by:
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Patrick Lee Seng Wei

ZRRE
Director

EF
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ik
NOTES

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 18
Interests in subsidiaries 22
Interests in jointly controlled entities 24
Current assets
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Amounts due from jointly controlled entities
Bank balances and cash
Current liabilities
Other payables
Tax liabilities
Interest-free borrowings 39
Derivative financial instrument 40
Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities
Capital and reserves
Share capital 36
Reserves 37
Non-current liability
Deferred tax liabilities 43

B2t
Director

5=

2009 2008
FEx TAT
HK$'000 HK$'000
6,374 4,682
2,802,765 3,458,416
10,339 10,339
2,819,478 3,473,437
7,946 9,591
7,554,347 7,107,414
1,553 1,587
2,400 1,911
7,566,246 7,120,503
8,499 26,630
30,787 19,176
36,929 60,209

- 9,066

76,215 115,081
7,490,031 7,005,422
10,309,509 10,478,859
301,354 301,350
10,008,155 10,175,952
10,309,509 10,477,302
- 1,557
10,309,509 10,478,859

Edwin Lo King Yau
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ADRBRES

Attributable to owners of the Company

i &4 EX

RAEE  &ABR  EORE YRR L |
e Share Special Capital  Exchange  EffGfF  HtRE  ZHEA KREs  ERAE
Share  premium capital redemption translation Revaluation Other  Retained @ Minority Total
capital account reserve reserve reserve  reserves  reserves  earnings Total interests equity

T#n T T T T T T T#n TR TR Tin
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HK$'000 HK$'000

RZFE\5-A-A At 1st January, 2008 302225  32659% 1,417,669 130,691 479,516 39,678 (26,391) 3263175 8,872,559 390,549 9,263,108
HEREEY Exchange differences arising

EnzR on ranslation - - - O ERY - - - mm 6200 429,042
EEBENAREREHAT  Share of other comprehensive income of

ZEMEENE associates and jointly controlled entities - - - - 12,906 - - - 12,906 - 12,906
AfHEREANL BE Decrease in fair value of available-

Va:7) for-sale investments - - - - - (25,328) - = (25,328) = (25,328)
WENBARE MER Surplus on revaluation of net identifiable

FuEnEEL assets on acquisition of additional

AR interests in subsidiaries - - - - - - (36,264) = (36,264) = (36,264)
REENERHER Reserves released upon disposal

Ll of properties - - - - - - 770 = 770 = 770
KEREF Profit for the year - - - - - - 711,087 711,087 (21,780) 689,307
TEERE Total comprehensive income

henrt for the year = = = - 436,646 (25,328) (35,494) 711,087 1,086,911 (15,578) 1,071,333
EAMERMETZRG  lssue of shares on exercise of warrants 2 120 - - - - - - n - 1
DR EMmETZRA Issue of shares for scrip dividend 311 86,487 - - - - - - 89,598 - 89,598
B R Shares repurchased and cancelled (3,989) - - 3,988 - - - (50,997) (50,997) - (50,997)
BB LB Decrease in minoriy interests as

ERnSALH aresult of acquisition of additional

R interests in subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - (83,299) (83.299)
REAE Dividend recognised s distribution - - - - - - - (151,108)  (151,10) (438) (151,544
RZFZN\ETZA=+—H  At31st December, 2008 301350 3352603 1,417,669 134,679 916,162 14,350 (61,885 3,772,159 9,847,087 291,234 10,138,321
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At 1st January, 2009

Exchange differences arising
on translation
Share of other comprehensive income of
associates and jointly controlled entities
Increase in fair value of available-
for-sale investments
Reserves released upon disposal
of properties
Realised on disposal of
a subsidiary (note 8)
Profit for the year

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Issue of shares on exercise of warrants
Realised on disposal of
subsidiaries (note 8)
Decrease in minority interests as
a result of acquisition of
additional interests in
a subsidiary (Note)
Increase in minority interests as
a result of acquisition of
a subsidiary (note 9)

Realised on disposal of interest in a
property development project
Dividend recognised as distribution
Dividend distributed to
minority interests

At 315t December, 2009

SEEAFTZAST—BLER)
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (or the year ended 315t December, 2009

ERARRER
Attributable to owners of the Company
h e EX
RAEE  EABR  EERE  TEREE 8
& Share Special Capital  Exchange  EfififE  RtBE  RiEd KREE  ERAE
Share  premium capital redemption translation Revaluation Other Retained @it Minority Total
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve reserves reserves earnings Total interests equity
TR TR TER TER TER TER TER TER TEn TER TER
HKS000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
301,350 3,352,603 1,417,669 134,679 916,162 14,350 (61,885) 3,772,159 9,847,087 291,234 10,138,321
- - - - 670 - - - 670 (121) 549
- - - - 68 - - - 68 - 68
- - - - - 12,102 - - 12,102 - 12,102
- - - - - - 531 - 531 - 531
- - - - 1,500 - - - 1,500 - 1,500
- - - - - - - 10673719 1,067,379 15,614 1,082,993
- - - - 2238 12,102 531 1,067,379 1,082,250 15493 1,097,743
4 178 - - - - - - 182 - 182
- - - - (24,971) - - 24,91 - 15,215 15.215
- = o = = - - - - (4,988) (4,988)
- - - - - - - - - 198,077 198,077
- - - - (18,539) - - 18,539 - - -
- - - - - - - (45,203) (45,203) - (45,203)
- - - - - - - - - (13,830) (13,830)
301,354 3352781 1,417,669 134,679 874,890 26,452 (61,354) 4,837,845 10,884,316 501,201 11,385,517
Note:

During the year ended 31st December, 2009, the Group acquired an additional
15% interest in a subsidiary for a cash consideration of HK$17,250,000. The
subsidiary is established in the PRC and engaged in property development. The

premium of the acquisition is absorbed in the property for development and
property under development.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash FIows (for the year ended 315t December, 2009)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:
Other income and gains
— Dividend income
— Interest income on bank deposits,
receivables and loan receivables
— Interest income from jointly
controlled entities
— Imputed interest income on
non-current interest-free receivables
(Increase) decrease in fair value of
held-for-trading investments
Fair value gain on transfer of inventories
of completed properties to investment
properties
(Increase) decrease in fair value of
investment properties
Write-down of inventories of
completed properties
Reversal of allowance for
bad and doubtful debts
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries and
interest in a property development
project
Discount on acquisition of additional
interests in subsidiaries
Discount on acquisition of subsidiaries
Share of (loss) profit of associates
Share of profit of jointly controlled entities
Finance costs
Depreciation and amortisation
Change in fair value of derivative
financial instrument
Loss on disposal and write-off of
property, plant and equipment
Provision for impairment loss of
an associate

Operating cash inflows (outflows) before
movements in working capital

Increase in inventories of properties

Increase in properties for development
and deposits for acquisition of
properties for development

Purchase of properties under development
through purchase of additional interests
in subsidiaries

Decrease (increase) in other inventories

Increase in trade and other
receivables, deposits and prepayments

Increase in instalments receivable

Increase in trade and other payables

Increase (decrease) in pre-sale deposits

2009 2008
B 5 F&ET AT
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
1,367,830 689,250
(2,723) (364)
(58,242) (77,762)
(27,135) (99)
(1,204) (4,290)
(9,218) 19,928
(8,710) (61,547)
(575,765) 187,283
16,809 8,370
(2,264) (3,020)
(134,751) =
- (24,273)
(156,451) =
8,025 (22,587)
(298,885) (189,943)
84,837 94,458
81,415 59,742
(9,066) (794,420)
518 258
- 1,536
275,020 (117,480)
(388,765) (67,709)
(391,482) (441,238)
(17,250) -
11,831 (282)
(64,216) (22,373)
- (5,367)
305,279 36,035
132,811 (17,184)
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2009 2008
B aE FET FET
NOTES HK$'000 HK$’000
Decrease in deferred rental income from
a tenant (8,173) (1,327)
Increase (decrease) in rental deposits from
tenants 7,518 (7,632)
Cash used in operations (137,427) (644,557)
PRC income tax and
Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT") paid (93,124) (91,156)
PRC income tax refunded 2,652 742
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING
ACTIVITIES (227,899) (734,971)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received 116,021 58,289
Dividends received from:
— associates 6,938 5,357
— jointly controlled entities 172,159 243,546
— available-for-sale investments 2,597 364
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (116,271) (20,615)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant
and equipment 324 361
Purchase of investment properties (1,055,734) (60,672)
Proceeds on disposal of investment
properties 35,765 4,028
Acquisition of subsidiaries 9 (128,056) -
Capital (contribution to) distribution from
a jointly controlled entity (113,610) 148,489
Purchase of additional interests
in subsidiaries - (192,562)
Proceeds on disposal of subsidiaries 8 388,816 -
Proceed on disposal of interest in a property
development project 173,213 -
Proceeds on site demolition compensation,
net of transaction costs 34(e) 555,192 -
Purchase of held-for-trading investment (22) -
Purchase of available-for-sale investments (65,019) -
Advances to associates - (70)
(Advances to) repayment from jointly
controlled entities (28,677) 58,084
Repayment from (advances to)
minority shareholders 27,502 (816)
Loans repayment 165,067 39,398
Loans advanced (352,728) (125,000)
Decrease (increase) in pledged bank deposits 57,154 (510,760)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING
ACTIVITIES (159,369) (352,579)
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Tian An China Investments Company Limited

HREBRERBR @z—sonst-f=t-A15E)

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (For the year ended 315t December, 2009)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Interest paid
Dividend paid
Dividends paid to minority shareholders
Proceeds from issue of shares
New bank and other loans raised
Repayment of bank and other loans
Share repurchase
(Repayment to) advances from minority
shareholders
Advances from associates
(Repayment to) advances from
jointly controlled entities

NET CASH FROM (USED IN) FINANCING

ACTIVITIES

Hit
NOTES

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND

CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT 1ST JANUARY

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT 31ST DECEMBER

ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank balances and cash
Bank balances and cash included in
assets classified as held for sale

2009 2008
FHxT T
HK$'000 HK$'000
(116,777) (137,470)
(45,203) (61,509)
(21,021) (183)
182 92
2,173,769 581,893
(680,289) (606,839)
- (50,997)
(53,048) 4,066

- 5,194
(256,498) 18,843
1,001,115 (246,910)
613,847  (1,334,460)
1,896,531 3,073,336
548 157,655
2,510,926 1,896,531
2,507,579 1,892,715
3,347 3,816
2,510,926 1,896,531

85



AREPEREFR AT

Tian An China Investments Company Limited

BEMBHBRWE @s-sanei-n=i-aren

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (for the year ended 315t December, 2009)
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1. GENERAL

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in Hong Kong
and its securities are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of the registered office
which is also principal place of business of the Company is disclosed
in the “Corporate Information” section to the annual report.

The principal activities of the Group are property development and
investment, sale of cement, clinker and construction materials, golf
course operation, provision of hotel and property management and
investment holding. The functional currency of the Company is
Renminbi as the Group conducts most of its operations in the PRC. The
consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
which is different from the functional currency of the Company, as the
directors of the Company consider that Hong Kong dollars is the most
appropriate presentation currency in view of its place of listing.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW OR REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
revised standards and interpretations (“new HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
which are effective for the Group's financial year beginning on 1st
January, 2009.

HKAS 1 (Revised 2007)
Presentation of Financial Statements

HKAS 23 (Revised 2007)
Borrowing Costs

HKAS 32 & 1 (Amendments)
Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on
Liquidation

HKFRS 1 & HKAS 27 (Amendments)
Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or
Associate
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (for the year ended 315t December, 2009)
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW OR REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)
Vesting Conditions and Cancellations
HKFRS 7 (Amendment)
Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments
HKFRS 8
Operating Segments
HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 & HKAS 39 (Amendments)
Embedded Derivatives

HK(IFRIC)-Int 13
Customer Loyalty Programmes
HK(IFRIC)-Int 15
Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate
HK(IFRIC)-Int 16
Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation
HK(IFRIC)-Int 18
Transfers of Assets from Customers
HKFRSs (Amendments)
Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2008 except for
the amendment to HKFRS 5 that is effective for annual period
beginning on or after 1st July, 2009

HKFRSs (Amendments)
Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2009 in relation to
the amendment to paragraph 80 to HKAS 39

The adoption of the new or revised HKFRSs has had no material effect
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the current
or prior accounting years except for the impact as described below.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW OR REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

Adoption of new and revised HKFRSs

HKAS 1 (Revised 2007) has introduced terminology changes, including
revised titles for the consolidated financial statements, and has resulted
in a number of changes in presentation and disclosure.

HKFRS 8 is a disclosure standard that requires the identification of
operating segments to be performed on the same basis as financial
information that is reported internally for the purpose of allocating
resources between segments and assessing their performance. The
predecessor standard, HKAS 14 “Segment Reporting”, required the
identification of two sets of segments (business and geographical)
using a risks and returns approach. In the past, the Group’s primary
reporting format was business segments by operations. The application
of HKFRS 8 has not resulted in a redesignation of the Group’s
reportable segments as compared with the primary reportable segments
determined in accordance with HKAS 14 (see note 6).

The amendments to HKFRS 7 expand the disclosures required in
relation to fair value measurements in respect of financial instruments
which are measured at fair value. The amendments also expand
and amend the disclosures required in relation to liquidity risk. The
Group has not provided comparative information for the expanded
disclosures in accordance with the transitional provision set out in the
amendments.

The adoption of the other new and revised HKFRSs has had no material
effect on the reported results and financial position of the Group for
the current or prior accounting periods. Accordingly, no prior period
adjustment has been recognised.

The Group has not early applied the following new or revised
standards, amendments or interpretations that have been issued but
are not yet effective.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW OR REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

Adoption of new and revised HKFRSs (continued)

HKFRSs (Amendments)
Amendment to HKFRS 5 as part improvements to HKFRSs
issued in 2008

HKFRSs (Amendments)
Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 20092
HKAS 24 (Revised)
Related Party Disclosures®
HKAS 27 (Revised)
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements’
HKAS 32 (Amendment)
Classification of Rights Issues*
HKAS 39 (Amendment)
Eligible Hedged Items'
HKFRS 1 (Amendment)
Additional Exemptions for First-time Adopters?
HKFRS 1 (Amendment)
Limited Exemption from Comparative HKFRS 7 Disclosures for
First-time Adopters®
HKRFS 2 (Amendment)
Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions®
HKFRS 3 (Revised)
Business Combinations’
HKFRS 9
Financial instruments’
HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 (Amendment)
Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement®

HK(IFRIC)-Int 17
Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners'
HK(IFRIC)-Int 19
Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments®

I Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2009.

d Amendments that are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1st July, 2009 and 1st January, 2010, as appropriate.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2010.
. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st February, 2010.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2010.

c Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2011.

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2013.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW OR REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

The adoption of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect the accounting for
business combination for which the acquisition date is on or after the
beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after
1st July, 2009. HKAS 27 (Revised) will affect the accounting treatment
for changes in a parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control, which will be accounted for as equity
transactions.

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” introduces new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets and will be effective
from 1 January 2013, with earlier application permitted. The standard
requires all recognised financial assets that are within the scope of
HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” to
be measured at either amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt
investments that (i) are held within a business model whose objective
is to collect the contractual cash flows; and (ii) have contractual cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding are generally measured at amortised cost. All other debt
investments and equity investments are measured at fair value. The
application of HKFRS 9 might affect the classification and measurement
of the Group’s financial assets.

In addition, as part of Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2009, HKAS
17 "Leases” has been amended in relation to the classification of
leasehold land. The amendments will be effective from 1st January,
2010, with earlier application permitted. Before the amendments to
HKAS 17, leases were required to classify leasehold land as operating
leases and presented as prepaid lease payments in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The amendments have removed such
a requirement. Instead, the amendments require the classification
of leasehold land to be based on the general principles set out in
HKAS 17, that are based on the extent to which risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of a leased asset lie with the lessor or the
lessee. The application of the amendments to HKAS 17 might affect
the classification and measurement of the Group’s leasehold land.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the potential
impact of the other new and revised standards, amendments or
interpretations. The Group is not yet in a position to determine the
impact of these new and revised standards or interpretations on the
results of operations and financial position of the Group. These new
and revised standards or interpretations may result in changes in the
future as to how the results and financial position of the Group are
prepared and presented.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain properties and financial
instruments, which are measured at fair values, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
(its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company has the
power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so
as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated income statement from the effective
date of acquisition and up to the effective date of disposal, as
appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with others
used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are
eliminated on consolidation.

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are
presented separately within the Group’s equity. Minority interests in
the net assets consist of the amount of those interests at the date of
the original business combination and the minority’s share of changes
in equity since the date of the combination. Losses applicable to the
minority in excess of the minority’s interest in the subsidiary’s equity
are allocated against the interests of the Group except to the extent
that the minority has a binding obligation and is able to make an
additional investment to cover the losses.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Business combinations

The acquisition of business is accounted for using the purchase method.
The cost of the acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair
values, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or
assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to the
business combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under
HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” are recognised at their fair values
at the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and initially
measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business
combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised.
If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the net fair value of
the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
exceeds the cost of the business combination, the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is initially
measured at the minority’s proportion of the net fair value of the
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses and is presented separately in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising from an
acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the acquisition. A cash-generating unit to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, and whenever
there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a financial year, the cash-generating unit
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that financial year. When the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the
impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then to the other assets of
the unit pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in
the consolidated income statement. An impairment loss for goodwill
is not reversed in subsequent periods.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Goodwill (continued)

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill capitalised but not yet impaired is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

Acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary

When the Group increases its interest in an entity that is already
controlled by the Group, goodwill arising on such acquisition represents
the difference between the cost of additional interest acquired and
the increase in the Group's share of the fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired. The difference
between the consideration paid and the aggregate of goodwill and the
fair value of the assets attributable to the additional interest acquired
is recognised as a reserve movement. This difference represents the
portion of the revaluation difference that arose since the original
acquisition date that is attributable to the Group's increased interest
in the subsidiary.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are included in the Company’s statement of
financial position at cost less any identified impairment loss.

Interests in associates

An associate is an entity over which the investor has significant
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor a jointly controlled entity.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated
in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method of
accounting. Under the equity method, investments in associates are
carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost as
adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets
of the associate, less any identified impairment loss. When the Group’s
share of losses of an associate equals or exceeds its interest in that
associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. An additional share
of losses is provided for and a liability is recognised only to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of that associate.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Interests in associates (continued)

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
of the associate recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised
as goodwill. The goodwill is included within the carrying amount of
the investment and is not tested for impairment separately. Instead,
the entire carrying amount of the investment is tested for impairment
as a single asset. Any impairment loss recognized is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment in the associate. Any reversal of impairment loss is
recognised to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits
and losses are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the
relevant associate.

Joint ventures
Jointly controlled entities

Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of a separate
entity in which venturers have joint control over the economic activity
of the entity are referred to as jointly controlled entities.

The results and assets and liabilities of jointly controlled entities
are incorporated in the consolidated financial statements using the
equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, investments
in jointly controlled entities are carried in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition changes
in the Group’s share of the profit or loss and of changes in equity
of the jointly controlled entities, less any identified impairment loss.
When the Group’s share of losses of a jointly controlled entity equals
or exceeds its interest in that jointly controlled entity (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s
net investment in the jointly controlled entity), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. An additional share of losses
is provided for and a liability is recognised only to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of that jointly controlled entity.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Joint ventures (continued)
Jointly controlled entities (continued)

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
of the jointly controlled entity recognised at the date of acquisition is
recognised as goodwill. The goodwill is included within the carrying
amount of the investment and is not tested for impairment separately.
Instead, the entire carrying amount of the investment is tested for
impairment as a single asset. Any impairment loss recognised is not
allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment in the associate. Any reversal
of impairment loss is recognised to the extent that the recoverable
amount of the investment subsequently increases.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where a group entity transacts with a jointly controlled entity of the
Group, profits or losses are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the jointly controlled entity.

Investment in a jointly controlled entity of the Company is stated at
cost less any identified impairment loss. Results of the jointly controlled
entity are dealt with in the financial statements to the extent of
dividends received and receivable.

Other joint venture arrangements

Investments made by means of joint venture structures which do not
result in the Group having joint control with the other venturers are
accounted for as subsidiaries (where the Group has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of an enterprise), associates
(where the Group is in a position to exercise significant influence)
or other investments (where the Group exercises neither control nor
significant influence).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the statement
of financial position when a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and financial
liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the
fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s and the Company’s financial assets are classified into one
of the four categories, including financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments and
available-for-sale financial assets. All regular way purchases or sales
of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees on points
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
held-for-trading investments and derivatives that are not designated
and effective hedging instruments. Subsequent to initial recognition,
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at
fair value, with changes in fair value arising from remeasurement
recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including
trade and other receivables, instalments receivable, loans receivable,
amounts due from associates, amounts due from jointly controlled
entities and amounts due from minority shareholders) are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any identified
impairment losses.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated as available for sales or are not classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables or
held-to-maturity investments. Available-for-sale financial assets are
measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period. Changes
in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in revaluation reserve, until the financial asset is disposed
of or is determined to be impaired, at which time, the cumulative gain
or loss previously recognised in revaluation reserve is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss.

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted
market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be
reliably measured, and derivatives that are linked to and must be
settled by delivery of such unquoted equity instruments, they are
measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at the end of
each reporting period subsequent to initial recognition.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit and loss,
are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of the reporting
period. Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence
that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of
the financial assets have been affected.

For an available-for sale equity investment, a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of that investment below its cost is considered
to be objective evidence of impairment.

For the other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could
include:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

e default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

e it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or
financial re-organisation.

Financial assets that are individually significant are assessed for
indicators of impairment individually. For certain types of financial
assets, such as trade receivables and assets that are assessed not to
be impaired individually are subsequently assessed for indicators of
impairment on a collective basis.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment loss is
recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the
asset is impaired, and is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss
is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted
at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such
impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment
loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of trade
receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use
of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When a trade
receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account. Subsequent recovery of amounts previously written
off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent
period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
losses was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is
reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount
of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognised.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments will not be
reversed in profit or loss in subsequent periods. Any increase in fair
value subsequent to impairment loss is recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in revaluation reserve. For
available-for-sale debt investments, impairment losses are subsequently
reversed if an increase in the fair value of the investment can be
objectively related to an event occurring after the recognition of the
impairment loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in
the assets of the group after deducting all of its liabilities. The Group’s
financial liabilities are generally classified into financial liabilities at fair
value through profit and loss and other financial liabilities.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life
of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the
net carrying value on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.
Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities that include interest-bearing and interest-free
borrowings, trade and other payables, dividend payable to minority
shareholders and membership debentures are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Equity Instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised
and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s
own equity instruments.

Derivative financial Instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative
contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss immediately.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts are treated as
separate derivatives when their risks and characteristics are not closely
related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit
or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument.
A financial guarantee contract issued by the Group and the Company
and not designated as at fair value through profit or loss is recognised
initially at its fair value less transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the issue of the financial guarantee contract. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the Group and the Company measure the financial
guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i) the amount determined in
accordance with HKAS 37 "Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets”; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with
HKAS 18 “Revenue”.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the assets expire, or the financial assets are transferred and the
Group or the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial assets. On derecognition of a
financial asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised directly in other
comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in
the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and
the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

101



AREPEREFR AT

Tian An China Investments Company Limited

GEMBHRRMET az-—ssrst-A=+-ALFR)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (for the year ended 315t December, 2009)

3. EEESEHE &)
MEFE

HEHEZERIMEFERFEHEEZERT
MEFEHYURNERAEEFE 2 REE
AR KABRLIHMKAN ERER - H
fEERARNRERNC 2 BERA - IR F
ENREEEERBRITTHREMELZ
fl &t e &“*‘ﬁﬁ“% (LNEXHERBIESE
B) %% UARBEEREREME

Eﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬁiﬁé;ﬁqﬁélﬂz MNREBEZEZHERRE

FREREYPEAXNENR R EERERMNS
BEZREBERIE KARSBEE LT
RAEzREMEZEELHESBES YRR
BB MENEMERKA - BELHE
ARz EBEFEBIRER 2BEE LM - &
ZHETERESMERBEME ZMER
HEERATIAENMERFERYE ZKX
o

FERVEHRHEDABRZRAEHE B
RRBEA -

nn

102

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Inventories of properties

Inventory of completed properties held for sale and inventories of
properties under development for sale are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost comprises the cost of land, development
expenditure, other attributable costs and borrowing costs capitalised.
Net realisable value is determined by reference to management
estimates based on prevailing market conditions. Inventories of
properties are transferred to investment properties at fair value when
there is a change in use, evidenced by commencement of an operating
lease. The difference between the carrying amount and the fair value

at the date of transfer is recognised directly in profit or loss.
Properties for development

Properties for development is stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any identified impairment loss. Cost comprises
the consideration for acquisition of land use rights and other costs
directly attributable to bringing the leasehold land to the condition
necessary for it to be capable of development of the properties. The
consideration for acquisition of land use rights represent leasehold land
held for future development. The costs that are directly attributable
to bringing the leasehold land to the condition necessary for it to be
capable of development of the properties are capitalised as costs for
properties for development.

Amortisation of properties for development are recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment other than construction in progress over their
estimated useful lives and after taking into account of their estimated
residual value, using the straight-line method, at the following rates
per annum:

Buildings on medium-term lease Over the unexpired lease term
Golf course on medium-term Over the unexpired lease term
lease

4% - 8%

20% - 30%

Plant and machinery
Others

Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment
in the course of construction for production or for its own use
purposes. Construction in progress is carried at cost less any recognised
impairment loss. Construction in progress is classified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready
for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as
other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included
in the profit or loss in the period in which the item is derecognised.

Owner-occupied property is transferred to investment property at fair
value when it is evidenced by end of owner-occupation. The difference
between the carrying amount and its fair value at the date of transfer
is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
revaluation reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the asset,
the relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to retained
profits.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investment properties

Investment properties are properties which are held to earn rentals or
for capital appreciation or both.

On initial recognition, investment properties are measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured using the fair value
model. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the period in
which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use or no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the asset, calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, is included in the consolidated income statement in the year in
which the item is derecognised.

Impairment losses (other than goodwill)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful lives
to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If the recoverable amount of an asset is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised as an expense immediately.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the
leasee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Benefits received
and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are
recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a
straight-line basis.

Leasehold land and buildings

The land and building elements of a lease of land and building are
considered separately for the purpose of lease classification, unless
the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land and
building elements, in which case, the entire lease is generally treated as
a finance lease and accounted for as property, plant and equipment. To
the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made reliably,
leasehold interests in land are accounted for as operating leases and
amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Other inventories

Other inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost comprises direct materials and, where applicable, direct
labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing
the inventories to their present location and condition. Cost is computed
on a weighted average method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price less all estimated cost of completion and costs
to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated
income statement because it excludes items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes
income statement items that are never taxable or deductible. Liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability
method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, and interests
in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected
to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply
in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period. The measurement of
deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that
would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end
of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its
assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is recognised to profit or loss, except
when it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)
Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods sold and
services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts.

Income from properties developed for sale is recognised when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the properties are
transferred to buyers, which is when the construction of relevant
properties has been completed and the properties have been delivered
to the purchasers and collectibility of related receivables is reasonably
assured. Profit or loss arising from the outright sale of an entire
development property prior to completion is recognised when a binding
sales contract becomes unconditional and the risks and rewards of the
ownership have been transferred to the buyer.

Deposits received from sales of properties prior to meeting the
above criteria for revenue recognition are carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position under current liabilities.

Sales of other goods are recognised when goods are delivered and
title has passed.

Income from golf course operation and hotel and property management
is recognised when services are provided.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to
that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the Group’s
rights to receive payment have been established.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional
currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair
value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and
on the translation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise, except for exchange difference arising
on a monetary item that forms part of the Company’s net investment
in a foreign operation, in which case, such exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity and will be reclassified from equity to profit or loss on
disposal of foreign operation. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included
in profit or loss for the period except for differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and
losses are recognised directly in other comprehensive income, in which
cases, the exchange differences are also recognised directly in other
comprehensive income.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s entities are translated into
the Group presentation currency (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the rate
of exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting period, and their
income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates
for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of transaction are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity

(the exchange translation reserve).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)
Foreign currencies (continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on or after 1st January,
2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation
and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in the
exchange translation reserve.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisitions of foreign
operations prior to 1st January, 2005 are treated as non-monetary
foreign currency items of the acquirer and reported using the historical
exchange rate prevailing at the date of the acquisition.

Retirement benefit costs
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
state-managed retirement benefit schemes and the Mandatory

Provident Fund Scheme are charged as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for
sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through
sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition
is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the
asset (disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present
condition.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale
are measured at the lower of the assets’ (disposal groups’) previous
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or
in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s
accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the directors have made in the process
of applying the entity’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in financial statements.

Allowance for bad and doubtful debts

The policy for allowance for bad and doubtful debts of the Group and
the Company is based on the evaluation of collectability and aging
analysis of accounts and on management’s judgment. A considerable
amount of judgment is required in assessing the ultimate realisation
of these receivables, including the current creditworthiness and the
past collection history of each customer and borrower. If the financial
positions of customers and borrowers of the Group were to deteriorate,
resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional
allowances may be required.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (conTINUED)

Valuation of inventories of properties

Inventories of properties are stated at the lower of the cost and net
realisable value. The estimated net realisable value is estimated selling
price less estimated selling expenses and estimated cost of completion
(if any), which are estimated based on best available information.

Estimate of fair value of investment properties

At the end of the reporting period, investment properties are stated
at fair value based on the valuation performed by independent
professional valuers. In determining the fair value, the valuers have
based on a method of valuation which involves certain estimates. In
relying on the valuation report, the management has exercised their
judgment and is satisfied that the assumption used in valuation have
reflected the current market conditions.

Taxation

At 31st December, 2009, a deferred tax asset of HK$4,200,000 in
relation to unused tax losses has been recognised as set out in note
43. No deferred tax asset has been recognised on the remaining tax
losses of HK$333,618,000 and other deductible temporary differences
of HK$542,550,000 as it is not probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the tax losses and deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. The realisability of the deferred tax
asset mainly depends on whether sufficient future profits or taxable
temporary differences will be available in the future. In cases where
the actual future profits generated are less than expected, a material
reversal of deferred tax assets may arise, which would be recognised
in the income statement for the period in which such a reversal takes
place.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (conTINUED)

Land appreciation tax

PRC land appreciation tax is levied at progressive rates ranging from
30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of
sales of properties less deductible expenditures including sales charges,
borrowing costs and all property development expenditures.

The Group is subject to land appreciation taxes in PRC. The details
of implementation have been announced by local tax bureaux in
certain major cities, however, the Group has not finalised its LAT
calculation and payments with local tax bureaux in those cities in
PRC. Accordingly, significant judgments are required in determining
the amount of land appreciation and its related taxes. The Group
recognises these liabilities based on management’s best estimates
according to the understanding of the tax rules. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax provisions
in the period in which such determination is made.

Ownership of properties

At 31st December, 2009, certain land use rights certificates of a golf
course and properties for development of totaling HK$1,378,666,000
(2008: HK$1,400,564,000) in the PRC have expired. In order to
renew the land use rights certificates, permit of Land Usage for
Construction must be granted by the local land bureau. The Group
has submitted the necessary documents to the local land bureau
and the renewal has not been granted yet. The final outcome of
the renewal application depends on the local land policies. If the
renewal was rejected, amendment to the development plan may be
required. The management has exercised their judgment, taking into
consideration legal opinion obtained, and is satisfied that the Group
still have the beneficial ownership of the golf course and properties
for development.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

5a. Categories of financial instruments

REHE AKAFE
THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2009 2008 2009 2008
FET F&TT FET F& T
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEE Financial assets
AHHERE Available-for-sale investments 94,704 17,583 - =
BIEEERE Held-for-trading investments 31,879 22,513 - =
BN EIER R Loan and receivables (including bank
(BPIESRITHGF R E «  balances and cash, and pledged
BEBIRITER bank deposits) 4,111,913 3,075,642 7,566,246 7,120,503
THEE Financial liabilities
BB HEKAFTEZ Financial liabilities measured at
EHEE amortised cost 5,227,459 2,812,641 45,428 86,839
PTEFBTA Derivative financial instrument - 9,066 - 9,066
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5b. Financial risk management objective and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include available-for-sale
investments, held-for-trading investments, amounts due from
associates, amounts due from jointly controlled entities, amounts
due from minority shareholders, loans receivable, trade and other
receivables, pledged bank deposits, bank balances, trade and other
payables, borrowings, membership debentures, a derivative financial
instrument and amounts due to minority shareholders. Details of
these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments and the policies on how
to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are

implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

5b. Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Market risk

The Group's activities expose primarily to the financial risks of changes
in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates and change
in other prices of equity and derivative financial instruments (see
below).

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to market risks or
the manner in which it manages and measures the risk.

(i) Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk through the
impact of rate changes on fixed-rate borrowings. The Group’s cash
flow interest rate risk relates primarily to variable-rate borrowings.
The Group will continue to maintain a reasonable mix of floating
rate and fixed rate borrowings and take actions to hedge against any
foreseeable interest rate exposure, if necessary. The interest rates and
terms of repayment of bank and other borrowings of the Group are
disclosed in note 38.

Interest rate sensitivity

At the end of the respective reporting periods, if interest rates
increased/decreased by 200 basis points and all other variables
were held constant, the Group’s profit would decrease/increase by

approximately HK$7,814,000 and HK$8,823,000 for the years ended
31st December, 2009 and 31st December, 2008 respectively.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the inherent interest rate risk as the year end exposure does not
reflect the exposure during the year.
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BIT Hong Kong Dollars
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

5b. Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)
(ii)  Foreign currency risk management

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The
Group’s operations are mainly in the PRC other than Hong Kong and
certain bank loans of the Group are denominated in foreign currencies
(see notes 38 and 39). The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the management monitors the
related foreign exchange exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amount of monetary assets and monetary liabilities that
are denominated in a currency other than Renminbi (“RMB”) at the
end of the respective reporting periods are as follow:

rEE EAH

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2009 2008 2009 2008
TERT TAT TR TAT
HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
322,508 672,939 350,754 314,278
1,054,164 1,752,707 9,540,217 10,763,965
3,420 1,202 317,576 228,150
1,123,981 362,666 5,477,092 4,379,617
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

5b. Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)
(ii)  Foreign currency risk management (continued)
Foreign currency sensitivity

The Group mainly exposes to the currency of United States (“United
States Dollars”) and the currency of Hong Kong (“Hong Kong
Dollars”).

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 5% increase
and decrease in the RMB against the relevant foreign currencies.
The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the year
end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes interest-bearing and interest-free borrowings as well as bank
balances and cash. A positive number indicates an increase in profit
for the year where the RMB strengthens against the relevant currency.
If there is 5% increase in RMB against the relevant foreign currencies,
the increase (decrease) in the profit for the year is shown as below:

rEE RAF
THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2009 2008 2009 2008
TERT THAT TERT THAT

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

=TT United States Dollars
R i Fe Decrease in profit for the year (15,954) (33,587) (1,659) (4,306)
BT Hong Kong Dollars
NG 2 A Increase (decrease) in profit for
12 Od) the year 3,491 (69,502)  (203,156)  (319,217)

BEERS  BRESNMTERKRAEINE
Rk - AAFRERY TRBREEANER -

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure does
not reflect the exposure during the year.
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miE Rk (&)
Giii) B ER%EE

SR BB R A A 2 A B 4B
EER- EEBERERBERY  LREE
BEREEETH -

THBBREDMRBRERARKEER 2R

W EE K 1K10% :

- HRABREEZBROAARBEZS -
AtASESEHRFEHEEE MR D
9,470,000 L (ZZTT)\F : & H
41,758,000 7T ) ©

- HRABFEEEREAABELZE At
AN 55 B F s ) A 38 a0 Rk 403,188,000
BL(ZEZET)N\F: 08
2,251,000/ 7T) °

PTAER T A BIRERED T

THBREDTBEREPRITETIFE T A

EBRZERERE -

WHTEME T EEBRES /1K10% :

— HBERPTARBIAZARBEES -
HAEEHEEZE —_TEEN\F+_A=1+—

B I E 2 #7052 18 11907,000
BT °
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

5b. Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)
(iii)  Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity security price risk arising from equity
investments. The management will monitor the price movements and
take appropriate actions when it is required.

Equity price sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the
exposure to equity price risks at the end of the reporting period.

If equity prices were 10% higher/lower:

—  revaluation reserves would increase/decrease by HK$9,470,000
(2008: increase/decrease by HK$1,758,000) for the Group as a
result of the changes in fair value of available-for-sale shares.

- net profit would increase/decrease by HK$3,188,000 (2008:
increase/decrease by HK$2,251,000) for the Group as a result of
the changes in fair value of held-for-trading investments.

Derivative financial instrument price sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the
exposure to derivative financial instrument price risks at the end of
the reporting period.

If derivative financial instrument price was 10% higher/lower:

—  the Group's net profit for the year ended 31st December 2008

would decrease/increase by HK$907,000 as a result of the
changes in fair value of derivative financial instrument.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

5b. Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Credit risk

As at 31st December, 2009, the Company’s and the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Company
and the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties or financial guarantees provided by the Company and
the Group is represented by the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position and the amount of contingent liabilities disclosed
in note 47. In order to minimise the credit risk, the monitoring
procedures are carried out to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual trade receivables, other receivables and
loans receivable at the end of each reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.
With respect to financial guarantees provided to banks to secure the
banking facilities granted to subsidiaries by the Company, the directors
consider the credit risk is limited because the subsidiaries have strong
financial positions. The management considers the credit risk exposure
to financial guarantee provided to banks to secure the banking facilities
granted to property purchasers is also limited because the facilities
are secured by the properties and the market price of the properties
is higher than the guaranteed amounts. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are
banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

The Company and the Group have no significant concentration of

credit risk, with exposure spread over a number of counterparties and
customers.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

5b. Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’'s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures
compliance with loan covenants.

Liquidity tables

The following tables detail the Company’s and the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The
tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The tables include both interest and principal
cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curve at the end of
the reporting period.



5. @M T A #®)
S5b. EEMREEBEREE (&)

FBALER (=)
HEBELE (&)
550 THE GROUP
“EENE 2009
FEHKEE Non-derivative financial liabilities
25 REMERER Trade and other payables
P RRRE Dividend payable to minority shareholders
ft2dest Interest-bearing borrowings

- &8 ~ fived rate
Y Interest-bearing borrowings

— %8 - variable rate
%243t Interest-free borrowings
BB ERAR Financial quarantee contracts
“EINE 2008
FiTEHBER Non-derivative financial liabilities
ZARAMENER Trade and other payables
RO SRERE Dividend payable to minority shareholders
LR Interest-bearing borrowings

-8 - fixed rate
hr 8t Interest-bearing borrowings

—F8 - variable rate
%8 Interest-free borrowings
HBERAH Financial guarantee contracts
RAF THE COMPANY
“EEpE 2009
FiAnBaRE Non-derivative financial liabilities
Hf R Other payables
SEHEH Interest-free borrowings
SBERER Financial quarantee contracts
“EENE 2008
FAnBaRE Non-derivative financial liabilities
HAIEIRR Other payables
ke Interest-free horrowings
ABERER Financial quarantee contracts
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

5b. Financial risk management objective and policies

(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Liquidity tables (continued)

i

REZH t=A

e =t-AZ

mETEHE MR ABRRE e
Weighted ~ Repayable REEE  Canying
average ondemand  123ER 3EAZIE Total amount
interest or less than 13 3months 1255 5EME  undiscounted at 31st
rate 1 month months  tofyear  1-5years  S5+years cashflows  December
ARl TEr TAT AL AL AL TR T
% HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

- 1,872,490 = = = = 1,872,490 1,872,490

- 193 - - - - 193 193
5.24% 175,400 206,019 701,404 1,137,682 147,727 2,368,232 2,202,948
2.85% - - 156,977 863,424 169,659 1,190,060 1122142
- 29,211 = = 475 = 29,686 29,686

= 153,863 = = = = 153,863 =
2,231,157 206,019 858,381 2,001,581 317,386 5,614,524 5,227,459

- 871,172 2,91 5,851 14,878 - 901,422 901,422

- 453 = = = = 453 453
6.37% = 31,618 229,694 1,186,334 - 1,447,646 1,335,089
6.03% 9,366 11,031 108,124 299,505 39,945 467971 408,907
- 166,770 - - - - 166,770 166,770

- 238 644 - - - - 238,644 -
1,293,005 45,570 343,669 1,500,717 39945 3222906 2,812,641

- 8,499 - - - - 8,499 8,499

- 36,929 - - - - 36,929 36,929

= 1,608,392 = = - - 1608392 =
1,653,820 - - - - 16380 4548

- 26,630 - - - - 26,630 26,630

- 60,209 - - - - 60,209 60,209

- 1,095,940 - - - - 1,095,940 -
1,182,779 - - - S8 86839
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EXEREE
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AEBzERNGEBEEEY  EBRBERHE
38R M FE3IWBE 2 AR - NI ER2BEE2E
RESFRARBBRREGEED  SREKRA
R REHEF] -

ARRESZTTEREHNEAERE - FRILERN
2R ARRABEFEREAKAREAZLE
BIEAHRBEZRAR AEEBBRBEEZTZE
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B ARFIEEHXBRIRE BB FEE
ERENGERE
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

5b. Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The amounts included above financial guarantee contracts are the
maximum amounts to the Group or the Company could be required
to settle under the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if
that amount is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based
on expectation at the end of the reporting period, the Group or the
Company considers that it is more likely than not that no amount will
be payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate is subject
to change depending on the probability of the counterparty claiming
under the guarantee which is a function of the likelihood that the
financial receivables held by the counterparty which are guaranteed
suffer credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for
non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change, if changes
in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which includes
the borrowings disclosed in notes 38 and 39, membership debentures
disclosed in note 42 and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising share capital, reserves and retained earnings.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure periodically.
As a part of this review, the directors of the Company considers the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based
on recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues
and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption
of existing debt, if necessary.

The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

5b. Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined
as follows:

(a) the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities with
standard terms and conditions and traded on active liquid markets
are determined with reference to quoted market bid prices;

(b) the fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from
observable current market transactions; and

(c) The fair value of derivative financial instrument is determined
based on the quoted price of warrants available from the relevant
stock exchange.

Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that
are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped
into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is
observable:

(@) Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted
prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities;

(b) Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs
other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices)
or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

(c) Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation

techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability that are
not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

5b. Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position (continued)

2009
E-8 =R B=R @t
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
THET TR THET FHER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
tHEE Financial assets
FIEEERE Held-for-trading investments
—REBUMNEMZ - Equity securities listed outside
BRAES Hong Kong 24,098 = = 24,098
— L EBES — Unlisted debt securities — 5,378 = 5,378
24,098 5,378 - 29,476
A HERE Available-for-sale investments
—REBUINETZ - Equity securities listed outside
A E 5 Hong Kong 26,825 - - 26,825
-k LmkAER — Unlisted equity fund - 60,942 = 60,942
T Total 26,825 60,942 - 87,767

RAFER  ERAE—RRE-R 2N
B -

RO BRF R LTEBESFRIELD
BAEEME EAABEAEBHREL
BiRM - ELTRARESGURBESHRZA
REENE -REMBBE2HZ - AKEATHE
tH— B D R0l TR 2 & M A& = 58 &
BERBRELEBRIESEM NI EMRAE
X ARBEHBER I IRELEREM

124

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 in current year.

For unlisted debt securities and unlisted equity fund classified as level
2, the fair values are provided by the relevant investment manager.
The unlisted equity fund is measured at fair value at the end of the
reporting period. Based on the relevant agreements, the Group can
require the relevant investment manager to redeem the units by
giving a written redemption notice not less than 90 business days and
the fair value of the unlisted equity fund is provided by the relevant
investment manager.



REHEREARAT

Tian An China Investments Company Limited

GEMBHRRMT Gz-—senst—A=t-aLF8)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (for the year ended 315t December, 2009)

5. BT H (&)

5b. M ERERE B FEREEK (&)

EMIAZRAAEEE)

BRENEBEaZAFEAKGZHER &Y
9,218,000 T RN MEPRZFHIEEER

BIEREMEE W 212,102,000 7T 75 #
RBERRFEZAIHEERENERE [E
a2 (RKE37) »

6. DEHEH

AEEER-_ZFZENF A BHERAETE
P ImELERIESN [KEENE] - HEM KW
SRAESRE —RHABRBENEL - LR
BRAETRLERRE (AARRZESES)
D BIEERD R MFHEE R EHERHN
ZARBRBPIZABREEREERLED
B2 B - ML - FIER| (FE SR ERF 14
Sty EBERE ) ERAFF AR & @ HE
TR MR 5 AR (KR RIME) - B
AEENERNRELABBEED L - BRE
BEGENFIARFAEEZELAEZRD
ARLLE - A BBV B MEEAFESRLES
BHAKEEZROBEEER - RABFEYH
HEEREBIR IR G D #a N BB 2
B -

REZEEVHHRELEAESR  ~AEEZ X
BREEZHRD BB D EARNBREE LSS
EHF1AR2N 2 EBE DR~ - LERD
ERFHERAREN MBS TERLER
RECZEMETROBEIENER : WEE
- WEKRE - HEKE AR REEDH
REMEE (BEMEEERSB RIS E
&) o

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

5b. Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

Of the total gains or losses for the year included in profit or loss,
HK$9,218,000 related to held-for-trading investments at the end of
the reporting period.

Included in other comprehensive income is an amount of
HK$12,102,000 related to available-for-sale investments held at the
end of the reporting period and is reported as changes of “revaluation
reserves” (see note 37).

6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

The Group has adopted HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” with effect
from 1st January, 2009. HKFRS 8 is a disclosure standard that requires
operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports
about components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the
chief operating decision maker (i.e. the board of directors of the
Company) for the purpose of allocating resources to segments and
assessing their performance. In contrast, the predecessor standard
(HKAS 14 “Segment Reporting”) required an entity to identify two
sets of segments (business and geographical), using a risks and
returns approach. In the past, the Group’s primary reporting format
was business segments. The application of HKFRS 8 has not resulted
in a redesignation of the Group’s reportable segments as compared
with the primary reportable segments determined in accordance with
HKAS 14. Nor has the adoption of HKFRS 8 changed the basis of
measurement of segment profit or loss.

The identification of the Group’s operating and reportable segments
under HKFRS 8 is consistent with the prior years’ presentation of
business segments under HKAS 14. Information reported to the Group's
chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of performance is focused on four main operations:
property development, property investment, sale of cement, clinker and
construction materials and other operations, which including property
management and golf course operation.
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6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Revenue represents the aggregate of proceeds from the sale of
completed properties, rental income, sale of cement, clinker and
construction materials, income from golf course operation, hotel and
property management. The following is an analysis of the Group’s
revenue from its major products and services:

2009 2008

THET FABT

HK$’000 HK$'000

Sale of completed properties 627,576 223,773

Rental income 216,788 171,049
Sale of cement, clinker and

construction materials 149,894 7,036

Income from golf course operation 25,115 26,421

Income from hotel
and property management 64,155 45,050
1,083,528 473,329
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6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

segment is as follows:

Income statement
for the year ended 31st December, 2009

REVENUE
Segment revenue - external revenue

SEGMENT RESULTS

Segment profit

Other income and gains

Unallocated corporate expenses

Change in fair value of derivative
financial instrument

Finance costs

Share of profit (loss) of associates

Share of profit of jointly
controlled entities

Profit before tax
Taxation

Profit for the year

The Group's revenue and assets for the year was derived mainly from
activities carried out and located in the PRC other than Hong Kong.
An analysis of the Group’s revenue and segment results by reportable

HEAT

ARR

BENH

Sale of

cement,

NEBRE MERE  clinker and HipgE

Property Property  construction Other &5t
development investment materials operations  Consolidated
TAL TAL TAL TART TATL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
627,576 216,788 149,894 89,270 1,083,528
276,004 705,738 162,543 (63,175) 1,081,110
118,260
(46,629)
9,066
(84,837)
506 (9,073) - 542 (8,025)
233,165 63,443 - 2,277 298,885
1,367,830
(284,837)
1,082,993
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6. DEfER (#) 6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

HEKE
ABR
EEme
Sale of
cement,
NERR MERE  clinkerand HirgE
Property Property  construction Other &t
development investment materials operations  Consolidated
THr TiHr THT THr THr
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZEZNE+ZA=1—H Statement of financial position
ZEBRRE as at 31st December, 2009
gE ASSETS
NEEE Segment assets 6,823,683 6,083,267 350,796 14,035,799
NN B Interests in associates 9,705 231,432 56 241193
REREH AR 2 R Interests in jointly controlled entities 417,459 540,621 12,688 970,768
REENE L LEBE Unallocated corporate assets 3,737,273
AftBBE Consolidated total assets 18,985,033
&% LIABILITIES
AR Segment liabilities 1,527,504 187,220 203,635 1,923,605
RENBCEER Unallocated corporate liabilities 5,675,911
AfteaE Consolidated total liabilities 7,599,516
HZ-EZNE+-A=t—H  Otherinformation
tEEZHEMER for the year ended 31st December, 2009
BERD Ba B R Amounts included in the measure of
AHEENEZER segment profit or loss or segment assets:
ERBEE N Additions to non-current assets 505,656 1,060,746 68,576 1,752,558
EREH Depreciation and amortisation 62,810 3,693 7,390 81,415
HERFENE  BRE Loss (gain) on disposal and write off of
Mkt B8 (M) property, plant and equipment 477 3) 44 518
ERINEGFEEBRE Fair value gain on transfer of inventories
RENZEZRABE of completed properties to
Wiz investment properties = 8,710 = 8,710
BREMELAEEL Increase in fair value of investment
#m properties - 575,765 = 575,765
BERINEREL Write-down of inventories of
RERE completed properties 16,809 = = 16,309
R (BE) (Reversal of) allowance for bad and
£ doubtful debts (4,968) - 3,737 (2,264)
RIERERENABEY Increase in fair value of
il held-for-trading investments - - 9,218 9,218
WEENB AR ZiTE Discount on acquisition of subsidiaries - - - 156,451
HERE R A2 Yz Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 49,091 - 7,933 57,024
HE—BYEER Gain on disposal of interest in a property
T B s s development project 71,727 - = 71,727
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6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

BZ-2FN\E+=A=1—8 Income statement
for the year ended 31st December, 2008

ILEE2BHR

LN
DERRA — EHNA

DERE

D EE R

Hi WA R Mas
KD B EXER
ITEMBIARA
EEz2E
BERKAK

i ANl
FEfh K RE I A AR

KR BRI A
BR

ZEREE

REVENUE

Segment revenue - external revenue

SEGMENT RESULTS
Segment loss
Other income and gains

Unallocated corporate expenses
Change in fair value of derivative

financial instrument
Finance costs

Share of profit of associates
Share of profit of jointly controlled entities

Profit before tax
Taxation

Profit for the year

NEBR NERE HitgE
Property Property Other =
development  investment operations  Consolidated
TEL FEL FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
223,773 171,049 78,507 473,329
(58,637) (82,976) (49,828) (191,441)
130,922
(162,723)
794,420
(94,458)
570 21,560 457 22,587
64,088 124,181 1,674 189,943
689,250
57
689,307
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6. DEEL (#) 6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

NRER NREE HfteE

Property Property Other =X
development  investment operations  Consolidated
THT THT T THL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-ZBBNE+-A=t—H  Statement of financial position
L BER R K as at 31st December, 2008
gE ASSETS
DHEE Segment assets 6,097,174 4,440,336 351,771 10,889,281
REE DA 2R Interests in associates 7,688 247,257 = 254,945
i Bk NG A Interests in jointly controlled entities 465,353 403,512 25,026 893,891
RDBrOEBE Unallocated corporate assets 2,897,906
AHREE Consolidated total assets 14,936,023
&8f LIABILITIES
PHEE Segment liabilities 759,036 184,432 186,427 1,129,895
N A=A Unallocated corporate liabilities 3,667,807
AfRaE Consolidated total liabilities 4,797,702
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6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Other information
for the year ended 31st December, 2008

Amounts included in the measure of
segment profit or loss or segment assets:

Additions to non-current assets
Depreciation and amortisation
(Gain) loss on disposal and write off
of property, plant and equipment
Fair value gain on transfer of inventories
of completed properties to
investment properties
Decrease in fair value of
investment properties
Write-down of inventories of
completed properties
(Reversal of) allowance for bad
and doubtful debts
Decrease in fair value of
held-for-trading investments
Discount on acquisition of
additional interests in subsidiaries

Geographical information

NERZR NERE HipeE
Property Property Other At
development investment operations  Consolidated
TAT TR TR THT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
556,847 64,876 2,963 624,686
48,833 3,616 7,293 59,742
(33) 112 179 258
- 61,547 - 61,547
- 187,283 - 187,283
8,370 - - 8,370
(5,480) 2,460 - (3,020)
- - 19,928 19,928
24,273 = = 24,273

The Group's operations are located in the PRC. All of the Group’s revenue from external
customers based on the location at which the services were provided or the goods were
delivered and non-current assets are in the PRC.

Information about major customers

No revenue from transaction with single external customer is amounted to 10% or more of

the Group's revenue for the year.
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8. HEMEAR WS

ERE+-BSt—BLER)
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (for the year ended 315t December, 2009)

7. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Dividend income
— unlisted shares
— listed shares
Interest income on bank deposits
and receivables
Interest income from jointly
controlled entities
Interest income from loans receivable
Imputed interest income on
non-current interest-free receivables
Tax refund for reinvestment
of profits in the PRC
Other income

2009 2008
FER TAT
HK$°000 HK$'000
2,424 10
299 354
31,172 63,461
27,135 99
27,070 14,301
1,204 4,290

- 23,422
28,956 24,985
118,260 130,922

8. GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

REE-_ZZENF+-_A=+— During the year ended 31st December, 2009, the Group disposed of its entire
BIFFEER  AEBEBEE TR interests in and shareholder’s loan to certain subsidiaries which are established
REIR S 2B AR 2242 in the PRC. A subsidiary was disposed to a jointly controlled entity as disclosed in
LR ER - HE—[EKEAR  note 49(h). The subsidiaries are engaged in property development. Details of the
FT—HAERZES QAR INAKFE  disposal are as follows:

A9(h) I FE - ZEMBRRAREY
RRRER - WEZFBOT :
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8. HEMBARZK=
()

8. GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

EHEER  REEZHEAT

The net assets of the subsidiaries at the date of disposal were as follows:

R BEEERE

Rt A (Haz)

HEEEZRERAFE

Exchange translation reserve transferred to retained
earnings (Note)

Net cash inflow arising on disposal:

BEFENAT :

FABT

HK$'000

FriiE&ESE : Net assets disposed of:

I - IR R E Property, plant and equipment 605
HEBRYE Property for development 144,768
N 1) /NG ol 23 Interest in an associate 446
R—EERZES AR 2w Interest in a jointly controlled entity 12,657
BERAPYE Property under development 83,752
HEZEH A BRK Amount due from a jointly controlled entity 205,756
HEib IR RN - & RIBEK Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 4,147
RITEFLEES Bank balances and cash 52,571
B 5 N EMEMNRR Trade and other payables (12,296)
LIPSER Interest-bearing borrowings (85,228)
& EER Interest-free borrowings (35,553)
FRIEF I & (F Deferred tax liabilities (3,977)
367,648

[EH ) FeEE RS Exchange translation reserve reclassified to profit or loss 1,500
D ER R R ES Minority interests 15,215
384,363

& e Gain on disposal 57,024
BREURS WK Total consideration, satisfied by cash 441,387

24,971

RERE Cash consideration 441,387
BEHEZRITEENES Bank balances and cash disposed of (52,571)
388,816

s - Az derifEame  Note: Since the functional currencies of the disposed subsidiaries and the Company are the
RRARI 2 EEMER - R
HER  FEZSCHLEN
B AR ZZFNE RT3 E
1 2 BE 3 = BAEEE 3% B 1
B RERER -

same, exchange differences accumulated in exchange translation reserve relating to
the disposed subsidiaries are reclassified from exchange translation reserve to retained
earnings at the time of disposal.
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9. WHEME AR ZITR

R-ZZEZAFRA-_+—8 AEBNUER
f8200,000,000/% 7T (B 582 22 A% 3R 15 30 1
EEBENRROERAR ([ EBRMD]) W
BLEEAKEEBAERAR ([ L5 7J<})EJ)£
%E%ﬁk$ FEBARFEMENEB A
z HaMEAR—FHIEZEHBAA - ZIK
73’3 MNEBENSLBBRHZES - LB
7J<5)E)SZHWJ§@aﬁzz%%i‘%ﬁmi}i&%ﬂ%ﬁr
EEREE - ARKEMEEZ WEITES
156,451,000 7T ° Wiigiz - EEEKRE A —
MK B AR T — B iFEmERE -
SIS 2 BRI FE34(e) IR E -

ERZPREBBOEEFEDT

9. DISCOUNT ON ACQUISITION OF
SUBSIDIARIES

On 21st May, 2009, the Group acquired from Shanghai Allied
Cement Limited (“SAC"), the entire issued share capital of Shanghai
Allied Cement Holdings Limited (“SACHL") including assignment of
shareholders’ loans for a total consideration of HK$200,000,000,
which held the entire registered capital of two subsidiaries and a
non-wholly owned subsidiary. A director of the Company is also a
director of SAC. The principal businesses of SACHL and its subsidiaries
are the manufacture and distribution of cement and clinker. The
amount of discount on acquisition arising as a result of the acquisition
was HK$156,451,000. Subsequent to the acquisition, one of the
subsidiaries of SACHL has entered into a site demolition compensation
agreement. Details of the site demolition compensation are disclosed
in note 34(e).

The net assets acquired in the transaction are as follows:

134

B ORI R
ARZEHEH
Acquiree’s
carrying
amount ARFEAE
before Fair value ARFE
combination  adjustments Fair value
THT FHT THL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B EEFE Net assets acquired:
MmE - iR ki Property, plant and equipment 461,571 (32,802) 428,769
TR TR Prepaid lease payments of land

MEHE use rights 16,637 88,949 105,586
ERINERE Inventories of completed properties 1,333 2,817 4,150
HiiF & Other inventories 50,728 79 50,807
B REMEYERT Trade and other receivables,

"Ee RBMAK deposits and prepayments 236,258 - 236,258
BEHE Prepaid tax 159 = 159
ROREERES Bank balances and cash 1,944 = 71,944
B 5 R EMERAR Trade and other payables (106 623) 24 (106,599)
RITHER Bank borrowings (171,795) - (171,795)
®REEX Interest-free borrowings (3,750) - (3,750)
BN EB A Amounts due to the Group (18,817) = (18, 817)
EEREEE Deferred taxation (27,423) (14,761) (42,184)

510,222 44,306 554,528

LERRE S Minority interests (198,077)
BB A Bl 2 s Discount on acquisition of subsidiaries (156,451)
200,000



AREPEKRERR QA

Tian An China Investments Company Limited

GEMBHRRMT Gz-—senst—A=t-aLF8)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (for the year ended 315t December, 2009)

9. WEEKB AR ZITE (&)

ARE -
Be

AUBELZRERHFE
Ret(E
ik RITEFRAE

W BB RRERLHERERNEER
ARWER Z AR EBET A EARSEEEMA
R B Y M E G — EREBRFEE
RARINE BETHE - WX BB REH
ZHEEBEERFTEEBEXAL - &AHEA
ERZERNIEZEERBEUEERKZ
MIZER U ABRIRZWEZENEE
HEE KA XEBREMIRE - THER
BENEERAZAABEIRZENERL
BOE  ZAHBE2BEW AR ZR S -

9. DISCOUNT ON ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

AOtETR KR
ARZEESH
Acquiree’s
carrying
amount ARFEAE
before Fair value ARFE
combination  adjustments Fair value
TR TAT TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Total consideration, satisfied by:
Cash 200,000
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:
Cash consideration paid (200,000)
Bank balances and cash acquired 71,944
(128,056)

The fair value of the property, plant and equipment and prepaid lease
payments on land use rights at the date of acquisition have been
arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out on that date by Norton
Appraisals Limited, a firm of independent and qualified professional
valuers not connected with the Group. The valuation of property, plant
and equipment was principally based on the depreciated replacement
cost approach by considering the costs to reproduce or replace in new
condition the assets appraised in accordance with the current market
prices for similar assets, with allowance for accrued depreciation and
also make reference to the market approach. The fair value of prepaid
lease payments on land use rights was principally based on direct
comparison approach by making reference to comparable transactions
as available in the locality.
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9. WEEMB AR ZITE &)

AEBEEEANTR FHEZRBES
B URZEPHZFREAFBELERE
MERMSMFBERY ARBEEEELR
HEEE—ARFHKEEWE LBHAE X
TR ERDEZHRER -

B KR N BB B A B BB B B SR &S HASR
AREBTRE,315,00058 Tm A

WKEER=_ZZN—A—B%=K ' A%
B A A B B UL A E &1,425,014,0007% 7T &
7N HA 1 54 I FE 4994,608,000/8 7T © il =
BEREH2Z  WIHFERTHEER=ZZZA
F—A—BEK  AEBERIEREZ K=
RIS ZAE - MMIERETERAIBRZESE -

10. W B 1 AR SME SR 2 HT R

REE-_ZZN\F+_A=+—HIFERN
(a) ANEE AR £ 1{E14,989,0007 T # iE
—Fﬁ M EB AR REINMOY%IEZ - %M B A
R  UHRREMEERE - LB
uﬁzﬁﬁzuﬁz%ﬁ;@%9,147,000;%7_5 o

(b) ZNEE AR € K{E80,300,000/% jT U &
—EH B A REEIN1.03% M ° %I B
PEIRPBMKY » Wt ESBAKGE
BRYEERE - WEKBZWEINESR
5,126,000/ 7T °
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9. DISCOUNT ON ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

The management of the Group expects that property development
in the PRC will continue to grow and the demand for construction
materials will remain strong based on the long term growth prospects
of the PRC economy. The management of the Group also believes that
it is a good opportunity to acquire the cement business from Shanghai
Allied Cement Limited.

SACHL and its subsidiaries contributed HK$1,315,000 to the Group'’s
profit for the period between the date of acquisition and the end of
the reporting period.

If the acquisition had been completed on 1st January, 2009, total
group revenue for the period would have been HK$1,425,014,000,
and profit for the period would have been HK$994,608,000. The pro
forma information is for illustration purposes only and is not necessarily
an indication of revenue and results of operations of the Group that
actually would have been achieved had the acquisition been completed
on Tst January, 2009, nor is it intended to be a projection of future
results.

10. DISCOUNT ON ACQUISITION OF
ADDITIONAL INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended 31st December, 2008,

(a) The Group acquired an additional 40% interest in a subsidiary for a
cash consideration of HK$14,989,000. The subsidiary is established
in the PRC and engaged in property development. This acquisition
results in a discount on acquisition of HK$19,147,000.

(b) The Group acquired an additional 11.03% interest in a subsidiary
for a cash consideration of HK$80,300,000. The subsidiary is
established in the PRC and engaged in golf course operation and
property development. This acquisition results in a discount on
acquisition of HK$5,126,000.
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11. FINANCE COSTS

Interest on:

Bank loans and overdrafts

Loan notes
Other loans

Imputed interest expenses on

non-current interest-free
borrowings

Less: amount capitalised on properties

under development

2009 2008
FTERT TAT
HK$'000 HK$'000
115,094 131,304
- 1,245

894 4,735
4,853 5,662
120,841 142,946
(36,004) (48,488)
84,837 94,458

Borrowing costs capitalised during the year arose on the general
borrowing pool and are calculated by applying a capitalisation rate of
4.41% (2008: 5.65%) to expenditure on qualifying assets.

137



ARRZPEREFR AT

Tian An China Investments Company Limited

GEMBRRMET az-—ssrst-A=+-ALFE)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (for the year ended 315t December, 2009)

12. %18

X (BE) 85

PRI RS R LR ER
— REEEE
—BEFETR

(EBRR) B

TEIEFIE (H7E43)

AEBRBBLLE 2 REINZMEE AL E
E RPN - R | BB S HAIEL
B ARAETRHBEKEZHNBRARZE
BEURERRESR -  FEEXRMAEHRZEN B
NEVERR R ELER -

BIEPEARLMBECEMERE ([DERT
BEE]D) REEMBRIECERIEN - 8=
TZENF-—A—BRRFPREZHBAR 2
R E25% o

LR MBI R R B A @At
[2008)15% - BE=_ZEZENFE—H—HMNK -
KBRS 2B ARESE R DI T IE
EREEEZHREBAHMNTPBETCEMBHRIL
RIEA B FEMERIEF IR 27TIEER INE 1%
BERERIEGEREEHEMANEIEREAR
SN ECERIINRCERPEERETEN -
Rk & F 2 5 fE Fi 816,548,000 7T K&
6,549,000 TE DRI ABE_SZNF T
A=t BLFERBEE_TTENF+=
A=+—HIEFEZHFAEW=ZERA -

138

12. TAXATION

2009 2008
THER THBT
HK$’000 HK$'000
The charge (credit) comprises:
PRC Enterprise Income Tax and LAT
— current year provision 159,621 56,555
— under (over) provision
in prior years 7,177 (5,260)
166,798 51,295
Deferred tax (note 43) 118,039 (51,352)
284,837 (57)

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is made as the group companies
operating in Hong Kong do not have any assessable profit for both
years. Certain of the Company’s subsidiaries operating in the PRC are
eligible for tax exemptions and concessions. The PRC Enterprise Income
Tax is calculated at the rates applicable to respective subsidiaries.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law")
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC
subsidiaries is 25% from 1st January, 2008 onwards.

According to a joint circular of the Ministry of Finance and State
Administration of Taxation — Cai Shui 2008 No. 1, dividend distributed
out of the profits generated by its subsidiaries incorporated in the
PRC to “non-residential” investors since 1st January, 2008 shall be
subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax and which held by the PRC
entity pursuant to Articles 3 and 27 of the Income Tax Law Concerning
Foreign Investment Enterprises and Foreign Enterprises and Article
91 of the Detailed Rules for the Implementation of the Income Tax
Law for Enterprises with Foreign Investment Enterprises and Foreign
Enterprises. Deferred tax of HK$16,548,000 and HK$6,549,000 on
the undistributed earnings has been charged to the consolidated
income statement for the year ended 31st December, 2009 and 31st
December, 2008 respectively.



GEVBHERME @

AREPEKRERR QA

Tian An China Investments Company Limited

E_ZZNFT_A=T—-HILFE)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (for the year ended 315t December, 2009)

12. %38 (&)

N TR S Y B
RRINR :

& W as B s N 2 B

B B¢ A1t )

ZBIRNFTE T %E25%
aJr:ZﬂIE
ﬁm%%ﬁ HRE I
Tmﬂzmlwa
FAEE TE P& R A5t v ) IRy 1S AT
MR 2 BB E
TR BB TE B SR B o 1l s BB 78
AMMAZ HIEE
AN SR TE 5 18 R H A
AMREREE 2 HIECE
B BARERTIBER
REAMAHRERER
Z AR
RAIRBA 2 BT
MR R TR R 2 2
T I (E R
BAFETR (B) BE
Hft

AERRA S (BE)

REFFAFEAZBRAR R AERBEBL
B TR (AP B EMSHREE)

12. TAXATION (ConTINUED)

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit per the

consolidated income statement as follows:

Profit before taxation

Tax at the domestic income tax
rate of 25%
Tax effect of share of profit of associates
and jointly controlled entities
Tax effect of expenses not deductible
for tax purpose
Tax effect of income not taxable
for tax purpose
Tax effect of tax losses and other deductible
temporary differences not recognised
Tax effect of utilisation of taxes losses
and other deductible temporary
differences previously not recognised
Withholding tax on undistributed earnings
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries
Land appreciation tax
Under (over) provision in prior years
Others

Tax charge (credit) for the year

2009 2008
F#ExT T
HK$'000 HK$'000
1,367,830 689,250
341,958 172,313
(72,715) (53,133)
19,656 43,310
(78,925)  (217,422)
30,984 49,133
(36,692) (548)
16,548 6,549
- 247
56,883 6,222
7,177 (5,260)
(37) (1,468)
284,837 (57)

The domestic tax rate (which is PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate) in the

jurisdiction where the operation of the Group is substantially based is

used.
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13. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Profit for the year has been arrived
at after charging (crediting):

Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Less: amount capitalised on properties
under development

Amortisation of:
Properties for development

Prepaid lease payments on land use rights

Total depreciation and amortisation

Auditor’s remuneration
Cost of inventories recognised as an expenses

Exchange loss included in other
operating expenses (Note a)

Urban land use tax included in other
operating expenses

Compensation for cancellation of acquisition
of an investment property included
in other operating expenses

Loss on disposal and write-off property,
plant and equipment

Operating lease charges in respect of
land and buildings

Staff costs (including directors’
emoluments) (Note b)

Share of tax of associates (included in share
of (loss) profit of associates)

Share of tax of jointly controlled entities
(included in share of profit of
jointly controlled entities)

Gross rental income from investment
properties
Less: direct operating expenses from
investment properties that generated
rental income during the year

2009)

2009 2008
FHBxT FHTT
HK$'000 HK$'000
22,305 14,752
(1,892) (2,239)
20,413 12,513
58,957 45,645
2,045 1,584
81,415 59,742
3,644 3,724
436,510 156,391
- 109,596
21,224 38,792
- 30,000

518 258
3,610 3,155
77,144 74,391
(1,411) 11,638
290,288 59,734
(216,788) (171,049)
53,167 41,826
(163,621) (129,223)
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13. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a) Exchange loss mainly represented the net foreign exchange loss on translation
of bank balances and pledged bank deposits denominated in Hong Kong dollars
and United States dollars into the Group’s functional currency Renminbi, which
had appreciated against Hong Kong dollars and United States dollars during the
year ended 31st December, 2008.

(b)  The staff costs have excluded the apportionment of management fee as disclosed
in note 14 and note 49(b) to the consolidated financial statements for certain
directors as well as management personnel who are not directors or staff of the
Company.

14. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the fifteen (2008: fourteen)
directors were as follows:

2009
HELEHE RIER
HeR e sTEIfR
H#1458F] Performance  Retirement
E2ZHe Salaries related benefits
Directors’  and other incentive scheme @t
fee benefits  payments contributions Total
THER THT TET THERT TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(fiza)
(Note a)
R Patrick Lee Seng Wei 10 1,015 - 26 1,051
#=58 (Hitb) Ng Qing Hai (Note b) 10 624 - 24 658
5 Ma Sun 10 2,774 - 243 3,027
= Edwin Lo King Yau 10 711 405 32 1,158
MEE (Hitc) Tao Tsan Sang (Note c) 2 182 - 13 197
el Li Chi Kong 8 540 225 27 800
Yasushi Ichikawa Yasushi Ichikawa 8 316 - - 324
ZR B Lee Seng Hui 10 2,370 - 19 2,399
RIEH Song Zengbin 10 2,000 - - 2,010
HBRE Moses Cheng Mo Chi 10 - - - 10
Kazunori Okimoto Kazunori Okimoto 3 - - - 3
if=h Francis J. Chang Chu Fai 10 70 - - 80
WEL Ngai Wah Sang 10 90 - - 100
mpg Xu Su Jing 10 70 - - 80
BESR Lisa Yang Lai Sum 10 70 - - 80
131 10,832 630 384 11,977
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Yasushi Ichikawa
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Yuki Oshima
5=y

R

BER

14. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

#isz -

(a)

142

SBIRN AT AL
CENEF =R
B —TRALE
ZESHRRE -

2008
HXERE RABRI
Fek %0 ATEIfR
HipBF Performance  Retirement
EEikn Salaries related benefits
Directors’ and other incentive scheme et
fee benefits payments contributions Total
FET FEL FET TEL FERL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(Hiita)
(Note a)
Patrick Lee Seng Wei 10 1,000 - 26 1,036
Ng Qing Hai 10 - 649 - 659
Ma Sun 10 2,774 500 243 3,527
Edwin Lo King Yau 10 676 706 31 1,423
Li Chi Kong 10 676 405 31 1,122
Yasushi Ichikawa 10 372 - - 382
Lee Seng Hui 10 2,409 4,000 19 6,438
Song Zengbin 6 1,167 - — 1,173
Moses Cheng Mo Chi 10 - — = 10
Yuki Oshima 4 - — - 4
Francis J. Chang Chu Fai 10 70 — — 80
Ngai Wah Sang 10 90 — - 100
Xu Su Jing 10 70 - - 80
Lisa Yang Lai Sum 10 70 = - 80
130 9,374 6,260 350 16,114

Notes:

(a) The amounts represented the actual bonus of the preceding year paid to respective directors
during the year. The bonus of the year 2009 has yet to be decided.
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14.EEME 2)
Kiat : (&)

by R=ZFZAFAA+B EA
RIEEFEEE (B4t 5T
T—EEEYN  BOERRE
R=ZBZEAFNAA T+ BKEL
BACR%E  BEEEWBAE LB
KEEETRER  RNFELE
B # W E(a) A $1138,7367 7T (2
BUBRAEERETS R EZFAT
BHF SRR OBRBEFEEER
RARREBZREMBERZEBB
T RORZFERTZAX
NE+=BEAHEE - ELEZH
2 EgRmBRERTILR
BEEEEARRRZRERAR

MEERE °

(00 AMBEXEZZEAR=-ZZA
FHREER  BERUAEZEHE
AEBHE 2N MEZRMEA
EEFHEE 51,100,460/ 7T ©

ETARREFR—FEBEARA
ERBGZAREEEZEMBE AR
WE & - A BIRAANEEEHRE
BRY YAAKERZEEFTR
HMWIFARRESZEERBAR
RETHEERFBENER %8
FAE BIEEMT49(b) Tk E 2 B8
g o

Lz ERBNIREEEABRA
SEEHEMAEZERGTE I
ArPREELAEE - BHRESE
43,341,000 T (Z 2 T )\ F -
7,912,000/ 7T) * WE BHFELEX
ﬂq o

14. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(b) On 16th September, 2009, an employment contract was entered into between
Mr. Ng Qing Hai (“Mr. Ng”) and the Company, pursuant to which (i) Mr. Ng was
seconded to SACHL as chief executive subsequent to the Company’s acquisition of
SACHL on 16th September, 2009; and (ii) Mr. Ng is entitled to receive (a) a monthly
salary of HK$138,736 (inclusive of all salaries and allowances to be received with
the Group in Hong Kong and the PRC; (b) a discretionary bonus which is based on
the performance of both Mr. Ng and the Company; and (c) a thirteen-month salary
payment that is made each December in respect of that year. The remuneration of
Mr. Ng was determined with reference to the prevailing market conditions and based
on the performance and contribution of Mr. Ng in the Company.

(c) As Mr. Tao Tsan Sang’s appointment takes effect within the year of 2009, his
emoluments shown above is a lump sum portion and the emoluments prior to his
director’s appointment is HK$1,100,460.

Certain directors of the Company received remuneration from a company, or
a wholly owned subsidiary of such company which has significant beneficial
interests in the Company. Such company provided management services to the
Group and charged the Group a fee, which has been included in management fee
as disclosed in note 49(b), for services provided by those directors as well as other
management personnel who were not directors and staff of the Company.

The above-mentioned management fee is calculated by reference to the time
devoted by the management personnel on the affairs of the Group and can be
apportioned to the directors mentioned above. The total of such apportioned
amounts, which has been included in the above table, is HK$3,341,000 (2008:
HK$7,912,000).
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Hiez oM

1,000,001 7T — 1,500,000 7T
1,500,001 7T — 2,000,000 7T
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15. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, four (2008: four)

were directors of the Company whose emoluments are included in note 14 above.

The emoluments of the remaining one (2008: one) individuals were as follows:

Salaries and other benefits
Performance related incentive payments
Retirement benefits scheme contributions

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

2009 2008
THERT FHET
HK$°000 HK$'000
1,879 1,072

- 231

100 60

1,979 1,363

2009 2008
EEHE EE2A
Number of Number of
employees employees

The remuneration policies of the Group are based on the prevailing remuneration

level in the market and the performance of respective group companies and individual

employees. During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the five

highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group.
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16. IR 2.

RE R AR DK
ZHBE
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—TENF - FEI107EA)
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FE TS LFRARBIRUBRRK
BAAIRE - ARR)E TREZZ I
iz A B 8 75 = Y EN89,598,0007% 7T
2B o Hep r REB AR H K
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EZeakBEBE_TTNEF =
A=+ - BUEEFEZREBREERKRT
Al (ZTTNEF - FR3E) - #
REB B AR IR R AN R B EfE R
BERE LHE -

16. DIVIDEND

2009 2008
THERT FAETT
HK$'000 HK$'000
Dividend recognised as
distributions during the year:
Final dividend paid of HK3 cents
(2008: HK10 cents) per share 45,203 151,106
Final dividend proposed of HK7 cents
(2008: HK3 cents) per share 105,474 45,203

During the year ended 31st December, 2008, scrip alternative was offered in
respect of 2007 final dividend. The scrip dividend alternative of HK$89,598,000
was accepted by certain shareholders of the Company. The remaining dividend
had been distributed in form of cash.

The final dividend of HK7 cents (2008: HK3 cents) per share in respect of the
financial year ended 31st December, 2009 has been proposed by the Board
of Directors and is subject to approval by the shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.
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17. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the
owners of the Company is based on the following:

2009 2008
THERT FAETT
HK$'000 HK$'000
Earnings
Earnings for the purposes of basic and diluted
earnings per share (profit for the year
attributable to owners of the Company) 1,067,379 711,087
2009 2008
Fix Tz
‘000 ‘000
Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purposes of basic
and diluted earnings per share 1,506,751 1,513,694

The computation of diluted earnings per share does not assume the exercise
of the Company’s outstanding warrants as the exercise price was higher than
the average market price per share.
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18. Y% - I EKR:i{E 18.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

el 5.
BERE RN EUNET
BoRF BEARE Leasehold
Buildings Golf improvements,
inthe PRC  course on HBIR  HERME furniture, RE
on medium- medium-  Construction Plantand fixtures and Motor @t
term lease  termlease  in progress  machinery equipment vehicles Total
T Tt T Tk Tk T Tk
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
A5M THE GROUP
AR cost
RZFR\E-A-A At 1st January, 2008 80,033 174,245 - - 47,309 26,024 307,631
EARE Exchange adjustments 4 11,088 - - 2,092 1,355 19,306
BE Additions - 671 13,148 - 4,204 4,579 22,602
PEEREEE Reclassified as assets held for sale (33,306) (115,808) - - (27,091) (5,676) (181,881)
HERFE Disposals and write-off - - - - (2,936) (2,514) (5,450)
R-ZEN\E+-A=1-H At 31st December, 2008 51,498 70,196 13,148 - 23,598 23,768 182,208
) Additions 89,080 - 5112 1,358 17,462 3,259 116,271
HUEREAREEA Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries 178,558 - 9,388 235,928 1,001 3,894 428,769
NEAGELE Reclassified as assets held for sale (87,902) - - (116,655) (2,619 (656) (207,832)
HERHE Disposals and write-off = (590) S = (533) (1,595) 2.18)
RHEENBA TR Elimination on disposal of subsidiaries - - - = (1,061) (615) (1,676)
REBEAFTZA=1-A At 31st December, 2009 231,234 69,606 217,648 120,631 37,848 28,055 515,022
i DEPRECIATION
RZEZ\E-F-H At 1st January, 2008 5373 12,818 - - 29,771 15,867 63,835
EXAE Exchange adjustments 412 986 - - 901 764 3,063
ERHE Provided for the year 2,101 4,995 - - 4,509 3,147 1475
NEAGEEE Reclassified as assets held for sale (7,136) (15,520) - - (21,567) (4,367) (48,590)
THE st S M Eliminated on disposals and write-off - - - - (2,624) (2,207) (4,831)
RZZTNETZA=1-A At 315t December, 2008 750 3279 - - 10,99 13,204 28,229
KERHE Provided for the year 471 5,181 - 4,552 4143 3718 22,305
PEAGEEE Reclassified as assets held for sale (1,969) (3,804) - (2,642) 21m) (691) (11,277)
THE st S b Eliminated on disposals and write-off - (18) - - (482) (1,376) (1,876)
REERBATBHE Elimination on disposal of subsidiaries - - - - (121) (350) (1,071)
H-22AET=AZt-R At 315t December, 2009 3492 4638 - 1910 165 U505 36310
REE CARRYING VALUES
R-BBHE+ZA=1+-R At 31st December, 2009 21,142 64,968 21,648 118,721 26,083 13,550 478,712
R-EENE+-B=1-H At 31st December, 2008 50,748 66,917 13,148 - 12,602 10,564 153,979
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18. Y% - MEKRME (%) 18.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

#1& - B
]
Leasehold
improvements,
furniture, RE
fixtures and Motor et
equipment vehicles Total
FHET FHT FHT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RAF THE COMPANY
BAE CoSsT
RZBEENF—A—H At 1st January, 2008 16,689 5,335 22,024
EH Exchange adjustments 1,062 340 1,402
BE Additions 1,986 4 1,990
HE Kt Disposals and write-off (64) - (64)
RZZEZENF+=A=+—H At 31st December, 2008 19,673 5,679 25,352
BE Additions 1,096 1,195 2,291
HE N Disposals and write-off (103) = (103)
R-ZBEEAE+-A=+—H At 31st December, 2009 20,666 6,874 27,540
il DEPRECIATION
RZZEZENF—-HA—H At 1st January, 2008 14,752 4,084 18,836
EH Exchange adjustments 939 260 1,199
FEAHE Provided for the year 270 410 680
P E ik $EES s Eliminated on disposals and write-off (45) - (45)
RZZEZENFTA=1—H At 31st December, 2008 15,916 4,754 20,670
REEER Provided for the year 201 398 599
R E KT iR Eliminated on disposals and write-off (103) - (103)
R-BENFE+=A=1+—H At 31st December, 2009 16,014 5,152 21,166
REE CARRYING VALUES
R-EEAE+=-A=1+—H At 31st December, 2009 4,652 1,722 6,374
RZZEENFTZA=1+—H At 31st December, 2008 3,757 925 4,682
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19.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

rEE
THE GROUP
2009 2008
THERT THBTT
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAIR VALUE
At 1st January 4,352,200 3,985,200
Exchange adjustments - 256,963
Additions 1,060,405 63,572
Transferred from inventories of completed properties 43,495 176,229
Disposals (35,765) (4,028)
Fair value gain on transfer of inventories of
completed properties to investment properties 8,710 61,547
Net increase (decrease) in fair value recognised
in the income statement 575,765 (187,283)
At 31st December 6,004,810 4,352,200

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at the date of transfer, 31st
December, 2009 and 31st December, 2008 have been arrived at on the basis of a
valuation carried out on that date by Norton Appraisals Limited, a firm of independent
and qualified professional valuers not connected with the Group. The valuation was
principally based on investment approach by taking into account the current rents
passing and the reversionary income potential of tenancies. For the properties which
are currently vacant, the valuation was based on each of the property interests by
capitalisation of the hypothetical and reasonable market rents with a typical lease
term and also make reference to the direct comparison approach. For the properties
which were transferred from inventories of completed properties to investment
properties, the valuation was based on direct comparison approach.

Investment properties are all located in the PRC and comprise properties held
under:

AEE

THE GROUP
2009 2008
FET AT
HK$’000 HK$'000
Long lease 2,701,600 1,252,600
Medium-term lease 3,303,210 3,099,600
6,004,810 4,352,200
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20. PROPERTIES FOR DEVELOPMENT

PROPERTIES IN THE PRC, AT COST

Balance at 1st January

Exchange adjustments

Additions

Transferred to inventories of properties
under development

Reclassified as assets held for sale

Elimination on disposal of subsidiaries

Balance at 31st December

AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT

Balance at 1st January

Exchange adjustments

Amortisation for the year

Transferred to inventories of properties
under development

Reclassified as assets held for sale

Elimination on disposal of subsidiaries

Balance at 31st December

CARRYING VALUES

The Group’s properties for development comprise:

Leasehold land in the PRC
Long lease
Medium-term lease

rEH
THE GROUP

2009 2008
FET TET
HK$'000 HK$'000
3,657,323 2,825,078
- 74,714
374,617 986,252
(368,354) (34,114)
(11,500) (194,607)
(149,836) =
3,502,250 3,657,323
268,779 233,041

- 5,770

58,957 45,645
(19,121) (204)
(3,132) (15,473)
(5,068) =
300,415 268,779
3,201,835 3,388,544
2,732,756 2,970,616
469,079 417,928
3,201,835 3,388,544
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21. T FEARFEAHEERIE 21. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS ON LAND USE
RIGHTS
rEE
THE GROUP
2009 2008
FHExT TFET
HK$'000 HK$'000
AN [E + th {55 P A The Group's prepaid lease payments
BRNHEFRIERE : on land use rights comprise:
RERZHAE L Leasehold land in the PRC
KEIA 4 Long lease 50,197 50,992
FR EAFE 49 Medium-term lease 42,524 3,884
92,721 54,876
mEMmMELZ T - Analysed for reporting purposes as:
FERBEE Non-current asset 90,928 53,980
mEEE Current asset 1,793 896
92,721 54,876
22. R B ARz = 22.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
P NN
THE COMPANY
2009 2008
FHET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
JELETIRE Unlisted investments 2,900,387 3,499,328
Ji - BEIRE Less: accumulated impairment (97,622) (40,912)

2,802,765 3,458,416

R B AT 22 2 RmEREANKH BAG Details of the principal subsidiaries at 31st December, 2009 are set
FEMBRARAR-_ZEZENFT+-_HA=+—H outinnote 51.
2 BRI FES o
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23.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

rRE
THE GROUP
2009 2008
FTERT THAT
HK$'000 HK$'000

Cost of investment in unlisted

associates 25,394 25,183
Share of post-acquisition profits and

losses and other comprehensive

income, net of dividends received 213,177 227,286
Amounts due from associates 2,622 2,476
241,193 254,945

Notes:

(a) Included in the cost of investment in associates is goodwill of
HK$674,000 (2008: HK$674,000) arising on acquisitions of
associates in prior years.

(b) Details of the principal associates at 31st December, 2009 are
set out in note 52. The associates are not expected to repay the
advances within twelve months from the end of the reporting
period and the balances are classified as non-current. The amounts
are unsecured and interest-free.

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
associates is set out below:

2009 2008

FHExT FHIT

HK$’000 HK$'000

Total assets 1,071,190 1,183,315
Total liabilities (159,582) (179,364)
Minority interests (149,815) (160,533)
Net assets 761,793 843,418
Revenue 102,079 100,857
(Loss) profit for the year (28,921) 69,528
Other comprehensive income - (1,224)
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ENTITIES
rEE
THE GROUP
2009 2008
FET TR
HK$000 HK$'000
Cost of investment in unlisted jointly
controlled entities (Note a) 347,380 455,941
Share of post-acquisition profits and
losses and other comprehensive
income, net of dividends received 374,924 247,631
Amounts due from jointly controlled
entities (Note b) 57,592 56,534
Less: allowance for doubtful debts (38,607) (38,607)
741,289 721,499
PN
THE COMPANY
2009 2008
THET FHTT
HK$'000 HK$'000
Cost of investment in unlisted jointly
controlled entities 10,339 10,339

Notes:

(a)

Included in the cost of investment of jointly controlled entities
is goodwill of HK$409,000 (2008: HK$409,000) arising on

acquisitions of jointly controlled entities in prior years.

Details of the principal jointly controlled entities at 31st December,
2009 are set out in note 53. The jointly controlled entities are
not expected to repay the advances within twelve months from
the end of the reporting period and the balances are classified as
non-current. The amounts are unsecured and interest-free.
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24. INTERESTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED

ENTITIES (conTINUED)

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s jointly

controlled entities is set out below:

2009 2008
F#ExT FHIT
HK$'000 HK$’000
Total assets 4,991,028 4,271,447
Total liabilities (3,515,280) (2,910,583)
Minority interests (24,953) (18,636)
Net assets 1,450,795 1,342,228
Revenue 2,086,878 1,212,750
Profit for the year 605,046 444,392
Other comprehensive income 71,260 84,483
25. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
AEE
THE GROUP
2009 2008
FET T
HK$’000 HK$’000
Equity securities listed outside
Hong Kong 26,825 17,501
Unlisted equity securities 6,937 82
Unlisted equity fund 60,942 -
94,704 17,583

Equity securities listed outside Hong Kong are stated at fair value which

is determined based on the quoted market bid price available on the

relevant exchanges.
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25. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Unlisted equity securities and unlisted equity fund represent investments
in unlisted equity securities issued by the entities established in the
PRC and unlisted equity fund established in Hong Kong. Unlisted
equity securities are stated at cost less impairment at the end of the
reporting period because the range of reasonable fair value estimates
is so significant that the Group are of the opinion that their fair values
cannot be measured reliably. The unlisted equity fund is measured at
fair value at the end of the reporting period. Based on the relevant
agreements, the Group can require the relevant investment manager
to redeem the units by giving a written redemption notice not later
than 90 business days. The fair value of the unlisted equity fund is
provided by the relevant investment manager.

26. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON
GOODWILL

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated to
an individual cash-generating unit (“CGU"), including a subsidiary in
property development segment. The carrying amount of goodwill as
at 31st December, 2009 allocated is as follows:

£33
THE GROUP
2009 2008
THER T
HK$'000 HK$'000
Property development 640 640

During the year ended 31st December, 2009, management of the
Group determines that there is no impairment of its CGU that contains
goodwill.
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27.INVENTORIES OF PROPERTIES

The Group's inventories of properties are situated in the PRC. All the
inventories of properties are stated at cost less impairment. Properties
under development with carrying amount of HK$875,065,000 (2008:
HK$64,496,000) expected to be completed and available for sale
within twelve months from the end of the reporting date.

28. OTHER INVENTORIES

AKEE
THE GROUP

2009 2008

FET TAET

HK$°000 HK$'000

Raw materials 14,841 =

Work in progress 293 =

Finished goods 5,533 996

20,667 996

29. AMOUNTS DUE FROM JOINTLY
CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Amounts due from jointly controlled entities of HK$92,467,000 (2008:
HK$62,165,000) are interest-free. The remaining of HK$137,012,000
(2008: HK$110,227,000) is interest bearing at 6.37% to 7.99% (2008:
RMB benchmark interest rates floating upward 20%) per annum.
The amounts are unsecured and expected to be repaid within twelve
months from the end of the reporting date.

30. AMOUNTS DUE FROM MINORITY SHAREHOLDERS

Amounts due from minority shareholders are unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.
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31. LOANS RECEIVABLE

At 31st December, 2009, loans receivable of HK$353,311,000 (2008:
HK$65,650,000) bear interests ranging from 4.5% to 24% (2008:
ranging from 20% to 24%) per annum, are secured and repayable
between January and December 2010.

As 31st December, 2008, loan receivable of HK$35,000,000 bore
interest at prime rate plus 1% per annum, was unsecured and repaid
in 2009. Loan receivable of HK$65,000,000 bore interest at 8% per
annum, was unsecured and repaid in 2009.

32. TRADE RECEIVABLES

Rental receivables from tenants are payable on presentation based on
the invoice date at the end of the reporting period. The Group generally
allows a credit period of 30 to 120 days to property purchasers and
other customers. The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables
at the end of the reporting period:

AEH

THE GROUP
2009 2008
FET T
HK$'000 HK$'000
Not yet due 19,556 30,992
Overdue within 3 months 140,893 3,891
Overdue between 4 and 6 months 44,475 1,811
Overdue between 7 and 12 months 24,116 288
Overdue over 12 months 15,836 3
244,876 36,985
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33. HELD-FOR-TRADING INVESTMENTS

REHE

THE GROUP
2009 2008
THERT T
HK$’000 HK$'000

Equity securities listed outside

Hong Kong 24,098 14,850
Unlisted equity securities 2,403 2,403
Unlisted debt securities 5,378 5,260
31,879 22,513

Equity securities listed outside Hong Kong are stated at fair value which
is determined based on the quoted market bid price available on the
relevant exchanges.

Unlisted equity securities represent investments in unlisted equity
securities issued by the entities established in the PRC. They are
measured at cost less impairment at the end of the reporting period
because the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant
that the directors of the Group are of the opinion that their fair values
cannot be measured reliably.

Unlisted debt securities represent investments in unlisted debt securities
issued by bank in the PRC. The fair value is provided by the counterparty
bank. The fair value was principally taken at the last bid or traded price
as at the close of business at 31st December, 2009.
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34. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS

HELD FOR SALE

On 3rd December, 2007, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with a related company, of which a director
of the subsidiary to be disposed of is a beneficial owner. Pursuant
to the sale and purchase agreement, the Group agreed to sell the
subsidiary which is engaged in golf course operation and property
development. On 30th January, 2008, the ordinary resolution
for approving the sale and purchase agreement was duly passed
by the shareholders of the Company at extraordinary general
meeting. Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement, the
completion date of sale and purchase of the subsidiary shall not
be later than 7th December, 2008. The related company requested
to extend the completion date in order to obtain financing for the
payment of the balance of the consideration of HK$636,364,000.
As at 31st December, 2009 and 2008, the Group was in the
process of negotiating supplemental agreement to extend the
payment due date for the balance payable as consideration and
the completion date. The Group remains committed to its plan
to sell the subsidiary.

On 8th July, 2008, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with a related company, of which a director of the
subsidiary to be disposed of is a beneficial owner. Pursuant to the
sale and purchase agreement, the Group agreed to sell a property
interest of residential property development operations. On 5th
September, 2008, the ordinary resolution for approving the sale
and purchase agreement was duly passed by the shareholders of
the Company at extraordinary general meeting. During the year
ended 31st December, 2009, the disposal was completed and
resulted in gain on disposal of HK$77,727,000.

On 23rd January, 2009, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with a third party. Pursuant to the sale
and purchase agreement, the Group agreed to sell a subsidiary,
which is engaged in property development at the consideration
of HK$11,635,000. The transaction has not been completed at
the end of the reporting date.

On 13th October, 2009, the Group entered into a settlement deed
with a third party. Pursuant to the settlement deed, the Group
agreed to surrender a put option and sell a subsidiary, which is
engaged in property development. The completion date of the
settlement deed shall be upon full payment of settlement amount
and the fulfilment of the surrender conditions precedent. The
transaction has not been completed at the end of the reporting
date.

159



AREPEREFR AT

Tian An China Investments Company Limited

GEMBRRMT az-—ssrst-A=+-ALFR)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (for the year ended 315t December, 2009)

.0 EAGEEERERE @

() RZZETZNF+—A=++tH ~&H
B _EE RS — 10 5 37 B E W
Z ([HERZD BEFHERRE L8
MR+t EA RSB 2 HiE
#97/908,977,000/8 7T ° BIX K& =K iH
{83X568,382,000/8 /L C A L/ M BUT R
RERIMAFAEE  MEHZHER
SR SEA T i (5 R B BUH = 2 FiE
BRREKSHITE (REERERE)
E-_ZT—ZTFIfM - ERZHERES
RE 5 R EMEMTKA -

ZUE (ZEZ)N\F : mfE) BB AR CEE
MEBEER-_ZEEAFT_A=+—HER®R=
EENF+ZA=Z+—HYEARLHEZE
B (RTIX) - HEEEBR D MK FH
BREEASEMERE HEKE AR K
BEMR REMEERES (RHiFE6) - HEZ
EMBRARCWATEHBLEAEEERS
BEZFEREE: At  ZE5LEEBIER
HEEBEAEREEBERR ASEE W
B|NgeiE B M) 3% £315,246,0008 70 (— T =
J\F : 117,045,000 7T) (BERE F K HA
FESBRIRA) ©

160

34. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS

HELD FOR SALE (conTINUED)

On 27th November, 2009, the Group entered into a site demolition
compensation agreement (“Compensation Agreement”) with
Shanghai Municipal Government. Pursuant to the Compensation
Agreement, the total compensation to be payable to the Group
by the Shanghai Municipal Government, as a result of the land
resumption, shall be approximately HK$908,977,000. The first
and second payments of the compensation of HK$568,382,000
had been paid by Shanghai Municipal Government to the
Group during the year and the remaining compensation shall
be paid in 2010 upon completion of compensation conditions
of deregistering the land use right certificates and completing
the site demolition, which are stipulated in the Compensation
Agreement. The compensation received is included in trade and
other payables.

The assets and liabilities attributable to the four (2008: two) subsidiaries
have been classified assets and liabilities as disposal group held for sale
as at 31st December, 2009 and 31st December, 2008 (see below). The
operations are included in the Group's property development and sale

of cement, clinker and construction materials and other operations for

segment reporting purposes (see note 6). The proceeds of disposal are

expected to exceed the net carrying amount of the relevant assets and

liabilities and, accordingly, no impairment loss has been recognised

on the classification of these operations as held for sale. The Group
has already received HK$315,246,000 (2008: HK$117,045,000) as
non-refundable deposits included in trade and other payables.
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34. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS

HELD FOR SALE (conTINUED)

The major classes of assets and liabilities comprising the disposal group

classified as held for sale are as follows:

Property, plant and equipment
Properties for development

Prepaid lease payments on land use rights

Interest in a jointly controlled entity

Trade and other receivables, deposits

and prepayments
Other inventories
Instalments receivable
Bank balances and cash
Other assets

Assets classified as held for sale

Trade and other payables

Pre-sale deposits

Tax liabilities

Interest-bearing borrowings
Interest-free borrowings
Membership debentures (note 42)
Deferred tax liabilities

Liabilities associated with assets
classified as held for sale

EE

THE GROUP
2009 2008
TR TAT
HK$'000 HK$'000
329,846 133,291
187,502 179,134
82,397 16,701
180,605 =
- 24,155
21,634 =
- 83,239
3,347 3,816
52 5,565
805,383 445,901
31,626 27,357
21,566 21,455
102 9,884
17,967 19,012
6,456 5,988
40,268 38,140
63,799 56,865
181,784 178,701
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35. TRADE PAYABLES

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables by age, presented based on
the invoice date, which are included in trade and other payables, at the end of the

reporting period:

Within 3 months

Between 4 and 6 months
Between 7 and 12 months
Over 12 months

36. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.20 each at
31st December, 2008 and
31st December, 2009

Issued and fully paid:

At 1st January, 2008

Shares issued on exercise of warrants
Shares issued for scrip dividend
Shares repurchased and cancelled

At 31st December, 2008
Shares issued on exercise of warrants

At 31st December, 2009

KEEH

THE GROUP
2009 2008
FHET FABT
HK$000 HK$°000
122,675 191,651
4,185 -
7,511 2
249,897 283,338
384,268 474,991

AEBERADF

THE GROUP AND

THE COMPANY
ZERRGOEE HE
Number of Nominal
ordinary shares value
FAT
HK$’000
2,000,000,000 400,000
1,511,123,901 302,225
9,238 2
15,555,176 3,111
(19,937,000) (3,988)
1,506,751,315 301,350
18,176 4
1,506,769,491 301,354
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36. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)
Ordinary shares

During the year ended 31st December, 2009, 18,176 (2008: 9,238)
shares of HK$0.20 each were issued at HK$10 for cash as a result of
the exercise of warrants by warrant holders. The new shares rank pari
passu with other shares in issue in all respects.

During the year ended 31 December 2008, 15,555,176 shares of
HK$0.20 each in the Company were issued at HK$5.76 per share to the
shareholders of the Company who elected to receive scrip shares in lieu
of each, for the final dividend for the year ended 31st December, 2007
pursuant to the scrip dividend scheme announced by the Company on
23rd May, 2008.

During the year ended 31st December, 2008, the Company repurchased
and cancelled a total of 19,937,000 shares at an average price of
HK$2.54 per share on the Stock Exchange at a consideration of
approximately HK$50,997,000 (inclusive of expenses). During the year
ended 31st December, 2009, the Company has not repurchased and
cancelled the share.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised
and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s
own equity instruments.
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36. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)
Share Option Scheme of the Company

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted
pursuant to a resolution passed by the Company’s shareholders on
27th January, 1999 for the primary purpose of providing incentives
to eligible employees (including executive directors), and expired on
26th January, 2009. Under the Scheme, the Board of Directors of the
Company may grant options to eligible employees, including directors
of the Company and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares in the
Company.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of
the shares of the Company in issue at the date of grant excluding
any shares issued pursuant to the Scheme. The number of shares in
respect of which options may be granted to any eligible employee is
not permitted to exceed 25% of the total number of shares of the
Company issued and issuable under the Scheme.

A consideration of HK$10 is payable on the grant of an option.
Options granted must be held for a minimum period of six months
before they can be exercised. A maximum of 50% of the options may
be exercised during the first to sixth month of the 2-year exercisable
period (commencing on the expiry of six months after the date of
grant) and the remaining 50% are exercisable during the thirteenth
to twenty-fourth month of the 2-year period. If no option or less than
50% of the options are exercised during the first to sixth month,
these unexercised options can be carried forward to the thirteenth to
twenty-fourth month.

The exercise price is determined by the directors of the Company, and
will not be less than the higher of the nominal value of the Company’s
share or 80% of the average closing price of the shares on the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the date
of the grant.

No options were granted nor were exercised during the year ended
31st December, 2009 and 2008.
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37.RESERVES

THE GROUP

Other reserves comprise the fair value adjustment on properties arising from

acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries.

The remittance outside of the PRC of accumulated profits of the subsidiaries,

associates and joint ventures established in the PRC is subject to approval of the

local authorities and the availability of foreign currencies generated and retained

by these companies.

Revaluation reserves

At 1st January, 2008
Decrease in fair value of
available-for-sale investments

At 31st December, 2008
Increase in fair value of
available-for-sale investments

At 31st December, 2009

LS BE
BB B E
Property Investment
revaluation revaluation et
reserve reserve Total
FAT FAL FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
3,614 36,064 39,678
- (25,328) (25,328)
3,614 10,736 14,350
- 12,102 12,102
3,614 22,838 26,452
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37. ¥ (&) 37.RESERVES (CONTINUED)
¥ NUNE] THE COMPANY
8% EAEE  ERYE

RARE  EARfk it it
Share Special Capital  Exchange  Zit&A|

premium capital redemption  translation  Retained st
account reserve reserve reserve profits Total

Tm TARL TR TAR ThRL TR
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

R=%2/\f#-A-H At 1st January, 2008 3,265,996 1,417,669 130,691 - 2434030  7,248386
BEMEL7ESER Exchange difference arising on translation - - - 558,239 - 558,239
{TieRAREEN ST 2R Issue of shares on exercise of warrants 120 - = - . 120
HRREmETZ R Issue of shares for script dividend 86,487 - - - - 86,487
TR EEE Rt Share repurchased and cancelled - - 3,988 - (50,997)  (47,009)
REELEER Profit attributable to owners = = - - 2480835 2,480,835
REAR Dividend recognised as distribution - - - - (151,106)  (151,106)
RZZZNFT-A=1-H At 31t December, 2008 3352603 1417669 134679 558239 4712762 10,175,952
EAREENET RN Issue of shares on exercise of warrants 178 - - - - 178
BREREE Loss attributable to owners - - - -y 02m)
REAE Dividend recognised as distribution - - - - (45,203) (45,203)
RZBEAF+-A=1-A At 31st December, 2009 3,352,781 1,417,669 134,679 558,239 4,544,787 10,008,155
RNR—ZZEEZNFE+ = B =+ The Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders as at 31st
— H' &N A & 7 o Jk ¥ December, 2009 represent the accumulated profits of HK$4,544,787,000 (2008:
B 2 EE A 2T &M  HK$4,712,762,000). When sanctioning a reduction in nominal value of the Company’s
4,544,787,000/% jT (= & =  shares in 2004, the High Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region

J\ £ : 4,712,762,0005 JT) ° stipulated that the credit arising on the reduction be transferred to a special capital
EXEERITHES S AN = reserve, and that reserve was not to be regarded as distributable until all of the
=TT 4EHEOEA A B EE A% liabilities of the Company as at the date of the order, 9th March, 2004, were settled.
HEEET  ESEESE At 31st December, 2009, liabilities of the Company included HK$ 14,064,000 (2008:
BEMEAZEERER AEKE HK$16,201,000) in respect of liabilities in existence at 9th March, 2004.

KiEH EXRARZZE

mizﬁhEZE{ﬁiuB/a

B WREETRIERD

& - E’é:;ﬁiﬂiﬂ——ﬂ

=+—B XRAR-ZEMN

FZANREHREZEET

13 514,064,000 T (Z T Z

J\4F : 16,201,000/ 7T) I &

=
VB °
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38. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

Bank loans
Other loans

Secured
Unsecured

Carrying amount repayable:
On demand or within one year
More than one year,
but not exceeding two years
More than two years,
but not exceeding five years
More than five years

Less: Amounts due within
one year shown under
current liabilities

Amount due after one year

HEE
THE GROUP
2009 2008
TR TAET
HK$'000 HK$'000

3,322,236 1,743,996
2,854 -

3,325,090 1,743,996

3,300,191 1,743,996
24,899 =

3,325,090 1,743,996

1,176,588 297,618
1,015,616 770,844
824,607 638,046
308,279 37,488

3,325,090 1,743,996

(1,176,588) (297,618)

2,148,502 1,446,378
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38. I B &K () 38. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)
REFBHZEEEBRARALAT T 2EEE  The exposure of the Group's fixed-rate borrowings and the contractual
(XEHEER) AT : maturity dates (or repricing dates) are as follows:
2009 2008
FTERT FABT
HK$’000 HK$'000
ESEK Fixed-rate borrowings:
—F A Within one year 938,233 198,012
RER—F In more than one year but not more
BRHBBERE than two years 446,273 739,350
RERME - In more than two years but not more
BTHBBE=F than three years 617,306 397,727
RER=F In more than three years but not more
(ERSERETES than four years 26,136 -
RERMEE - In more than four years but not
BRBRRE more than five years 27,273 =
RERAF In more than five years 147,727 -

2,202,948 1,335,089

B NEBZ ZEEZTIEESBIEITREZE  Inaddition, the Group has variable-rate borrowings which carry interest
waHERE W8 — - =k A~EAZFHE at Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate. Interest is repriced every one,
o three and six months.
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38. Mt BB (&)
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RAFE AEEBERSZHE
K& %82,173,769,0005 7 * Itk
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38.INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to contracted interest
rates) on the Group’s borrowings are as follows:

2009 2008

Effective interest rate:
4.78% to 10.00%
1.17% to 5.94%

5.00% to 10.00%
2.79% to 8.61%

Fixed-rate borrowings
Variable-rate borrowings

The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest-bearing borrowings are denominated
in the following currencies:

BT

AR#¥ Hong Kong EYH #E

Renminbi dollars US dollars Total

TFHT THIT FHIT FHIT

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
2009

Bank and other loans 2,427,490 897,600 - 3,325,090
2008

Bank and other loans 1,496,471 242,160 5,365 1,743,996

During the year, the Group obtained new loans in the amount of HK$2,173,769,000.
The loans bear interest at market rates and will be repayable in or before 2019. The
proceeds were used to finance the acquisitions of properties and operating activities
of the Group.
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39. = B &K 39. INTEREST-FREE BORROWINGS

rEE PI/NE|
THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2009 2008 2009 2008
TET THET FTEx THET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
REDEREER Advances from minority shareholders 4,655 67,725 - -
FET HE R A A Amounts due to jointly controlled
B entities 8,430 82,328 5,248 5,248
FEfTER 2 A B UA Amounts due to associates 16,601 16,717 - =
FERTFH B A Bl 2R Amounts due to subsidiaries - = 31,681 54,961
29,686 166,770 36,929 60,209
IEEEFIRATERE © Carrying amount repayable:
JEESK e —F R On demand or within one year 29,211 166,770 36,929 60,209
— 18 More than one year 475 = - _
29,686 166,770 36,929 60,209
i BRERREEMER  Less: Amounts due within one year
—FREH R shown under current liabilities (29,211) (166,770) (36,929) (60,209)
—FRIMIEE Amount due after one year 475 = - -

REE R EMIR IR The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest-free borrowings are denominated in the following
EETIA TSI E S5 currencies:
A :
&I
AK%  Hong Kong W
Renminbi dollars Total
FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
—EEAF 2009
REMEN Interest-free borrowings 7,765 21,921 29,686
—ETNEF 2008
REEX Interest-free borrowings 53,973 112,797 166,770

ZeEEEER
BREH o
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40. TEMB TR

R-EZENF—HA—H
RAHERR Z1T1E
ITEMBIARAEE

R-_BENFT_H=1T—8
RRIERE 2 1T
R RE E

RZEBEZNF+_A=1+—H

BEARZBE RZZEZLF+_A=+N
H 2 317251,853,9831) # R A HE B AL R B8
BEM10/8TRE251,853,983 1 F A% (5 - I
HE_ZZNhEF+_A=+—HLEFERK "
18,1761 RIREFE W ITE o PR MR AR 4
BZRBENE_ZEZNF+=_A=+—¢H
HH ((ERAEENEEZEHA-S—SF—
AZBRIZIER) & - B86 M ZRRE
RIEARER S SRR ERE Z3REA0.036
BLE R—ZEZENF+=—A=+—8"
AR HERE 2 hEt A BER9,066,000/4 7T °

40. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT

FEEREAF
THE GROUP AND
THE COMPANY

RREEEE

Number of FHTT

warrants HK$'000

At 1st January, 2008 251,853,983 803,516

Exercise of warrants (9,238) (30)
Change in fair value of derivative

financial instrument - (794,420)

At 31st December, 2008 251,844,745 9,066

Exercise of warrants (18,176) -

Warrants expired (251,826,569) (9,066)

At 31st December, 2009 - —

Pursuant to the Open Offer, 251,853,983 new warrants to subscribe
for 251,853,983 new shares at a subscription price of HK$10 per
share were issued on 28th December, 2007. During the year ended
31st December, 2009, 18,176 warrants were exercised. There is no
outstanding warrants subsequent to the subscription rights attaching
to the warrants expired on 31st December, 2009 being a business day
immediately preceding the scheduled expired date on 2nd January,
2010.

The estimated fair value of the warrants on 31st December, 2008
was HK$9,066,000, which were calculated using the quoted price of
warrant of HK$0.036 per share available on the relevant exchange.
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—BHEFZEEEE WA

R-ZZEZE_FRA-_1+H AEEEH—F
HEPHEA—BEREMEER—MHAHRA-T
FrHERR  EHEzBEFPRERAEE
EEZIRE Y W& E F197,933,000/8
T MRBINGEAEB A NF 2 &M
Efe MBTFHERBEREAINEER
EHE  REBE_ZTTRAF+-_A=+—H
FFER  AEEHEZERLEITIKRK - B
AEBREZBRENENEBSERE A
67,308,000 L - Mer FFE AL EN T
FEEREBERLD - BIHELHE - B H
7N &= B R R 2 25 & B 130,625,000/ 7T 1
PEA—BHEFPZEERSWA @ TSR
MR ZHEEFH+EFUERETABRRER
f’Etﬁﬂiuﬁz)\ RZZTENF+ZA=+—

R —FARAFABRZ —RBEPZELT
%ﬂﬁﬂ&z}\?%s,w&oooi%ﬁ (ZEZENE:
8,173,000/ T) EBIEEE 5 R HMEF IR
A °

2. ERES

‘I]]]IJ m5>

BREFARBRRARER  UREFEFR
ABR-_THFRE TARREHNEER
%Eﬁ%ﬁ%mﬁ%a%ﬁzm@l&

R-ZBEZNF+_A=+—"H 2#HEH
40,268,000/ 7T (=& = )\ 4 : 38,140,000
BIL) O BANEEEZHBAE -
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41. DEFERRED RENTAL INCOME FROM A
TENANT

On 26th May, 2002, the Group entered into a tenancy agreement with
a tenant in respect of leasing of an investment property for a period
of 20 years. Pursuant to the agreement, the tenant agreed to bear
the costs of fitting out works of the investment property at an agreed
amount of HK$197,933,000 payable on behalf of the Group in lieu
of paying operating lease rental to the Group for a period of 6 years,
and paying a monthly operating lease rental over the remaining lease
period. During the year ended 31st December, 2005, the Group revised
the terms of the lease and determined with the tenant that the costs
of fitting out works of the investment property to be borne by the
Group would be revised to HK$67,308,000 and the annual operating
rental payable by the tenant for the remaining period would be
reduced. Taking consideration of the substance of the arrangements,
the reduction of costs of fitting out works to be borne by the Group
of HK$130,625,000 was reclassified as deferred rental income from
a tenant and is released to the profit or loss as rental income on a
straight-line basis over the remaining lease term of 17 years. At 31st
December, 2009, deferred rental income from a tenant to be released
within one year of HK$8,173,000 (2008: HK$8,173,000) has been
included in trade and other payables.

42. MEMBERSHIP DEBENTURES

Membership debentures represent golf guaranty fees which are
refundable to members twenty years after joining the golf club or can
be used by members to set off against the cost of purchasing villas at
the golf course.

At 31st December, 2009, membership debenture amounting to
HK$40,268,000 (2008: HK$38,140,000) was reclassified as liabilities
associated with assets classified as held for sale.
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43, i 3E B IH

RAFEMBEFERABNTRIER
ERARBENEENEZSHIOT
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THE GROUP

At 1st January, 2008

Exchange adjustments

(Credit) charge to income
for the year

Addition on deemed
acquisition of assets

Reclassified as held for sale

At 31st December, 2008
(Credit) charge to income
for the year
Arising on acquisition of
a subsidiary (note 9)
Addition on deemed
acquisition of assets
Elimination on disposal of
subsidiaries (note 8)
Elimination on disposal
of a property
development project
Reclassified as held for sale

At 31st December, 2009

43. DEFERRED TAXATION

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised and

movements thereon during the current and prior years:

RRAKE HEHEFHA

BHER WERZ

fEiiER AIHER

Adjustments Elimination

to conform to RORBR of inter-

£BAH the Group's ZERY company

Business Eff#%  accounting  Withholding charges in

combinations  Revaluation policies tax on properties REEA

(Hiita) of (H3#b)  undistributed (Hiitc) Tax Hit @zt
(Note a) properties (Note b) earnings (Note ¢) losses Others Total
TAT TAL THT THT THL T THL TAL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
966,318 313,496 (10,242) - (26,751) (3,949) 189 1,239,561
1,604 19,598 (1,215) - - (251) - 19,736
(1,706) (22,362) (33,644) 6,549 - - (189) (51,352)
- 2,607 11,936 - - - - 14,543
(63,204) - 6,339 - - - - (56,865)
903,512 313,339 (26,826) 6,549 (26,751) (4,200) - 1,165,623
(1,585) 143,313 (40,447) 16,548 - - 210 118,039
46,317 - (4,133) - - - - 42,184
- - 36,483 - - - - 36,483
- = (3.977) = = - - (3.977)
- - 2,471 - - - - 2,471
- - (6,934) - - - - (6,934)
948,244 456,652 (43,363) 23,097 (26,751) (4,200) 210 1,353,889
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43. EERIA (7) 43. DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)
MEBAEZ RS IKEF
undistributed earnings

of subsidiaries
FAT
HK$'000
¥ THE COMPANY

R=ZBEZEN\F—A—H At 1st January, 2008 -

RERNB K=k Charge to income for the year 1,557

RZFTN\F+ZA=+—H At 31st December, 2008 1,557

RER B K= E Credit to income for the year (1,557)

At 31st December, 2009

Notes:

(@) EBAMBRAAKHEERBBEAREMEELE (@) This represents the tax effect of the temporary differences arising
ARMEECHBREZEFIELE - from the fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and

liabilities upon acquisition of subsidiaries.

(b) EZEETHBARREBRAEEBERBMAR  (b) This mainly represents the tax effect of the temporary differences
Y BERKAENME 2 BEREEEARA (EH arising from the adjustments to management accounts of certain
FHEMEAZBREENBETE - subsidiaries to conform to the Group's policies of revenue recognition

and capitalisation of property development cost.

(0 HEEHFTAMBAGNERERSTYE BRI () This represents the tax effect of the temporary differences arising from

X FERREMERAIZ RAHERAMEEZ the elimination of inter-company charges originally capitalised as cost of
R EETIEIE - properties under development, inventories of completed properties and

investment properties of subsidiaries.
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43 REFIIE (&)
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AR BT RRER B ©

43. DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of
financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been
offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

2009 2008

F&T FET

HK$’000 HK$'000

Deferred tax liabilities 1,372,273 1,172,926
Deferred tax assets (18,384) (7,303)
1,353,889 1,165,623

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses
of HK$350,418,000 (2008: HK$364,493,000) available for offset
against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of HK$16,800,000 (2008: HK$16,800,000) of such losses. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining
HK$333,618,000 (2008: HK$347,693,000) due to the unpredictability
of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses
of HK$300,803,000 (2008: HK$314,879,000) that will gradually expire
until 2014. Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has other deductible
temporary differences of HK$542,550,000 (2008: HK$643,221,000).
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation to such deductible
temporary difference as it is not probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences can be
utilised.

44. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
During the year ended 31st December, 2008, 15,555,176 shares of

HK$0.20 each in the Company were issued at HK$5.76 per share as
scrip dividends.
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45. LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
The Group as lessor

At the end of the reporting period, certain investment properties are
leased out for a period of 20 years from the date of commencement
of operation of a lessee that occupies the properties, with a renewal
option at the end of the lease. The rentals are calculated at a certain
percentage of the revenue (net of value added tax) of the lessee, with
a minimum annual rental. Other investment properties were leased
out for periods ranging from 1 to 10 years and the majority of the
leases did not have any renewal options given to the lessees. The
Group had contracted with tenants for the following future minimum
lease payments:

AEE

THE GROUP
2009 2008
THERT FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
Within one year 206,852 105,602
In the second to fifth years inclusive 302,576 110,838
After five years 264,956 76,454
774,384 292,894

The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in respect of rented premises which fall due as follows:

2009 2008

FTET FETT

HK$°000 HK$000

Within one year 3,051 1,999
In the second to fifth years inclusive 2 -
3,053 1,999

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for
certain of its office properties. Leases are negotiated for a term ranging
from one to three years at fixed rentals.
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46. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

ARF

THE COMPANY

2009
TERT
HK$'000

2008
THET
HK$'000

rEE
THE GROUP
2009 2008
FHT THT
HK$’000 HK$'000
Capital expenditure in
respect of contracted
commitments for:
— acquisition of land use
rights in the PRC 840,884 868,089
— acquisition of property,
plant and equipment 34,542 10,339
— acquisition of a subsidiary 6,023 -
- acquisition of
available-for-sale
investment 148,200 =

47. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(@) At 31st December, 2009, the Company and the Group had guarantees as

follows:

rEE N
THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2009 2008 2009 2008
FTHET THT THET THT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Guarantees given to banks in
respect of banking
facilities granted
and utilised by:
— subsidiaries - - 1,608,392 1,012,440
— related companies (Note) - 83,500 - 83,500
Guarantees given to banks in
respect of mortgage loans
granted to property purchasers 153,863 155,144 - -

The related companies have a common director with the Company.
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47. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

A further development of a property for development with
carrying value of HK$187,499,000 (included in assets classified as
held for sale) has been overdue. The Group is currently working
diligently to prevent the possible classification as idle land,
including negotiating the feasibility of development plans with
local authorities. Based on legal advice, the Group has assessed
the issue and consider that the idle land confiscation may not
materialise.

A property purchaser who previously purchased a property in
Shenzhen initiated legal proceedings against a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company to rescind the sale contract and
claim for sales proceeds paid of approximately HK$59,466,000
together with compensation. Inventories of completed properties
with carrying value of HK$42,613,000 are held in the custody of
the court. The Group had appealed and the Supreme Court had
ordered rehearing to the case. This property purchaser initiated
another legal proceeding claiming for sales proceeds of another
storey of the same shopping arcade and the underground car
parking spaces with the compensation amounting to approximately
HK$71,248,000. In December 2007, a conditional settlement
agreement was reached between the parties. In April 2008, the
parties agreed to modify the conditional settlement agreement
whereby the property purchaser agreed to settle the case on the
conditions that the Group has to arrange the issue of ownership
certificates of the subject properties under the name of the
property purchaser and hand over the subject properties to the
property purchaser. Subsequent to the end of the annual reporting
period, the Group had handed over the subject properties to the
property purchaser and the properties held in custody of the
court with carrying amount of HK$14,793,000 were released to
the Group. It is expected that the remaining properties held in
custody of the court will be released to the Group following the
issue of ownership certificates of the subject properties under the
name of the property purchaser.
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47. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(d)

A contractor has applied for arbitration against a subsidiary
claiming for outstanding construction costs and compensation of
totally approximately HK$28,784,000 which are being disputed.
The arbitration is still in progress, but based on legal opinions,
the Group has assessed the claim and considers that the final
outcome of the claim will not have material effect on the financial
position of the Group.

Certain property purchasers have taken legal actions against a
subsidiary of the Company and are claiming for compensation
totally approximately HK$2,227,000 as a result of alleged late
issue of title deeds of properties sold to them. The Group has
arranged the issue of title deeds of properties and has assessed
the claims and obtained legal advice. The Group considered that
the final outcome of the claims will not have material effect on
the financial statements.

A joint venture partner has sued a subsidiary of the Company
to rescind two co-operation agreements on the ground that the
subsidiary has not contributed capital into the joint venture and
that those two co-operation agreements have not been properly
submitted to relevant government authorities for approval. The
joint venture partner has argued that those two co-operation
agreements are invalid and claims for the return of deposit paid
in the amount of approximately HK$62,065,000. The Group had
appealed and obtained legal advice. The Group has assessed
the claim and considers that it is too early to assess the possible
liability at this stage.
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47. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(9)

In 1998, the Company acquired a subsidiary that held a land site
in the PRC with the consideration partially satisfied by disposing
of its interest in a jointly controlled entity to the vendor. A
person who claimed to be the beneficial owner of the vendor
has initiated legal proceeding against the Company, for which
proceedings a writ was received by the Company in March 2008,
claiming the transfer of the interest in the jointly controlled entity
and losses in RMB of HK$21,636,000 equivalent plus interest and
other costs on the grounds that the Company had not effectively
transferred the legal title to the interest in that jointly controlled
entity to the vendor. The court judgement made in July 2009 was
held in favour of the Company and the plaintiff had appealed.
The Company has assessed the claim and obtained legal advice,
and considers that the final outcome of the claim will not have
material effect on the financial position of the Company.

A former material supplier of cement business has initiated
legal proceeding against subsidiaries of the Company claiming
for outstanding construction and material supply costs and
compensation of approximately HK$7,932,000 which are being
disputed. The case is under trial by the court in the PRC. The
Group has assessed the claims and obtained legal advice, and
considers that it is too early to assess the possible liability at this
stage.
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48. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Group participates in both a defined contribution scheme which is
registered under the Occupational Retirement Scheme Ordinance (the
"ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) established under the Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance
in December 2000. The assets of the schemes are held separately from
those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. Employees
who were members of the ORSO Scheme prior to the establishment
of the MPF Scheme were offered a choice of staying within the ORSO
Scheme or switching to the MPF Scheme, whereas all new employees
joining the Group on or after 1st December, 2000 are required to join
the MPF Scheme.

For members of the MPF Scheme, both employees’ and the Group’s
contributions are calculated at 5% of the employee’s monthly relevant
income, with the mandatory cap of HK$20,000, and the Group will
make 5% top-up contribution if an employee’s monthly basic salary
exceeds HK$20,000.
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48. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (CONTINUED)

The ORSO Scheme is funded by monthly contributions from the
employees at rates ranging from 0% to 5% and from the Group
at rates ranging from 5% to 10% of the employee’s basic salary,
depending on the length of service with the Group. Where there are
employees who leave the ORSO Scheme prior to vesting fully in the
contributions, the contributions payable by the Group are reduced by
the amount of forfeited contributions. During the year ended 31st
December, 2008 and 31st December, 2009, there was no forfeited
contributions used to set off contributions. At the end of the reporting
period, no forfeited contributions, which arose upon employees leaving
the ORSO Scheme, are available to reduce the contributions payable
in future years.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC
are members of state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated
by the PRC government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
certain percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit schemes to
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
retirement benefit schemes is to make the specified contributions.

During the year ended 31st December, 2009, the Group made
contributions to the retirement benefits schemes of HK$15,877,000
(2008: HK$13,519,000).



GEMBHRMEE

2=
s

AREPEHRERR AT

Tian An China Investments Company Limited

NFEFT_A=1T—HLEFE)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (For the year ended 31st December, 2009)

49. EBREALTZR S

58323

$$lﬁﬁ% EALTZERRS

REERIAT -

BEEAR
ﬁﬁ%ﬁ@
TA?RTF %U
—Eﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
— WA
— R EEBERE
- R%E
- BRELERER 2T
- EH&E

BRI R
(BAREEHARESR)
—ENEE - YEEER

RZEHER
- BER
- EN&8

DEBR
- KEEERBEESER
- EEE

mﬁzzﬁhi
A ([FBE])

7N HE#L%T%%J%AD{’E
BHz
—%&&%%%%

TEEEEASHH
*%é&ﬁ%%%ﬁé_ﬂ
RINEHER

—FEREEAREAE L
ARE=Z

— FIBHA

— ERERA

— BB AR (A729)
— Et KRR

Z'»VRT U?Hﬂﬁ%%
Z—EREARTEN
PA/N
— *U/@\q&)\

ERTHEBWA
*EWTM

HREEH
—ﬂEWA
—ERHE—HHE AR

15 (H:t8)

49. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

The Group had material transactions and balances with related parties as follows:

(a)

A major shareholder with significant influence,
Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited ("SHK")
— Interest on loan note
- Insurance paid
- Rental income
— Investor relations services
— Service fee
— Discount received on redemption of loan note
- Amounts payable

Controlling shareholders of SHK (and which have
common directors with the Company)
- Rent, property management and
air-conditioning fees paid
- Management fee
— Amounts payable

Minority shareholders
— Rental expenses for cement production facilities
- Management fee

A company of which a non-executive
director of the Company is a partner
- Legal and professional fees

Key management personnel compensation
— Salaries and other short-term benefits
- Post-employment costs

A company which has a director common to
the Company
- Interest income
— Guarantee fee income
— Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 9)
— Other receivable

A company which is significantly influenced by
an individual who is a close family member of
a non-executive director
— Interest income
- Loan arrangement fee income
— Loan receivable

A jointly controlled entity
— Interest income
— Proceed on disposal of a subsidiary
received (note 8)

2009 2008
TER TR
HK$'000 HK$'000
- 1,238

1,129 818
1,299 1,170

- 840

- 302

- 1,806

2,242 1,520
2,157 2,272
12,880 11,700
3,522 3,030
1,427 -
600 1,366
1,963 2,323
13,302 17,895
467 429

489 626

570 931
200,000 =
3 22,924
17,859 1,451
1,600 =
270,000 =
27,135 99
413,419 =
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49. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES (CONTINUED)

Certain key management personnel of the Group received remuneration
from a company, or a wholly owned subsidiary of such company, which
has significant beneficial interests in the Company. Such company
provided management services to the Group and charged the Group a
fee, which has been included in management fee as disclosed in part
(b) of this note, for services provided by those personnel as well as
others who were not key management personnel of the Group.

The above-mentioned management fee is calculated by reference
to the time devoted by the management personnel on the affairs of
the Group and can be apportioned to the above key management
personnel. The total of such apportioned amounts, which has been
included in the key management personnel compensation above, is
HK$4,032,000 (2008: HK$8,759,000).



REHEREARAA

Tian An China Investments Company Limited

FEMBHRRMET az—ssnst-p=t-a15%)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (for the year ended 315t December, 2009)

50. EE K #
R=BBAFT=A=+—8

() AEBEKBEETHBRARRE CRT
ER -ME BEERRE FZEEY
X BERYE BERIVEGFER
&Y =R A E 5 5 &537,316,000
B or(Z T Z )\ F : 294,430,000
JT) ~ 141,939,000 (= T T N
% : 53,627,000 JT) * 763,706,000
B om(Z & F )\ F : 755,520,000/
JL) * 667,360,000/ oL (Z 2 T N\ 4 ¢
354,143,000 JT) * 404,821,000/
T (ZZE T )\F : 78,797,000 70) K
4,435,357,000% L (= & T N\ & :
2,540,275,0008 7T) GRR1TIERAEE
BRBITEEZEM -

(b) AEEKEREE641,00087T (ZTZ
JUE 11,567,000 7T) 2 R R
(BERIBARABEERE) EREMER
A -

() AEEBIRITETG6,202,00087T (==
TN\ : 6,242,000/ 7T) 4AB1TIEAY
(XERERITIBER A -

(d AEEZETEE  RMF47(0
BHARRERE °

(e) ZAEEKIRITIF300,000,0007 TT4A R
TER—HAARZES A RERRITEE
I o

50. PLEDGED ASSETS

At 31st December, 2009,

(a)

Bank deposits, property, plant and equipment, properties
for development, properties under development, inventories
of completed properties and investment properties of certain
subsidiaries with carrying values of HK$537,316,000 (2008:
HK$294,430,000), HK$141,939,000 (2008: HK$53,627,000),
HK$763,706,000 (2008: HK$755,520,000), HK$667,360,000
(2008: HK$354,143,000), HK$404,821,000 (2008: HK$78,797,000)
and HK$4,435,357,000 (2008: HK$2,540,275,000) respectively
were pledged to banks for banking facilities granted to the
Group.

Properties for development (included in assets classified as held for
sale) with carrying value of HK$ 1,641,000 (2008: HK$1,567,000)
were pledged against other loans.

Bank deposits with carrying value of HK$6,202,000 (2008:
HK$6,242,000) were pledged against mortgage loans granted to
property purchasers.

Certain assets of the Group are under the custody of courts, as
described in note 47(c).

At 31st December, 2008,

(e)

Bank deposits with carrying value of HK$300,000,000 was
pledged against banking facility granted to a jointly controlled
entity.
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51. TENBLAAFE

RRBHAN  MAEXZEMNBRARGESE
AEMAKY  YETBEEEELEEE &6
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Name of subsidiary

51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

ERTHR
ZERRE
A EEMER
Paid up issued
ordinary share
capital/Paid up
registered
capital

are as follows:

ERTEERRAEE
AMEAR LA
Proportion of

nominal value of
issued ordinary
share capital/

registered capital

AT/
MEARRSE

held by the REBEN
Company*/ attributable
subsidiaries to the Group

2009 2008 2009 2008

Particulars of principal subsidiaries which are incorporated and are
operating principally in Hong Kong except where otherwise indicated

TEEH

Principal activities

% % % %

All - Shanghai Inc. US$15,376,500 83.33 - 8333 - KEEB

Cement business
All - cement Limited @ US$1 100 - 100 - BEER

Investment holding
Allied Resort (Hangzhou) Us$1 100 100 100 100 REZER

Company Limited @ Investment holding

I RERTEEAEERARD US$15,600,000 100 100 100 100 YEBERRKE

Beijing Nanhu Huayuan Apartment
Co., Ltd. @

CBIIR B AR A A
CBI Investment Limited

REAREHERZEERARY
Changchun Tian An Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd.

BMRZBMERERAFY
Changzhou Tian An City
Development Co., Ltd.

BMNREEGEXARARY
Changzhou Tian An Landmark
Co., Ltd. @

BMNRETHEMEZRER AR

Changzhou Tian An Yuan Cheng
Real Estate Development Company
Limited

EREEFRAA
Chinaland Management Limited

Commander Ventures Limited ™
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HK$151,031,629

RMB50,000,000

US$2,650,000

US$8,000,000

US$32,300,000

HK$200

Us$1

99.97 9997 99.97 99.97

100 100 100 100

100 100 100 100

100 100 100 100

100 100 100 100

100* 100* 100 100

100 100 100 100

Property development and
investment

KA

Investment holding

NEER

Property development

UEE S

Property development

NEERREKE
Property development and
investment

UEE

Property development

KA

Investment holding

REZKR

Investment holding
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51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)
ERTEERRAEE

FEE A 2

Proportion of
nominal value of

BRTHE issued ordinary

BERRA share capital/
EAREMER registered capital

Paid up issued b N
ordinary share HEARIEE
capital/Paid up held by the AEBERN
() NG registered Company*/ attributable =~ ETE¥¥
Name of subsidiary capital subsidiaries to the Group  Principal activities
2009 2008 2009 2008
% % % %
BNMEER (L&) BRARD US$620,000 100 100 100 100 MEERRZEER
Cornell Property Services Property management and
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. @ investment holding
REXRZEHERERRAAD US$6,800,000 60 60 60 60 MEER
Dalian Tian An Property Property development
Development Co., Ltd. @
NERLZBRBEAEER DAY US$29,000,000 100 100 100 100 WEZERREZE
Dalian Tian An Tower Co., Ltd. © Property development and
investment
ETERBRAF HK$2 100 100 100 100 #MEHKE
Grandview Square Limited Property investment
BEIREBRAR HK$2 100 100 100 100 9ERE
Grand Kings Limited Property investment
Grand Rise Investments Limited (@ US$1 100 100 100 100 H|EERK
Investment holding
ETERARAR HK$3,756 100 100 100 100 #ERE
GRP VI Limited Property investment
BB Tk R ERER AR HK$50,000,000 100 100 100 100 #ERE
Huiyang Danshui Xinyangcheng Property investment
Construction Company Limited ©
BERERARAT HK$230,644,800 68.06 6806 68.06 6806 IREEMK
Jack Rock Development Limited Investment holding
IFMAREHERERZEBRARY RMB20,000,000 100 100 100 100 MEXEE

Jiangmen City Tian An Property
Development Co., Ltd.

Property development
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51. X EMB A RIFE (@)

51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)
ERTEERRATE
A E A 2 A
Proportion of
nominal value of
SRITHE issued ordinary
T8 R R AR share capital/
EREEmER registered capital
Paid up issued NI
ordinary share MEARIEE
capital/Paid up held by the AEEEL .
il NG registered Company*/ attributable ~ EFEE¥K
Name of subsidiary capital subsidiaries to the Group Principal activities
2009 2008 2009 2008
% % % %
FEXRARAT HK$2 100 100 100 100 AR
Join View Development Limited Money lending services
Kylie Nominees Limited HK$2 100 100 100 100  RERIEARE

HRAHERERQAY
Nanjing Tiandu Industry Co., Ltd. ¥

AEFE (BM) ERXELIEFRRRO
Pacific (Fuzhou) Golf Club Ltd. @

EREERRAR o
Regal Asset Investment Limited

WRBAERKEBRA RO
Shandong Allied Wangchao Cement
Limited @

R FBACRERERARY
Sh(a:ndong(;j (S)hanghai Allied Cement
0., Ltd ¥

LEEBAKEERAR
Shanghai Allied Cement Co., Ltd @

FEOKREEBR AR

Shanghai Allied Cement Holdings Limited

LEHEERBRATY

Shanghai Greentree | Company Ltd. ¢

LBNEERBRARY

Shanghai Greentree Il Company Ltd. ¢

HEBHEXBRARW

Shanghai Haibo Real Estate Limited

FESERMELEFRATW

Shanghai Haiguang Real Estate
Holdings Limited
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US$13,500,000

US$3,000,000

HK$100

US$13,582,000

US$1,000,000

US$24,000,000

HK$10,000,000

RMB275,933,200

RMB266,315,300

RMB260,000,000

RMB37,000,000

100 100 100 100

100 100 68.06 68.06

100 85 100 85
100 = 100 =
100 = 100 =

60 = 50 =
100 = 100 =
100 = 100 =
100 = 100 =
100 = 100 =
100 = 100 =

Provision of nominee
services

NEERERE
Property development and
investment

QESBARE
Golf course operation

REER

Investment holding

A ] 3 SO R AL
Manufacturing and

distribution of cement
and clinker

HE R HEICOR AR

Manufacturing and
distribution of cement
and clinker

HEEE R 5 SRR R Fk

Manufacturing and
distribution of cement
and clinker

jragedie

Investment holding

NEER

Property development
NEER

Property development
NERE

Property investment

MERE

Property investment
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51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)
ERTZERRAEE
FEE A 2 B
Proportion of
nominal value of
ERTHR issued ordinary
ZERRA share capital/
EHAREMER registered capital
Paid up issued PN L
ordinary share MEARRSE
capital/Paid up held by the rEBEEM
HEBAAZR registered Company*/ attributable =~ ETE¥¥
Name of subsidiary capital subsidiaries to the Group  Principal activities
2009 2008 2009 2008
% % % %
LEBREXBRRAY RMB 140,000,000 100 - 100 - MERE
Shanghai Haisen Real Estate Limited Property investment
LEBREXBRRAY RMB66,000,000 100 - 100 - PERE
Shanghai Haiyi Real Estate Limited ¢ Property investment
LBRUBHBETERAFY US$36,240,000 100 100 100 85 WIEER
Shanghai Sheshan Country Club Property development
Company Limited
FERZROLREBERARD US$28,000,000 98 98 98 98 MEERRIKRE
Shanghai Tian An Centre Property development and
Building Co., Ltd. @ investment
LBRRMEEEBRAFN RMB50,000,000 99 99 99 9 YEBRERLKE
Shanghai Tianan Riverview Property development and
Co., Ltd. @ investment
PERERMERRARD RMB50,000,000 80 80 80 80 WMFEERKKRE
Shanghai Tianyang Real Estate Property development and
Co., Ltd. @ investment
RO EARADF HK$10 100 100 100 100 HREAR
Sky Full Enterprises Limited Investment holding
Strait Investments (Shanghai) Limited (™ US$47,500,000 99.99  99.99 99.99 99.99 HELRK
Investment holding
HERAERARY US$30,000,000 100 100 100 100 MEBRRRIREER
Sunhaitung Co., Ltd. @ Property development and
investment holding
SRR (hE) HRAFD HK$2,000,000 100 100* 100 100 #EEE
Sun Hung Kai (China) Limited © Property investment
TAMERBERAA HK$2 100 100 100 100 fREWERS
T.A. Secretarial Services Limited Provision of secretarial
services
Tanya Nominees Limited HK$2 100 100 100 100 FREREARS
Provision of nominee
services
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51. X EMB A RIFE (@)

51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)
ERTEERRAEE
A E A 2 A
Proportion of
nominal value of
BRTHE issued ordinary
EERRA share capital/
BRAEEMER registered capital
Paid up issued PN L
ordinary share HEAREE
capital/Paid up held by the REEEM
i NG registered Company*/ attributable =~ FEEH
Name of subsidiary capital subsidiaries to the Group Principal activities
2009 2008 2009 2008
% % % %
ARFRAEXERAA HK$2 100*  100* 100 100 REZRRBESEE
Tian An China Enterprise Limited Investment holding and
securities dealing
ARPEBEEHEREERAF HK$2 100*  100* 100 100 HEZER
Tian An China Hotel and Property Investment holding
Investments Company Limited
A& (K1) BRARAH HK$2 100*  100* 100 100 REZK
Tian An Pearl River Company Limited Investment holding
A% (L8) REBRATF US$30,000,000 100 100 100 100 YEERERER
([R&LE] )W REER
Tian An (Shanghai) Investments Property development and
Co., Ltd. ("TASH") © investment and
investment holding
A& CRY) BEEHRERATV HK$150,000,000 100 100 100 100 MEEE
Tian An (Shenzhen) Enterprise Property development
Development Ltd.
RZ (BR) REBRAA HK$2 100 100 100 100 BREZBRRMERE
Tian An (Sui An) Investment Investment holding and
Company Limited property investment
ALEE (812) BHERZARAFV US$12,000,000 100 100 68.06 68.06 WEEE
Tianan Summit (Fujian) Real Estate Property development
Development Co., Ltd.
A& (RE) REARAH HK$2 100 100 100 100 HEZR

Tian An (Tianjin) Investment
Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (for the year ended 315t December, 2009)

51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)
BRTEERBRAEE
A MER 2 A
Proportion of
nominal value of
BRTHRE issued ordinary
EERRE share capital/
ERAREMER registered capital
Paid up issued NG L
ordinary share MEARRE
capital/Paid up held by the rEEEM
HEBAR SR registered Company*/ attributable  FEZX
Name of subsidiary capital subsidiaries to the Group  Principal activities
2009 2008 2009 2008
% % % %
BHEZ (1§) ARAFY US$16,000,000 100 100 100 100 YEER
Value Harvest Real Estate Property development
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. ¥
AEEEBRRRME0 Us$1 100 100 100 100 M%ERE
Winshine Group Limited (&0 Property investment
RERBRMERZBRAF RMB10,000,000 90 90 90 0 MEER
Wuhan Changfu Property Property development
Development Co., Ltd.
EHILUERERQAE0 US$5,000,000 95 95 95 95 MEER
Wuxi Redhill Properties Co., Ltd. @ Property development
BEHREEFBRRAAY US$18,400,000 100 100 100 100 MEXRE
Wouxi Tianxin Properties Co., Ltd. ¥ Property development
EERRABRARARD US$12,000,000 88 88  87.97 8797 YEEERLEABK
Zhao Qing Golf and Development Bki5
Co., Ltd. @ Property development and
golf course operation
RELERMRERSEAE RMB133,060,855 100 100 100 100 YEERE
EEAERARC Property development
FESliEf N EEREAR AR RMB50,000,000 100 100 100 100 WEEE
Property development
LEEREREMERR AR US$50,000,000 100 100 99.99 99.99 WEHRE
Property development
MRREELARAFY US$41,000,000 100 100 100 100 #MEER

Property development
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (for the year ended 315t December, 2009)

51. T EME A RS @) 51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Hia# - Notes:

() EBERBELEEE- (i) Operating principally in the PRC.

(i) EHREFMES BRI B LEE o (ii)  Established as sino-foreign owned equity joint ventures and operating

principally in the PRC.
(i) TEBERESTMK - (iii) Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

(iv) NATIEEREBEARAET FB60%Es Mg Tz (iv) The 60% interest in TASH is held directly by the Company and the

A0%FES A — BB ARRA remaining 40% is held by a subsidiary.
(v) TEREFMAAINGEE DL EEE - (v) Established as wholly foreign owned enterprises and operating

principally in the PRC.

(vi) EREFMAZAEREEQAIMEEENRE - (vi) Established as limited liability companies and operating principally in
the PRC.

ERAEENESeRANEARER 2 2450& The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
EEEAFEHMEAT - EE2R A5 HE#M  opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results or assets of

B AT ZHEeSERBRILE o the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

HEAEELSEHEMNEB AT HRERDBS o None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the
end of the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (For the year ended 31st December, 2009)

52. T EB&E N AIFHTS 52. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES
RZZFZNFTA=T—8 "EERTFIEE At 31st December, 2009, the Group had interests in the following
ERRMEAEER  BREEHAIN - ELAFIHE  associates, all of which are incorporated and are operating
BT R A B ELE - principally in Hong Kong except as otherwise indicated:
AEEFMBCRTEER
BAEE FMERLH

Proportion of nominal
value of issued
ordinary share capital/

BENTERE registered capital FEEK
Name of associate held by the Group Principal activities
2009 2008
% %
Consco Investment Company Limited 31.25 31.25 B PR
Investment holding
RZBIRE R EHR A 700 25 25 MERE

Tianjin International Building Co., Ltd. ©&

Property investment

Hfat - Notes:
(i) T A B G A L R A B A o () Established and operating in the PRC.
(i) AASEBEARRFEZMBAR - (i)  Subsidiaries held by the associates of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (for the year ended 315t December, 2009)

53. EEHEEF A FIFEE 53. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINTLY
CONTROLLED ENTITIES

RZZFEZNGFTA=1T—H  X&EEBERT At 31st December, 2009, the Group had interests in the following
P FIEGI AT HEEZ  BRB A * 5%  jointly controlled entities which are corporate joint ventures established

ZRAEREFREK 26 EREEE : in the PRC except where otherwise indicated:
KEBE PTG
TE EALL B
£R i i B Proportion
Principal of registered
HEEFQAFEE place of capital held FTEER
Name of jointly controlled entity operation by the Group Principal activities
2009 2008
% %
ERRZAREERAT IR 404 400 PREKE
Beijing Tian An Building Beijing Property investment

Company Limited

ENTEBGHENEEFRARATY &S 50 50 MRER

Guangzhou Panyu Hi-Tech Panyu Property development
Ecological Park Development
Co., Ltd. @

PEREEEZERERAA iic] TEAR NEAO MEER

Shanghai Min Hoong Real Shanghai N/A @ N/A @ Property development

Estate Development Co., Ltd.

FRINHERZWERR AR el 50 50 MERE

Shenzhen ITC Tian An Co., Ltd. Shenzhen Property investment

RINRLETEIN A R A A I 50 50 MEERRIRE RREER

Shenzhen Tian An Cyberpark Shenzhen Property development and

Co., Ltd. investment and investment

holding

RERLZRNBEERAR HE 55 55 GBI

Wuhan Tian An Hotel Co., Ltd. Wuhan Hotel operation
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (for the year ended 315t December, 2009)

53. FEH[EIEFHI D RFE &)

53. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINTLY
CONTROLLED ENTITIES (CONTINUED)

REE PTG R
FTE B
A i B Proportion
Principal of registered
HEEHARER place of capital held FEEK
Name of jointly controlled entity operation by the Group Principal activities
2009 2008
% %
RINRLYEERBR AR il 50 50 YREERIREER
Shenzhen Property management and
investment holding
ARINTRNZEEE R wI 50 50 MRER
BRARD Shenzhen Property development
PRI B i K 22 B0 ¥ Ak 3l 50 50 MEER
BRAR® Shenzhen Property development
BT R 2 SRS A R 2 A0 B 45 45V MERER
Foshan Property development
EMNRLZHEREXBR QA wM 50 100 MEERE
Changzhou Property development

Hizt -

(i)

(i)

(iii)

AEBFEEEGECEZETHERYMEFRATS
Z60% 2@ o

BREMERF e
REBERZEZHME R  AEEREMA
EEHZAR TR EER RS KRR

1o

FZAF R/ —EHAREG AR ZMBAR -

Notes:

(i)  The Group is entitled to a 60% share of profit in certain phases of the
development properties of the joint venture.

(ii)  Limited liability companies.

(iii)

Based on the contractual agreement between the venturers, the Group

and other venturers have joint control over the financial and operating

policies of the company.

(iv)

The company is a subsidiary of a jointly controlled entity.
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RESULTS

Revenue

Profit for the year attributable to
owners of the Company

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Total assets

Total liabilities

Minority interests

Equity attributable to owners of
the Company

PER SHARE BASIS (Note)

Basic earnings per share (HK cents)

Dividend per share (HK cents)

Net assets per share (HK$)

—EEREEEZERERANEHN = Note:
ZRLFZ ARBEEFEHAE -

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
TR TAT TRT TR TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
1,397,100 889,302 863,188 473,329 1,083,528
202,540 51,496 702,976 711,087 1,067,379
9,900,964 10,864,898 14,846,012 14,936,023 18,985,033
4,827,973 4,513,721 5,582,904 4,797,702 7,599,516
416,889 407,173 390,549 291,234 501,201
4,656,102 5,944,004 8,872,559 9,847,087 10,884,316
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

23.1 4.39 54.55 46.98 70.84

= 2.5 10 3 7

5.3 53 6.1 6.7 7.6

Basic earnings per share for the year 2006 have been adjusted to reflect
the Open Offer in 2007.
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